
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE

10.00 am

FRIDAY
20 JANUARY 2017

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, 
Gloucester

MEETING PAPERS





AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Friday 20 January 2017
VENUE: Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  Declarations of Interest Andrea Griffiths

2.  Minutes (Pages 1 - 16)
To approve the minutes of the previous meeting. Andrea Griffiths

3.  Grant Thornton Annual Audit Letter (Pages 17 - 36) Terry Tobin

4.  Grant Thornton Audit Progress Report (Pages 37 - 52) Terry Tobin

5.  Joint Working agreement between Internal and External Audit 
(Pages 53 - 56)

Theresa Mortimer, 
Terry Tobin

6.  Treasury Management Strategy (Pages 57 - 80) Paul Blacker

7.  Annual Governance Statement Improvement Plan 2015/16 
(Pages 81 - 86)

Theresa Mortimer

8.  Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy 2017/18 
(Pages 87 - 104)

Theresa Mortimer

9.  Internal Audit Activity Progress Report 2016/17 (Pages 105 - 
142)

Theresa Mortimer

10.  Internal Audit Charter 2016/18 (Pages 143 - 158) Theresa Mortimer

11.  Anti Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement and Strategy 
2017/19 (Pages 159 - 184)

Theresa Mortimer

12.  Internal Audit limited assurance reports (Pages 185 - 196)
Reports back on action requested following on from Internal Audit 
limited assurance reports: 

Theresa Mortimer



 Data Storage – Structures
 Direct Payments - Children 


13.  Exclusion of the Press and Public 
THAT in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 the public be excluded from the meeting for 
the business specified in agenda item 14because it is likely that if 
members of the public were present there would be disclosure to 
them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 and 7 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in 
withholding the information outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information to the public

Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE

14.  Exempt Limited Assurance Internal Audit report (Pages 197 - 
200)

Theresa Mortimer

NOTES

(a) MEMBERSHIP – Councillors Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr Tony Hicks, Cllr Barry Kirby, 
Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE, Cllr Mike Sztymiak, 
Cllr Brian Tipper and Cllr Roger Wilson

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/e-mail: 
jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS

(1) Will Members please sign the attendance list.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee held on Friday 16 
September 2016 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, 
Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Tony Hicks
Cllr Paul McMahon
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Nigel Robbins 
(Chairman)

Cllr Mike Sztymiak
Cllr Brian Tipper
Cllr Roger Wilson

Substitutes: Cllr Paul McMahon

Apologies: Cllr Barry Kirby, Cllr Colin Guyton and Cllr Colin Hay

37. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Parsons declared he was a Cotswold District Councillor and a member of 
the Pension Committee.  

38. MINUTES 

All matters arising had been dealt with and communicated to members of the 
committee.  

Resolved

That the minutes of the Audit & Governance Committee held on the 24th June 
2016 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.  

39. GRANT THORNTON AUDIT FINDINGS GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY 
COUNCIL REPORT 

Elizabeth Cave, Engagement Lead, Grant Thornton presented the report which 
informed the Committee of the key matters arising from the audit of Gloucestershire 
County Council’s financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2016.  

The new timeline for the production and audit of the accounts were discussed in 
detail by the committee.  Members welcomed and supported the opportunity to 
discuss the accounts earlier and fully endorsed the objective.   Liz Cave explained 
that the earlier production of the accounts had enabled a smoother audit process 
and allowed time for officers to provide detailed explanations when applicable. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Members appreciated the expertise, hard work and effort of the finance team in 
compiling the early accounts and agreed they should be congratulated on their 
exceptional effort.  The Chief Financial Officer explained her team’s position in 
preparing a complex set of accounts and the effort that had gone into producing the 
earlier set of accounts.  

Grant Thornton also took the opportunity to record their appreciation for the 
excellent assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during the audit 
process.  Specifically, they acknowledged the considerable effort that had been 
made in redesigning the year-end closedown timetable in order to accommodate an 
earlier accounts production and audit date.  It was noted that Grant Thornton would 
issue a completion certificate in due course.  

Liz explained that the new requirement of a narrative report for the 2015-16 
financial statements was comprehensive and met the requirements of the code.  
The report was deemed to be clear and informative.  

It was noted that a significant prior period adjustment was identified and processed 
in the year which resulted in a £29.7m adjustment to both the revaluation reserve 
and capital adjustment account.  Grant Thornton had conducted specific audit work 
on the reason for and the calculation of the adjustment and were able to verify the 
reasonableness of this adjustment.  It was anticipated that an unqualified audit 
opinion would be provided in respect of the financial statements.  

In relation to the Better Care Fund, it was noted that Grant Thornton had identified 
that the majority of council’s budgets in respect of joint commissioning were aligned 
rather than pooled budgets.  Grant Thornton added that based on their review they 
agreed that the accounting treatment was appropriate given the nature of the 
financial relationship.  It was anticipated that this confidence would develop 
overtime and involve a greater position of risk sharing.  In response to a question, it 
was explained that GCC currently controlled their own risk in terms of the Better 
Care Fund costs and budgets setting processes.   

The committee discussed the Audit Findings in relation to the significant risks.  
The Chief Financial Officer explained that accounting instructions existed in relation 
to accountable bodies.  It was suggested that perhaps it would be advisable to 
extend those principles to the Better Care Fund.  Officers agreed to look at this 
proposal in more detail.  

In response to a question, The Chief Financial Officer explained that she had a 
statutory role to ensure that governance arrangements were in place before any 
funds were released. In terms of materiality, GCC maintained a prudent position.   

Liz Cave informed the committee that during the inspection period of the accounts, 
members of the public could now raise questions with the auditors within that 30 
working day period.   In addition, members requested that Grant Thornton use 
words, Red, Amber & Green rather than coloured symbols as the reports were 
produced in black and white.  

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Members referred to the SAP support team, and questioned if officers access 
should be more narrowly defined.  The Chief Internal Auditor explained that Internal 
Audit were monitoring the SAP systems and the controls in place.  During the 
discussion Grant Thornton suggested that they had a specialist IT team who could 
advise GCC accordingly.  The Chief Financial Officer agreed this would be most 
helpful and appreciated the offer.    

The committee was informed that Internal Audit and Grant Thornton had ongoing 
dialogue throughout the financial year. Grant Thornton confirmed that the accounts 
had been prepared in accordance with the accounting code of practice.  

Grant Thornton anticipated that an unqualified opinion would be issued on the 
financial statements, as the audit had highlighted that the council had strong 
arrangements in place.   The value for money profile concluded that the council had 
proper arrangements in place for securing financial resilience, and that the council 
had proper arrangements for challenging how it secured economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness.  The total indicative fee for the audit for 2015/16 was £98,010.  

The Chief Financial Officer informed the committee that significant changes would 
be involved in the production of the 2017/18 accounts as Highways Infrastructure 
Asset Values would need to be included in the accounts.  Due to the complexity of 
this task there would be extensive discussions between the council and Grant 
Thornton on the treatment of these assets in the accounts.  

It was explained that the significantly earlier closure of accounts in relation to the 
cut-off resulted in a slightly higher error rates than normal.  It was accepted that it 
was necessary to highlight the importance of the cut-off of expenditure for the 
2016/17 accounts.  

In response to a question, The Chief Financial Officer explained that in terms of 
saving targets, services were attempting to plan in advance as they aware of the 
issues and senior officers were working hard to manage them.   

RESOLVED

That the report be noted.

40. GRANT THORNTON AUDIT FINDINGS PENSION FUND REPORT 

Terry Tobin, Senior Manager, Grant Thornton presented the report. The report 
highlighted the key issues arising from the audit of Gloucestershire Pension Fund 
financial statements for the year end 31st March 2016.  

Members were informed that Grant Thornton had identified no adjustments that 
affected the Funds reported financial position.  It was anticipated that an unqualified 
opinion would be issued on the funds financial statements.  It was noted that the 
total indicative fee for the audit for 2015/16 was £24,989.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

The performance of the fund was the responsibility of the Pensions Committee.   It 
was noted that the auditors did not provide a separate value for money conclusion 
on the Pension Fund.  The committee noted that the Pension Fund was within the 
remit of the Pensions Committee.    

The Chief Financial Officer added she had great pride in her team’s ability to 
achieve the challenge set in producing an earlier set of accounts. Members wished 
to record their appreciation and congratulated the team on their hard work and 
efforts.  

Resolved 

That the report be noted

41. ANNUAL STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

The committee requested the reports and summary of accounts earlier, in order to 
fully consider the detail.  Officers explained that they had a statutory duty to 
produce the accounts in accordance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice, however they 
would continue to work on a more readable version.  

John Kear, Financial Accounting Manager informed the committee that the draft 
accounts were produced and presented for audit on 6th June 2016, nearly three 
weeks earlier than in previous years.  The Strategic Finance Director approving the 
Statement of Accounts for 2015/16, by doing so the Director was confirming the 
accounts as presenting a true and fair view of the Council’s financial position as at 
the 31st March 2016 and the income and expenditure for the year.  

It was noted that the Statement of Accounts for 2015/16 had been prepared in 
accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, these draft accounts 
were available for public inspection for 30 working days, this included access via 
the Council’s web site. 

Members were informed that since the production of the draft accounts and during 
the audit of accounts, only one amendment had been made to the accounts, which 
related to the classification of pre-payments. Members were reminded that this 
issue was detailed in the covering report.  

Officers emphasised that this amendment did not change the Council’s outturn 
position, as approved by Cabinet in June 2016, or the level of usable reserves or 
balances reported in the balance sheet.

It was explained that the committee was being asked to approve the accounts 
which included all minor amendments and updates as agreed with Grant Thornton.  

Members were reminded that the Accounts & Audit Regulations required the annual 
Statement of Accounts be produced and published by 30th September, and that 
they needed to be approved by the Audit & Governance Committee.  

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

The Chairman informed the committee that the summary report was intended to 
draw member’s attention to the key pieces of financial and accounting information 
contained within the Council’s Statement of Accounts. Therefore, this information 
should be considered in conjunction with the explanatory foreword of the 2015/16 
Statement of Accounts. Members were reminded that an accounts training session 
was recently held to help provide members with an opportunity to ask detailed 
questions about the accounts.

In response to a question, it was noted that school reserves were 100% ring-fenced 
to schools. Officers explained that non-school earmarked reserves had increased 
between 2014/15 and 2015/16 by £12.1 million, reflecting increased risks around 
funding and service pressures.    

In addition, unapplied capital grants were fully committed to fund the approved 
capital programme.  

Officers explained that general reserves had essentially remained unchanged at a 
level of nearly £20 million.  This equated to around 4.6% of the net budget and was 
within the Council’s target range of between 4% and 6% of the net budget.  This 
level of general reserve equated to only six working days of average gross 
expenditure, or twelve working days of net expenditure, but this was considered to 
be a satisfactory level of general reserves. The stability of reserves had reflected 
the sound financial management of the authority over the last three years.  

Members questioned the terminology used in the statement of responsibilities, 
officers explained that this was standard wording used by all Authorities.  Some 
members found this extraordinary that the Audit & Governance Committee’s role 
was not clearly defined in the statement of responsibilities.  The Strategic Finance 
Director was requested to feedback this point to CIPFA for due consideration.  After 
a vigorous discussion, it was agreed that the statement of responsibilities be 
amended to ‘Councillor Nigel Robbins, Chairperson, signed on behalf of the County 
Council’  

During the discussion, it was agreed that the following amendments be made: 
• Page 85 of the report that the total useable reserve figure of £220 million 

was incorrect and should be amended to £223 million to reflect the balance 
sheet (page 109).  

• Page 95 of the report, under the heading ‘Active Communities’, the second 
bullet point be amended to “£90,000 for certain activities for……’

• Page 97 of the report, under the heading ‘Providing the Infrastructure for a 
Thriving Economy’, the first bullet point should include reference to the 
increased spend to date and the increased percentage and stages involved.

• Page 97, the commencement date for the ‘missing link’ be verified, as 
members believed the date of commencement was 2021.

• Page 111, the pensions liability had decreased not increased
• Page 198, that Councillor Parsons be included on the list of members
• Page 130/131, the +/- signs were deemed to be confusing, it was agreed 

that (+) (-) brackets would be used in future years to provide clarity.

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

In response to a question, the committee were informed that extensive discussions 
had taken place with in house advisors and Grant Thornton’s technical advisors 
concerning the issue of pre-payments and debtors.  

The external auditor confirmed they were satisfied with the statement of accounts 
for 2015/16.  The auditor also commented that the foreword was very clear, concise 
and presented a good overall picture of the council’s position.  It was noted that the 
draft summary of accounts was well received by members and provided a good 
base for further development next year.  

Members suggested that perhaps the draft summary should be available with 
accounts to make the public more aware of how funds were spent.  Members 
complimented officers on their efforts in producing the statement of accounts and 
summary accounts.  

It was agreed that the Committee formally approved the Statement of Accounts and 
the Chairman of the Audit and Governance Committee signed the letter of 
representation on behalf of the Authority and Gloucestershire Pension Fund.  

 Resolved 

That the following amendments be made: 
• Page 85 of the report that the total useable reserve figure of £220 

million was incorrect and should be amended to £223 million to reflect 
the balance sheet (page 109).  

• Page 95 of the report, under the heading ‘Active Communities’, the 
second bullet point be amended to “£90,000 for certain activities 
for……’

• Page 97 of the report, under the heading ‘Providing the Infrastructure 
for a Thriving Economy’, the first bullet point should include reference 
to the increased spend to date and the increased percentage and 
stages involved.

• Page 97, the commencement date for the ‘missing link’ be verified, as 
members believed the date of commencement was 2021.

• Page 111, the pensions liability had decreased not increased
• Page 198, that Councillor Parsons be included on the list of members
• Page 130/131, the +/- signs were deemed to be confusing, it was agreed 

that (+) (-) brackets would be used in future years to provide clarity.

That the statement of responsibilities be amended to ‘Councillor Nigel 
Robbins, Chairperson, signed on behalf of the County Council’  

That the committee formally approved the statement of accounts.

That the chairman of the Audit and Governance Committee sign the letter of 
representation on behalf of the Authority and Gloucestershire Pension Fund

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

42. ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT AND THE LOCAL CODE OF 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 2015/16 

Theresa Mortimer, Chief Internal Auditor (CIA), presented the report.  It was 
explained that the Council was required under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2015 to produce an Annual Governance Statement which was a public statement, 
detailing how the Council directs and controls its resources, which is to be signed 
by the Leader of the Council, Chief Executive and Director of Finance. 

Members were informed that GCC operated through a governance framework that 
had been summarised within a revised Local Code of Corporate Governance 
2015/2016 which was consistent with the six core principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE 
Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 2012 framework.  

The Chief Internal Auditor explained the Council’s Local Code of Corporate 
Governance was a public statement of the Council's commitment to these principles 
and specifically identified the key actions taken by GCC in relation to each of the 
core principles. It was noted that the code was reviewed and updated annually. 

The CIA explained that to enable the development of the AGS, an embedded 
assurance framework was required, that not only provided the relevant assurances, 
but also a framework that underpinned and evidenced the statements made within 
the AGS. 

A significantly strengthened governance assurance process was developed and 
implemented to provide a framework for the annual assessment of the effectiveness 
of the governance arrangements operating within the Council. This included the 
relevant Lead Cabinet Member overview and oversight, governance assurance 
statements obtained from Directors and Heads of Service and robust challenge by 
the Council’s Statutory Officers i.e. Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer and Director 
of Finance.   

Members were informed that following the review, three key improvement areas 
were identified to further enhance the governance arrangements, these were 
identified within the AGS action plan and related to:
1. the requirement to have good governance in working with others i.e. 

partnerships, alternative service delivery models and contractual 
arrangements

2. test the council’s governance arrangements against the new CIPFA 
Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 2016 guidance and 
reflect these principles in the 2016/17 AGS and 

3. to undertake a self-assessment against the new CIPFA counter fraud 
guidance to measure the council’s counter fraud and corruption culture and 
response, while proposing amendments as required.  It was noted that the 
CIA would report back to the committee on the new principles in due course.  

The Chairman reminded members that the CIA had provided a detailed 
presentation on the AGS and the Local Code of Corporate Governance at the 
recent training session.  

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

The CIA explained that within the Internal Audit team there were counter fraud 
specialists, who supported the organisations by helping staff to understand fraud 
risks.  It was suggested that a fraud training session could be held for members in 
the new year, following the review of the council’s counter fraud arrangements.  The 
committee agreed with the CIA that it would be advisable to raise staff awareness, 
including libraries and schools through the use of posters, staff net, etc.    

In response to a question, members were informed that whilst there were generic 
principles/assessments that were required to be covered within the statement, the 
AGS included reference to all the key governance issues that had occurred during 
2015/2016. In addition, the key improvement areas identified were detailed within 
the action plan, which was attached to the AGS.  The CIA explained that she 
benchmarked the requirements against other County Council’s statements to 
ascertain good practice. The CIA also followed national guidance and utilised 
relevant publications on good governance, which included Grant Thornton’s 
publications. 

Members referred to Appendix 1 on page 274 of the report and requested that the 
chart be presented in a different form to depict the hierarchy and connections 
throughout the organisations.  The CIA agreed to bring this back to the January 
2017 committee meeting.  

The CIA informed the committee that the Chairman signed the AGS as part of the 
letter of representation, in association with the statement of accounts.  

During the discussion, members agreed that the Committee would receive updates 
on the actions taken to address the issues identified, at the January 2017 
Committee. 

The CIA noted that officers were open and honest in their responses to the 
questions asked within the assurance statements, which highlighted a culture of 
good governance within the authority. 

In summary, the CIA informed the committee that for the 12 months ending 31st 
March 2016, Gloucestershire County Council had a satisfactory overall control 
environment, comprising risk management, control and governance, to enable the 
achievement of the Council’s outcomes and objectives.  

Resolved 

That the committee reviewed and approved the Annual Governance 
Statement and Local Code of Corporate Governance 2015/16, and the actions 
planned by the Council to further enhance good governance arrangements.

That the committee would receive an update on actions taken to address the 
governance issues identified, at the January 2017 Committee meeting.

At this juncture, the Chairman asked if Grant Thornton officers would leave 
the meeting for the ensuing item, in order to prevent a conflict of interests.  

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

43. APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS FOR THE STATEMENT OF 
ACCOUNTS 2018/19 

Paul Blacker, Head of Financial Management presented the report.  

It was explained that the report summarised the changes to the arrangements for 
appointing External Auditors following the closure of the Audit Commission and the 
end of the transitional external audit arrangements at the conclusion of the 2017/18 
audits.  

The report outlined the options for the appointment of the Council external audits for 
the 2018/19 Statement of Accounts and allowed the committee to discuss and if 
they deemed appropriate recommend to council the preferred appointment process.  

In response to a question, it was noted that a sector led prospectus would be 
circulated in due course.  Officers explained that it was necessary to be pragmatic 
and realistic, given the size of the sector led body and the reality of control 
mechanisms.  

During the discussion, members wished to formally recognise the good work and 
efforts Grant Thornton had clearly shown to date.  

The Chief Finance Officer explained that the SLB would maintain a list of appointed 
auditors and would rotate auditors to avoid familiarity.  Some members suggested 
that it was necessary to retain control and not be tied into long term service 
agreement, if the service was unsatisfactory.  

After some discussion, the committee endorsed option 3 for the appointment of 
external auditors and agreed to recommend to council to opt-in to the Public 
Sectors Audit Appointment Ltd (PSAA) as the sector led body for the appointment 
of the council’s external auditors from 2018/19.   

Resolved 

That the committee endorsed option 3 for the appointment of external 
auditors and agreed to recommend to council to opt-in to the Public Sectors 
Audit Appointment Ltd (PSAA) as the sector led body for the appointment of 
the council’s external auditors from 2018/19.   

44. TREASURY MANAGEMENT UPDATE REPORT 

Paul Blacker, Head of Financial Management explained that the update report had 
been produced in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury 
Management in Public Services which required an update report to be produced to 
inform members about the Treasury Management activities for 2016/17 Financial 
Year to date. 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

During the period 1st April – 31st August 2016 GCC had taken on no new long term 
external debt.  Officers explained that premium charges remained high for repaying 
external debt early and therefore none had been repaid in the first 5 months of 
2016/17, however a long term external debt of £4.9 million was due to mature in 
December 2016 and would be repaid at that time. 

The Head of Financial Management explained that cash flow statements showed 
that during the period April to August 2016 the council’s investment balances 
ranged between £276 million and £357 million. 

It was explained that the current year budget for interest earned was £1.16 million 
and the current forecast was that this would be exceeded by £0.3 million in 
2016/17, despite the recent cut in interest rates due to additional diversity and 
longer term investment periods.  
   
Officers reported that longer term investments of over 1 year, totalled £133.1 
million, this included £66 million long term investments with other local authorities 

RESOLVED 

The report was duly noted.  

45. INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY PROGRESS REPORT 

 Theresa Mortimer, Chief Internal Auditor presented the report which informed 
members on the progress of Internal Audit activity in relation to the 2016/17 Internal 
Audit Plan and provided a progress report on those audits undertaken during the 
June – September 2016 period, including the opinions provided on risk and control.
  
The committee welcomed the report which provided the relevant risk and control 
assurance opinions in relation to the audit activity during the above period.  It was 
highlighted that the opinions provided during this period showed an overall 
satisfactory and above rating of 77% on control and 82% on risk.  It was explained 
that 23% of the opinions on control were limited, this was related to transformational 
change and specific requests from Directors, who were asking for areas to be 
reviewed where issues had arisen or where independent assurance was required.  

The Chief Internal Auditor informed the committee that all 47 recommendations 
made by internal audit to improve the control environment during this period had 
been accepted by management.  

The committee was informed that the report provided information of how 
Gloucestershire County Council was currently working with the Gloucestershire 
Counter Fraud Unit to counter fraud within Gloucestershire. It was highlighted that 
Internal Audit had secondment agreements in place which enabled two fraud unit 
investigators to work with the Council. This meant that operational work could now 
commence around areas such as assistance with internal investigations and any 
subsequent prosecutions, development and implementation of fraud awareness 
and training programmes etc.  

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

In response to a question, the committee noted that in February 2015 Audit 
Cotswolds successfully bid for £403,000 funding from the Department of 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG) on behalf of Local Authorities in 
Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire District Council to accelerate the 
development of a dedicated Counter Fraud Unit.  

Member’s attention was drawn to three limited assurance opinions provided on 
control, relating to the following: 
• Data Storage – Structures (issues identified included lack of review of super 

user privileges; no data archiving/deletion policy and lack of analysis of 
commercially sensitive unstructured data).

• Direct Payments – Children – audit identified that an ongoing monitoring 
system was required to ensure the requirements of the direct payment 
agreements were followed.  The CIA explained that that management were 
being proactive in liaising with Adult services, to identify good practice and 
enable a consistency in approach in relation to direct payments practices. 

• Contact Team Follow up review whilst significant progress had been made 
with implementing the recommendations from the previous audit, the limited 
assurance opinion provided was based one specific issue relating to a 
recruitment process, which was being reviewed by management with the 
support of HR.

The CIA explained that recommendations were made to improve the control 
environment in all the above reviews and all had been accepted by management 
and IA would continue to monitor their implementation.  However, it was 
recommended that the relevant senior management attended the next meeting of 
the Committee to provide an update on the actions taken in relation to the Data 
Storage – Structures and Direct Payments – Children, audit recommendations.  

The committee felt that lessons learnt from the Direct Payments for Adults could be 
transferred to the Direct Payments for Children.   The CIA explained that a further 
audit review of direct payments made in relation to children, was currently being 
undertaken.   Members welcomed the comprehensive approach and report.  

It was suggested that the police child sex exploitation report should be duly 
considered by the Police and Crime Panel.  

RESOLVED

That senior management attend the next meeting of the Committee to provide 
an update on the actions taken in relation to the Data Storage – Structures 
and Direct Payments – Children, audit recommendations 

The committee noted the report

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

46. INTERNAL AUDIT LIMITED ASSURANCE REPORTS 

Client Contributions – Tina Reid, Operations Director for Adult Social Care 
presented the report.  

It was noted that Gloucestershire County Council’s Adult Social Care relied on 
people who use services making a financial contribution to the cost of providing 
them, if they were able to do so. Clearly, the administrative function was a vital 
element of any service and integral to the effectiveness of the work of the FAB 
Team.  

The Financial Assessments & Benefits (FAB) team ensured that any financial 
contributions required from service users for residential and non-residential Social 
Care services were calculated fairly and in accordance with GCC policies and 
Government guidelines.  

The team also helped to maximise income for individuals as well as maximise 
charging revenue for GCC by providing welfare benefit advice and practical 
assistance to all service users, their partners and carers to ensure that they are in 
receipt of their full welfare benefit entitlement.  

The committee noted that nine of the audit recommendations were accepted and 
had been implemented.  FAB policies and procedures had been updated to reflect 
changes introduced under the Care Act.  A service level agreement had been 
developed and agreed between FAB and the administration team, setting out the 
tasks required and the standards expected for effective business support.  

Members were informed that recommendation 10 – the quality assurance process 
was currently under investigation.  The Operations Director for Adult Social Care 
gave a detailed explanation of the storing of financial assessment data and the 
methods which were investigated to overcome the challenges faced by the service.  
The committee took assurance that the users financial documentation needed to be 
appropriately recorded and destroyed after use.  It was noted that the Operations 
Director for Adult Social Care and the Head of ICT were actively considering the 
use of mobile technology to assist FAB officers in data collection and verification 
purposes.  As such they were looking to source capital funding before the end of 
2016.  

The CIA thanked the FAB team for their hard work and efforts to fully implement the 
recommendations.  

At this point of the meeting, there was a discussion with Committee regarding an 
audit review of the ‘SAP access controls’. The CIA confirmed that an audit of this 
area is included within the current Internal Audit Plan and that the resource would 
be used to review the effectiveness of the controls in place (following review of the 
area by Capgemini). The Committee would welcome the internal audit review in 
Quarter 4 of the 2017/2018 financial year.

Resolved 

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

That the report be noted

47. MEMBERS CODE OF CONDUCT REVIEW 

 Jane Burns, Director of Strategy and Challenge and Monitoring Officer presented 
the report which reminded the committee of the statutory arrangements governing 
the conduct of elected members.  It was noted that the Council had appointed three 
independent persons who the Monitoring Officer could call on for assistance if 
necessary.  It was reported there had been no reason to convene the Hearings 
Panel in 2015/16.  

It was noted that the committee felt the existing arrangements for dispensations 
were clear.  

The committee discussed the request by Councillor Leppington that consideration 
be given to require members to declare an interest regarding membership of the 
Freemasons or any other secret society.  The Monitoring Officer explained that any 
changes would need to be agreed by the Constitution Committee and full council.  

After a robust discussion, it was noted that there was no unanimous view to change 
the Code of Conduct.  
 
Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

48. ANNUAL REPORT FROM THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT OMBUDSMAN 

 Jane Burns, Director of Strategy and Challenge and Monitoring Officer presented 
the report.  The report informed the committee of the council’s arrangements for 
handling complaints and investigations by the Local Government Ombudsman 
(LGO).  The committee noted that in 2015/16 the LGO received 62 complaints 
about the County Council.  

It was explained that the County Council kept local data about these complaints, 
and the records showed 40 complaints were brought to a conclusion by the LGO, of 
which 5 had been up-held.  

The LGO only provided the number of complaints received and not the detailed 
data which sat behind it, so it was impossible to reconcile the two sets of data. The 
higher number of LGO complaints would include some which were not pursued.  

RESOLVED 

That the committee noted the Local Government Ombudsman Annual Review 
Letter 2015/16.  

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 1.06 pm

Page 14



Audit & Governance Committee – 16th September 2016

Topic Action Responsibility Progress
1 ANNUAL STATEMENT 

OF ACCOUNTS
That the following amendments be made: 
• Page 85 of the report that the total useable 
reserve figure of £220 million was incorrect and 
should be amended to £223 million to reflect the 
balance sheet (page 109).  Comment noted –
Statement of Accounts published includes 
correct figure..
• Page 95 of the report, under the heading 
‘Active Communities’, the second bullet point be 
amended to “£90,000 for certain activities 
for……’Amendment considered but wording is 
extract from approved Council policy document 
so no change made.
• Page 97 of the report, under the heading 
‘Providing the Infrastructure for a Thriving 
Economy’, the first bullet point should include 
reference to the increased spend to date and 
the increased percentage and stages involved.
’Amendment considered but wording is extract 
from approved Council policy document so no 
change made.

• Page 97, the commencement date for the 
‘missing link’ be verified, as members 
believed the date of commencement was 
2021.Amended to 2020/21. 
• Page 111, the pensions liability had decreased 
not increased.  Reviewed. No amendment 
necessary, Wording considered appropriate.
• Page 198, that Councillor Parsons be included 
on the list of members. Amendment Made
• Page 130/131, the +/- signs were deemed to 
be confusing, it was agreed that (+) (-) brackets 
would be used in future years to provide clarity.
To be considered as part of the 2016/17 
Statement of Accounts

John Kear Completed

P
age 15



2 ANNUAL 
GOVERNANCE 
STATEMENT AND THE 
LOCAL CODE OF 
CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE 
2015/16

That the committee would receive an update on 
actions taken to address the governance issues 
identified, at the January 2017 Committee 
meeting.

Theresa Mortimer  20th January 2017

316. INTERNAL AUDIT 
ACTIVITY PROGRESS 
REPORT 

17.

That senior management attend the next 
meeting of the Committee to provide an update 
on the actions taken in relation to the Data 
Storage - Structures and Direct Payments – 
Children audit recommendations.  

Theresa Mortimer 20th January 2017

P
age 16



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gloucestershire County Council--October 2016 

The Annual Audit Letter 

for Gloucestershire County Council 

 

Year ended 31 March 2016 

Elizabeth Cave 

Director 

T 0117 305 7885 

E  liz.a.cave@uk.gt.com 

Terry Tobin 

Senior Manager 

T 0121 232 5276 

E  terry.p.tobin@uk.gt.com 

Megan Gibson 

Executive 

T 0117 305  7681 

E  megan.gibson@uk.gt.com 

 October 2016 

Cover page 

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 3



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gloucestershire County Council--October 2016 2 

Contents 

Section Page 

1. Executive summary 3 

2. Audit of the accounts 5 

3. Value for Money conclusion 11 

4. Working with the Council 16 

Appendices 

A  Reports issued and fees 

Contents 

P
age 18



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gloucestershire County Council--October 2016 3 

Executive summary 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

Purpose of this letter 

Our Annual Audit Letter (Letter) summarises the key findings arising from the 

work that we have carried out at Gloucestershire County Council (the Council) for 

the year ended 31 March 2016. 

 

This Letter is intended to provide a commentary on the results of our work to the 

Council and its external stakeholders, and to highlight issues that we wish to draw 

to the attention of the public.  In preparing this letter, we have followed the 

National Audit Office (NAO)'s Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and  Auditor 

Guidance Note (AGN) 07 – 'Auditor Reporting'. 

 

We reported the detailed findings from our audit work to the Council's Audit and 

Governance Committee as those charged with governance in our Audit Findings 

Report. 

 

Our responsibilities 

We have carried out our audit in accordance with the NAO's Code of Audit 

Practice, which reflects the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability 

Act 2014 (the Act). Our key responsibilities are to: 

• give an opinion on the Council's financial statements (section two) 

• assess the Council's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources (the value for money conclusion) (section 

three). 

 

In our audit of the Council's financial statements, we comply with International 

Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (ISAs) and other guidance issued by the 

NAO. 

 

 

 

 

Our work 

Financial statements opinion 

We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council's financial statements including the 

Pension Fund on 19 September 2016. The 2015/16 financial statements were 

produced and the audit concluded earlier than in previous years. Fewer issues were 

found during  the financial statements audit, indicating an improvement in the 

quality of the statements. 

 

Value for money conclusion 

 

We were satisfied that the Council put in place proper arrangements to ensure 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources during the year ended 

31 March 2016. We reflected this in our audit opinion on  19 September 2016. 

 

The Council has a strong track record of delivering challenging savings plan 

targets. In 2015/16 the Council delivered £21.5m against a target of £26m. It is 

too early to determine the outcomes of the Council's savings plan target (£28.3m) 

for 2016/17, but the arrangements in place for the individual schemes are robust 

and the monitoring arrangements are strong. The most significant shortfall in 

2015/16  was against the savings target for adults social care services, which was as 

a consequence of increases in demand. This resulted in savings of £5.7m being 

achieved against a target of £9.1m for adults social care services in 2015/16.  

 

 

P
age 19



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gloucestershire County Council--October 2016 4 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

 

The Council is in the process of introducing a series of new measures to tackle the 

demand and financial pressures on adults social care services. The Council will 

need to closely monitor the outcome to ensure the sustainability of its financial 

health. 

 

We found that the Council's overarching governance arrangements for the residual 

waste project were appropriate with clear reporting via the Waste Board to the 

Cabinet a key part of the decision making process. Furthermore, the Council's 

approach to the VfM of the residual waste project was robust. 

 

 

Whole of government accounts  

We completed work on the Council's consolidation return following guidance 

issued by the NAO and issued an unqualified report on 17 October 2016  

 

 

 

 

Certificate 

We certified that we had completed the audit of the accounts of Gloucestershire 

County Council in accordance with the requirements of the Code on  17 October 

2016.  

 

Working with the Council 

 

We are really pleased to have worked with you  over the past year. In addition to 

delivering the  audit, we have sought to work alongside the Council to helping it 

pursue its objectives. Examples include county wide training for members on audit 

committee effectiveness, liaising with officers in the implementation of highways 

network accounting in 2016/17, providing training to officers and  sharing 

comparative benchmarking information and good practice. Further detail is set out 

on  page 17. 

 

 

We would like to record our appreciation for the assistance and co-operation 

provided to us during our audit by the Council's staff. 

 

Grant Thornton UK LLP 

 October 2016 

 

P
age 20



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gloucestershire County Council--October 2016 5 

Audit of  the accounts 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

Our audit approach 

Materiality 

In our audit of the Council's accounts, we use the concept of materiality to 

determine the nature, timing and extent of our work, and in evaluating the results 

of our work. We define materiality as the size of the misstatement in the financial 

statements that would lead a reasonably knowledgeable person to change or 

influence their economic decisions.  

 

We determined materiality for our audit of the Council's accounts to be 

£15,000,000 which is 1.8% of the Council's gross revenue expenditure. We used 

this benchmark, as in our view, users of the Council's accounts are most interested 

in how it has spent the income it has raised from taxation and grants during the 

year.  

  

We also set a lower level of specific materiality for certain areas such as officers 

remuneration (within the correct salary band) and auditor remuneration (£1,000) 

  

We set a lower threshold of £750,000, above which we reported errors to the 

Audit and Governance Committee in our Audit Findings Report. 

 

Pension Fund 

For the audit of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund accounts, we determined 

materiality to be £17,090,000, which is 1% of the Fund's net assets. We used this 

benchmark, as in our view, users of the Pension Fund accounts are most interested 

in the value of assets available to fund pension benefits. 

 

We set a lower level of specific materiality for certain areas such as management 

expenses and related party transactions. Both of these were £100,000. We set a 

threshold of £828,000 above which we reported errors to the Audit and 

Governance Committee. 

The scope of our audit 

Our audit involves obtaining enough evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements to give reasonable assurance that they are 

free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.  

 

This includes assessing whether:  

• the Council's accounting policies are appropriate, have been consistently 

applied and adequately disclosed;  

• significant accounting estimates made by management are reasonable; and 

• the overall presentation of the financial statements gives a true and fair view. 

 

We also read the narrative report and annual governance statement to check 

they are consistent with our understanding of the Council and with the accounts 

on which we give our opinion. 

  

We carry out our audit in line with ISAs (UK and Ireland) and the NAO Code 

of Audit Practice. We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

  

Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of the Council's 

business and is risk based.  

 

We identified key risks and set out overleaf the work we performed in response 

to these risks and the results of this work. 

 

P
age 21



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gloucestershire County Council--October 2016 6 

Audit of  the accounts of  the Council 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

 

 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk 

Valuation of property, plant and equipment 

The Council previously re-valued its assets on a rolling basis 

over a five year period . In recent years the move has been 

toward a three-year rolling basis with the aim of moving to two 

years. The Code requires that the Council ensures that  the 

carrying value at the balance sheet date is not materially 

different from the current value. This represents a significant 

estimate by management in the financial statements. 

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk: 

 Review of management's processes and assumptions for the calculation of the estimate. 

 Review of the competence, expertise and objectivity of any management experts used. 

 Review of the instructions issued to valuation experts and the scope of their work 

 Discussions with the Council's valuer about the basis on which the valuation was carried out, challenging the 

key assumptions. 

 Review and challenge of the information used by the valuer to ensure it was robust and consistent with our 

understanding. 

 Testing of revaluations made during the year to ensure they were input correctly into the Council's asset 

register 

 Evaluation of the assumptions made by management for those assets not revalued during the year and how 

management satisfied themselves that these  were not materially different to current value. 

Our work did not identify any issues regarding the valuation of property, plant and equipment. 

Better Care Fund 

The Council has entered into a section 75 pooled budget 

arrangement as of 1 April 2015 with Gloucestershire CCG. The 

accounting arrangements for this are complex and there is a risk 

of material misstatement and the potential for irregular 

expenditure. 

 

 

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk: 

 We have obtained the signed s75 agreement governing the pooled budget and gain an understanding of the 

Council's assessment of where control lies and the expected accounting entries to be made. 

 We have documented and reviewed the operating effectiveness of the Council's controls over the Better Care 

Fund (BCF) pooled budget. 

 We have tested the accounting entries made in respect of the BCF pooled budget to check they are 

consistent with our understanding of the arrangement and that transactions and balances recorded are 

consistent with those recorded by counterparty organisations. 

Based on our review we agreed that the accounting treatment was appropriate given the nature of the financial 

relationships.  

Some simplification of partnership budgets has now taken place, however, there is scope to further simplify the 

arrangements. Most of the CCG contributions to the 'pooled budget'  for the BCF are payments made to 

Gloucestershire County Council and other providers under 'block contracts'.  As these block contract payments 

are fixed, amounts for a given service there is no actual pooling of funds, therefore the budgets are merely 

aligned. We found that only two out of the 37 projects within the BCF were shared arrangements requiring 

contribution from both GCCG and GCC. Of these only one project met the definition of joint control.  

No issues were identified from our substantive testing 

These are the risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work.  

P
age 22



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gloucestershire County Council--October 2016 7 

Audit of  the accounts of  the Council 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

 

 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk 

Employee remuneration and benefit obligations and expenses is 

understated. 

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk: 

• documented our understanding of processes and key controls over the transaction cycle, 

• undertaken walkthrough of the key controls to assess the whether those controls were in line with our 

documented understanding, 

• reviewed the reconciliation of the payroll system to the general ledger, including proof in total of the monthly 

payroll to the general ledger, 

• completed a trend analysis of monthly payroll data, and  

• tested amount paid to individual employees on a sample basis. 

Our work did not identify any issues regarding employee remuneration. 

Creditors related to core activities (e.g. supplies) are  

understated or not recorded in the correct period. 

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk: 

• documented our understanding of processes and key controls over the transaction cycle, 

• undertaken walkthrough of the key controls to assess the whether those controls were in line with our 

documented understanding, 

• searched for unrecorded liabilities by reviewing payments after the year end, and 

• reviewed the Council's accrual policy and tested accrued balances and goods receipted. 

Our testing of year end expenditure cut-off identified some errors but these were not material. 

 

The Council's pension fund asset and liability as reflected in its 

balance sheet represent significant estimates in the financial 

statements. 

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk: 

 documentation of the key controls that were put in place by management to ensure that the pension fund 

liability was not materially misstated.  

 walkthrough of the key controls to assess whether they were implemented as expected and mitigate the risk 

of material misstatement in the financial statements. 

 review of the competence, expertise and objectivity of the actuary who carried out the Council's pension fund 

valuation.  

 gaining an understanding of the basis on which the IAS 19 valuation was carried out, undertaking procedures 

to confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial assumptions made.  

 review of the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and disclosures in notes to the financial 

statements with the actuarial report from your actuary. 

Our audit work has not identified any issues in respect of the pension fund net liability 

These are the risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work.  

P
age 23



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gloucestershire County Council--October 2016 8 

Audit of  the accounts – Pension Fund  

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

 

 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk 

Level 3 Investments valuation is incorrect 

 

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk: 

• gained an understanding of the transactions via discussions with the pension fund team and reviewed supporting 

documentation. 

• carried out walkthrough tests of the controls identified in the cycle. 

• tested a sample of Level 3 investments by obtaining and reviewing the audited accounts at latest date for individual 

investments and agreeing these to the fund manager reports at that date.  Reconciliation of those values to the values 

at 31 March 2016 with reference to known movements in the intervening period. 

• reviewed the nature and basis of estimated values and considered what assurance management has over the year 

end valuations provided for these types of investments. 

Our audit work has not identified any significant issues in relation to the risks identified 

Investment income not accurate. We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk: 

 We documented our understanding of processes and key controls over the transaction cycle, 

 We have performed a walkthrough to gain assurance that the in-year controls were operating in accordance with our 

documented understanding. 

 We have reviewed the reconciliation of information provided by the fund managers, the custodian and the Pension 

Fund's own records and sought explanations for variances,  

Our audit work has not identified any significant issues in relation to the risks identified 

Level 2 investments valuation is incorrect. We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk: 

 We documented our understanding of processes and key controls over the transaction cycle, 

 We have performed a walkthrough to gain assurance that the in-year controls were operating in accordance with our 

documented understanding. 

 We have reviewed the reconciliation of information provided by the fund managers, the custodian and the Pension 

Fund's own records and sought explanations for variances,  

Our audit work has not identified any significant issues in relation to the risks identified 

These are the risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work on the audit of the pension fund.   

P
age 24



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gloucestershire County Council--October 2016 9 

Audit of  the accounts – Pension Fund  

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

 

 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk 

Recorded contributions not correct  We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk: 

 documented our understanding of processes and key controls over the transaction cycle 

 undertaken walkthrough of the key controls to assess the whether those controls were in line with our documented 

understanding 

 tested key controls over the contributions made to the fund, 

 tested a sample of contributions to source data to gain assurance over their accuracy and occurrence, and 

 analysed contributions received with reference to changes in member body payrolls and numbers of contributing 

pensioners and ensured that any unexpected trends were satisfactorily explained. 

Our audit work has not identified any significant issues in relation to the risk identified. 

Benefits improperly computed or claims 

liability understated  

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk: 

 documented our understanding of processes and key controls over the transaction cycle 

 undertaken walkthrough of the key controls to assess the whether those controls were in line with our documented 

understanding 

 tested key controls for member to be enrolled on the scheme, 

 tested a sample of individual pensions in payment by reference to member files, and 

 rationalised pension paid with reference to changes in pensioner numbers and increases applied in the year to 

ensure that any unusual trends are satisfactorily explained 

Our audit work has not identified any significant issues in relation to the risk identified. 

Member data is not correct.  We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk: 

 documented our understanding of processes and key controls over the transaction cycle 

 undertaken walkthrough of the key controls to assess the whether those controls were in line with our documented 

understanding 

 tested key controls over changes to the pension fund data set, and 

 tested a sample of changes to member data made during the year to source documentation. 

Our audit work has not identified any significant issues in relation to the risk identified 

These are the risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work on the audit of the pension fund.   

P
age 25



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gloucestershire County Council--October 2016 10 

Audit of  the accounts 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

Audit opinion 

We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council's accounts on 19 September 2016, 

in advance of the 30 September 2016 national deadline. 

 

The Council made the accounts available for audit in line with the agreed 

timetable, and provided a good set of working papers to support them. This was 

much earlier than in previous years. The finance team responded promptly and 

efficiently to our queries during the course of the audit. As a result the audit was 

fundamentally complete in July 2016. 

 

 

Issues arising from the audit of the accounts 

We reported the key issues from our audit of the accounts of the Council to the 

Council's Audit and Governance Committee on 16 September 2016.  

In addition to the key audit risks reported above, we identified some 

improvements to the disclosures in the accounts. 

 

Pension fund accounts  

We also reported the key issues from our audit of accounts of the Pension Fund 

hosted by the Council to the  Council's Audit and Governance Committee on 16 

September 2016. In addition to the audit risks highlighted above we identified 

some improvements to the disclosures in the accounts. 

 

 

Annual Governance Statement and Narrative Report 

We are also required to review the Council's Annual Governance Statement and 

Narrative Report. The Council published them on its website with the draft 

accounts in line with the national deadlines.  

 

Both documents were prepared in line with the relevant guidance and were 

consistent with  the supporting evidence provided by the Council and with our 

knowledge of the Council.  

 

Whole of Government Accounts (WGA)  

We carried out work on the Council's consolidation schedule in line with 

instructions provided by the NAO . We issued a group assurance certificate 

which did not identify any issues for the group auditor to consider  

 

 

 

P
age 26



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gloucestershire County Council--October 2016 11 

Value for Money conclusion 
 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

Background 

We carried out our review in accordance with the NAO Code of Audit Practice 

(the Code), following the guidance issued by the NAO in November 2015 which 

specified the criterion for auditors to evaluate: 

In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys resources 

to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.  

 

Key findings 

Our first step in carrying out our work was to perform a risk assessment and 

identify the key risks where we concentrated our work. 

The key risks we identified and the work we performed are set out in table 2 

overleaf. 

  

 

Overall VfM conclusion 

We are satisfied that in all significant respects the Council put in place proper 

arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources for the year ending 31 March 2016.  

 

 

P
age 27



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gloucestershire County Council--October 2016 12 

Value for Money  

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

 

 

 

Risk identified Work carried out Findings and conclusions 

Energy from waste plant 

The Council entered into a  Deed of 

Variation and Restatement with Urbaser 

Balfour Beatty Ltd in respect of the 

Residual Waste contract originally signed 

on 22nd February 2013. This effectively 

brought the contract up to date following 

planning delays and enacts the changes 

arising out the Revised Project Plan 

process. It is important  to ensure that this 

important decision is properly justified. 

 

We reviewed the Council's governance 

arrangements around making this important 

decision. 

We reviewed the Council's arrangements for the Deed of Variation and 

Restatement with Urbaser Balfour Beatty Ltd in respect of the Residual Waste 

contract originally signed on 22nd February 2013. 

 

On 22 July 2015 Cabinet approved the continued costs of the revised project 

plan of between £5-6m to December 2015 funded from reserves, the increased 

costs were as a result of the delays caused by the planning appeal. 

 

On 11 November 2015 Cabinet approved a further £17m one-off financial 

contribution to the residual waste project, funded from revenue reserves to 

mitigate the cost of delay in the annual revenue budget for the project over 25 

years. The Cabinet also authorised the Director of Communities and 

Infrastructure to agree and sign the deed of variation restatement of the residual 

waste contract. The contract is forecast to show savings of £153m over its life 

and is affordable within the first five years of operation. 

 

The Council's Waste Board met on 22 December 2015 to finalise some of the 

outstanding deed of variation issues  and financial close was completed on 21 

January 2016 following an in depth analysis of the value for money/affordability 

of the residual waste contract . 

 

The contract will be in service from summer 2019 (25 years with a 5 year 

extension option) and the asset will revert back to the Council at the end of the 

contract, with the potential for a further 25 years of life. 

 

We found that the Council's overarching governance arrangements for the 

residual waste project were appropriate with clear reporting via the Waste Board 

to the Cabinet a key part of the decision making process. Furthermore, the 

Council's approach to the VfM of the residual waste project was robust. The 

Council employed consultants to undertake a comprehensive VfM review and 

the outcomes of this process clearly demonstrated that the Council's decision 

represented value for money and that the decision making process was well 

informed  

On that basis we concluded that the risk was sufficiently mitigated and the 

Council has proper arrangements in place to support informed decision 

making. 

 Value for money risks 

P
age 28



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gloucestershire County Council--October 2016 13 

Value for Money  

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

 

 

 

Risk identified Work carried out Findings and conclusions 

Future financial sustainability 

The Council identified savings of £32.3m 

as part of the 2016/17 budget setting 

process. A contingency has been set aside 

in case this is not fully delivered. Delivery 

of this level of savings will be challenging 

for the Council. Savings plans for 2017/18 

are still being developed. 

We reviewed the Council's arrangements for 

identifying and agreeing savings plans, and 

communicating key findings to the Council and key 

decision making committees. 

The Council has a strong track record of delivering challenging savings plan 

targets. In 2015/16 the Council delivered £21.5m against a target of £26m. The 

most significant shortfall was against the savings target for adults social care 

services, which was as a consequence of increases in demand. This resulted in 

savings of £5.7m being achieved against a stretch target of £9.1m for adults 

social care services in 2015/16. 

 

The Council is in the process of updating its medium term financial strategy and 

the Cabinet approved the proposed approach for reviewing and developing the 

Council's Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy for the period 2017/18 

to 2019/20 (MTC2) in July 2016. This includes a summary of funding forecast for 

the period, an analysis of spending pressures and a high level summary of 

potential savings targets. 

 

The Council set an initial savings target for 2016/17 of £32.3m but this was 

revised to £28.3m. 

  

All of the individual savings schemes have detailed project plans, key 

milestones, clearly identified project leads and are routinely monitored by the 

Council using Verto, which is its project management software system. It is too 

early to determine the outcomes of the Council's savings plan target (£28.3m) 

for 2016/17, but the arrangements in place for the individual schemes are robust 

and the monitoring arrangements are strong. 

 

On that basis we concluded that the risk was sufficiently mitigated and the 

Council has proper arrangements in place to ensure it plans finances 

effectively to support its strategic functions and to support informed 

decision making. 

 Value for money risks 

P
age 29



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gloucestershire County Council--October 2016 14 

Value for Money  

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

 

 

 

Risk identified Work carried out Findings and conclusions 

Children's social care 

As at October 2015 the forecast 

overspend in Children's and Families was 

projected to be £2.36m after the 

application of £1.65m from the vulnerable 

children's reserve. There has been 

sustained pressure from children coming 

into care, which has principally affected 

the external placements and safeguarding 

budgets. There are high agency costs due 

to difficulties in attracting permanent social 

workers. 

We reviewed the Council's arrangements for 

managing the overspend, and the plans in place to 

ensure that this service is sustainable. 

The outturn revenue position for children's social care services for 2015/16 was 

an overspend of £0.7m (0.7% of the net budget). This figure took into account 

the allocation of £2m of the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy change 

savings, but ensured that the previously reported forecast draw down of £1.65m 

from the vulnerable children's reserve was not required, which provides 

additional resilience for 2016/17. The improvement in the outturn revenue 

position was also due to increased underspends within children with disabilities, 

supporting people and home to school transport and a reduction in the external 

placement overspend. 

 

The current forecast of the 2016/17 year end revenue position as at June 2016 

for children's social care services is an overspend of £2.79m (2.77% of budget), 

which reduces to £1.14m after the vulnerable children's reserve has been 

applied.  

 

The significant rise in children coming into care (600 cases in May 2016 

compared to 479 cases in April 2014) is continuing to cause considerable 

pressures on children's services and, in particular, against the external agency 

placement and fostering allowances budgets resulting in the overspend. Robust 

scrutiny by senior managers of high cost placements continues to ensure 

appropriate provision is in place and placement drift is avoided but the 

underlying issue is the volume of placements required. The financial recovery 

plan continues to be reviewed and updated to mitigate against the volume 

increases wherever possible.  

 

At present, it is too early to determine the outcomes of this year's children's 

social services savings plan schemes (£1.252m), but the schemes are actively 

managed through the Council's use of Verto. In addition, we note that the 

Council is focused on delivering its financial recovery plan.  

 

On that basis we concluded that the risk was sufficiently mitigated and the 

Council has proper arrangements in place to ensure it plans finances 

effectively to support its strategic functions. 

 Value for money risks 

P
age 30



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gloucestershire County Council--October 2016 15 

Value for Money  

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

 

 

 

Risk identified Work carried out Findings and conclusions 

Adults social care 

The forecast overspend in adults social 

care services was projected to be £3.9m 

after the drawdown of £1.2m adults 

earmarked reserve. Virtually all of this was 

attributed to Older Peoples and Physical 

Disabilities where there was a £7.2m 

(12.1%) overspend. This area of 

expenditure continues to cause significant 

financial pressures on the overall budget. 

We reviewed the Council's arrangements for 

managing the overspend, and the plans in place to 

ensure that this service is sustainable. 

The outturn revenue position for adults social care services for 2015/16 was an 

overspend of £3.1m (2.1% of budget). The allocation of £2m of the MRP policy 

change savings reduced the overspend from £5.1m. Anticipating and managing 

the situation ensured the previously reported forecast draw down of £1.2m from 

the adults earmarked reserve was not required, which provides additional 

resilience for 2016/17. 

 

The current forecast of the 2016/17 year end revenue position as at June 2016 

for adults social care services is breakeven, based on the underlying overspend 

being offset by a combination of temporary and permanent funding available 

adults in this financial year. The underlying overspend of £3.85m includes 

learning disabilities (£2m), older people/physical disabilities (£1.5m), mental 

health (£0.14m) and community equipment and telecare (£0.21m) is offset by 

care act reserve (£1.31m temporary) and social care levy (£2.54m permanent). 

 

Meetings with key officers and review of the Council's adults social care savings 

plan for 2016/17 have established that the Council is in the process of 

introducing a series of new measures to tackle the demand and financial 

pressures on adults social care services. 

 

At present, it is too early to determine the outcomes of this year's adults social 

services savings plan schemes (£3.760m), but the schemes are actively 

managed through the Council's use of Verto. In addition, we note that the 

Council is focused on delivering its financial recovery plan.  

 

On that basis we concluded that the risk was sufficiently mitigated and the 

Council has proper arrangements in place to ensure it plans finances 

effectively to support its strategic functions. 

Value for money risks 

P
age 31



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gloucestershire County Council--October 2016 16 

Working with the Council 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

Our work with you in 2015/16 

 

We are really pleased to have worked with you  over the past year. In 

addition to delivering the  audit, we have sought to work alongside the 

Council to helping it pursue its objectives. 

 

An efficient audit – we delivered the accounts audit 11 days before the 

deadline following the Audit and Governance Committee's approval of the 

accounts. The audit was completed in July and was in line with the 

timescale we agreed with you. Our audit team are knowledgeable and 

experienced in your financial accounts and systems. Our relationship with 

your team provides you with a financial statements audit that continues to 

finish ahead of schedule releasing your finance team for other important 

work.  

 

Sharing our insight – we provided regular audit committee updates 

covering best practice.  Areas we covered included  Innovation in public 

financial management, Knowing the Ropes – Audit Committee; 

Effectiveness Review, Making devolution work, Reforging local 

government. We have  also shared with you our insights on advanced 

closure of local authority accounts, in our publication "Transforming the 

financial reporting of local authority accounts" and will continue to 

provide you with our insights as you  bring forward your production of 

your year-end accounts. Officers are attending a workshop we are holding  

in October 2016 to further help with this.. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Thought leadership – We have shared with you  several publications 

including on Building a successful joint venture and will continue to support 

you in this area. Your officers are attending a round table workshop we are 

holding in Bristol  in October on improving income generation. 

 

Providing training – we provided your teams with training on financial 

accounts and annual reporting. We also ran a workshop at the request of 

this Council and the CCG on the implementation of the Better Care Fund. 

 

Supporting development – Members of your Audit and Governance 

Committee requested training on audit committee effectiveness. We 

provided training to members across Gloucestershire in July. 

 

Providing information – We provided a presentation on CFO insights, our 

online analysis tool providing you with access to insight on the financial 

performance, socio-economy context and service outcomes of councils 

across the country.  We have also provided the Council and local CCG with 

an analysis of health and well being for the County which highlighted some 

interesting issues.  

 

Sharing good practice- we reviewed the Council's approach to  revising its 

approach to the minimum revenue provision and shared approaches from 

other authorities.  

 

P
age 32



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gloucestershire County Council--October 2016 17 

Working with the Council 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

 

 

 

Working with you in 2016/17 

Highways Network Asset  

The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting (the Code) requires 

authorities to account for Highways Network Asset  (HNA) at depreciated 

replacement cost (DRC) from 1 April 2016. The Code sets out the key 

principles but also requires compliance with the requirements of the 

recently published Code of Practice on the Highways Network Asset (the 

HNA Code), which defines the assets or components that will comprise the 

HNA. This includes roads, footways, structures such as bridges, street 

lighting, street furniture and associated land.  

 

The Code includes transitional arrangements for the change in asset 

classification and the basis of measurement from depreciated historic cost 

(DHC) to DRC under which these assets  will be separated from other 

infrastructure assets, which will continue to be measured at DHC.  

  

This is expected to have a significant impact on the Council's 2016/17 

accounts, both in values and levels of disclosure, and may require 

considerable work to establish the opening inventory and condition of the 

HNA as at 1 April 2016. 

 

Under the current basis of accounting values will only have been recorded 

against individual assets or components acquired after the inception of 

capital accounting for infrastructure assets by local authorities.  Authorities 

may therefore have to develop new accounting records to support the 

change in classification and valuation of the HNA.  

 

. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Some of the calculations are likely to be complex and will involve the use of 

external models, a combination of national and locally generated rates and a 

number of significant estimates and assumptions. 

 

We have been working with the Council on the accounting, financial reporting 

and audit assurance implications arising from these changes. We have issued two 

Client Briefings which we have shared with officers.  We will issue further 

briefings during the coming year to update the Council on key developments and 

emerging issues. 

 

This significant accounting development is likely to be a significant risk for our 

2016/17 audit, so we have already had some preliminary discussions with the 

Council to assess the progress it is making in this respect. Our discussions with 

Council Officers to date has highlighted the fact that highways and finance staff 

have been working closely together for some time to help ensure a successful 

implementation  

 

The Council is planning to refresh its implementation plan. and in doing so 

should ensure that this in accordance with LAAP Bulletin 100 "Project Plan for 

Implementation of the Measurement Requirements for Transport Infrastructure 

Assets by 2016/17. The Council will want to monitor progress against this plan 

and decide on reporting arrangements 

 

Finance is considering how it will get assurance from highways colleagues on the 

value of assets which will go into the Council's accounts. Internal Audit may have 

a role to play in helping provide this. Some estimates are being used in arriving at 

assets and the Council may wish to complete a physical inventory as far as 

practicable. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 33



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gloucestershire County Council--October 2016 18 

Working with the Council 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

 

 

 

 

. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We will also continue to work with you and support you over the next financial 

year in other areas. 

 

Locally our focus will be on: 

• An efficient audit – continuing to deliver an efficient audit 

• Improved financial statement processes – we will continue to work along side 

you as you continue to streamline your final accounts closedown processes. 

• Understanding your operational health – we will focus our value for money 

conclusion work on  adults and children social care issues.  

 

 

 

We will continue to liaise closely with the senior finance team during 

2016/17 on this important accounting development, with timely feedback 

on any emerging issues.  

 

The audit risks associated with this new development and the work we plan 

to carry out to address them will be reflected in our 2016/17 audit plan. 

P
age 34



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gloucestershire County Council--October 2016 19 

Appendix A: Reports issued and fees 

Fees 

Planned 

£ 

Actual fees  

£ 

2014/15 fees  

£ 

Statutory audit of Council 98,010 98,010 

 

98,010 

Statutory audit of Pension Fund 24,989 24,989 24,989 

Total fees (excluding VAT)                           122,999 122,999 122,999 

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and provision of non-audit services. 

Fees for other services 

Service Fees £ 

Audit related services: 

• Teachers pension claim 

 

4,200 

Non-audit services  

• Fire Service PFI 

 

14,000 

Reports issued 

Report Date issued 

Audit Plans March 2016 

Audit Findings Reports September 2016 

Annual Audit Letter October 2016 

P
age 35



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for  Gloucestershire County Council--October 2016 

Back page 

P
age 36



Audit and Governance  Committee  

Gloucestershire County Council 

Progress Report and Update  

Year ended 31 March 2017 
December 2016 

Elizabeth Cave 

Engagement Lead 

E  liz.a.cave@uk.gt.com 

Terry Tobin 

Senior Manager 

E terry.p.tobin@uk.gt.com 

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 4



Audit Committee progress report and  update  

2 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, which we believe need to be 

reported to you as part of our audit process. It is not a comprehensive record of all the relevant matters, which may 

be subject to change, and in particular we cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may 

affect your business or any weaknesses in your internal controls. This report has been prepared solely for your 

benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written consent. We do not accept any 

responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content 

of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose. 

P
age 38



Audit Committee progress report and  update  

3 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Introduction 

Members of the Audit  and Governance Committee can find further useful material on our website www.grant-

thornton.co.uk, where we have a section dedicated to our work in the public sector. Here you can download copies of our 

publications: 

• Advancing closure: the benefits to local authorities  (July 2016) www.grantthornton.co.uk/insights/advancing-closure-the-

benefits-to-local-authorities/ 

• Building a successful joint venture company (April 2016)  www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-

joint-venture-company/ 

• Innovation in public financial management (December 2015); www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-

in-public-financial-management/ 

• Knowing the Ropes – Audit Committee; Effectiveness Review (October 2015); 

www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/ 

• Making devolution work: A practical guide for local leaders (October 2015) 

www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/ 

If you would like further information on any items in this briefing, or would like to register with Grant Thornton to receive 

regular email updates on issues that are of interest to you, please contact either your Engagement Lead or Engagement 

Manager. 

This paper provides the Audit and Governance 

Committee with a report on progress in delivering our 

responsibilities as your external auditors.  

P
age 39

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/


Audit Committee progress report and  update  

4 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Progress at December 2016 

2015/16 work Planned Date Complete? Comments 

Annual Audit Letter 
We are required to issue the Annual Audit Letter by the 30 

November 

 

November 2016 

 

Yes 

 

Included on this agenda 

2016/17 work Planned Date Complete? Comments 

Fee Letter  
We are required to issue a 'Planned fee letter for 2016/17' by the 

end of April 2016 

April 2016 

 

 

Yes 

 

Already presented to Committee 

Accounts Audit Plan 
We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit plan to the 

Council setting out our proposed approach in order to give an 

opinion on the Council's 2016-17 financial statements. 

March 2017 No 

 

Will be presented to next Committee 

Interim accounts audit  
Our interim fieldwork visit plan included: 

• updated review of the Council's control environment 

• updated understanding of financial systems 

• review of Internal Audit reports on core financial systems 

• early work on emerging accounting issues 

• early substantive testing 

• Value for Money conclusion risk assessment. 

January-March 

2017 

 

No 

P
age 40



Audit Committee progress report and  update  

5 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Progress at December 2016 

2016/17 work Planned Date Complete? Comments 

Final accounts audit 
Including: 

• audit of the 2016/17 financial statements 

• proposed opinion on the Council's accounts 

• proposed Value for Money conclusion 

• review of the Council's disclosures in the consolidated accounts 

against the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 

the United Kingdom 2015/16   

June-July 2017 Not started 

Value for Money (VfM) conclusion 
The scope of our work is unchanged to 2015/16 and is set out in the 
final guidance issued by the National Audit Office in November 
2015. The Code requires auditors to satisfy themselves that; "the 
Council has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources". 

The guidance confirmed the overall criterion as; "in all significant 
respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it 
took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to 
achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local 
people". 

The three sub criteria for assessment to be able to give a 
conclusion overall are: 

• Informed decision making 

• Sustainable resource deployment 

• Working with partners and other third parties 

February-July 

2017 

Not started We currently consider the indicative residual significant risks to the 
value for money conclusion are; 
-future financial sustainability 
-children's social care 
-adults social care. 

Other activities 
 

In the year we have ran an audit committee training event for Members 
across Gloucestershire. 
Your officers have also attended several of the  events we held in our 
Bristol office  including recently on advancing early close of the 
accounts and also one on  joint ventures. 

P
age 41



Technical Matters 

P
age 42



Audit Committee progress report and  update  

7 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Code of  Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2016/17 

This is the seventh edition of  the Code to be 

prepared under International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS), which have been adopted as 

the basis for public sector accounting in the UK. 

The 2016/17 Code has been developed by 

CIPFA/LASAAC and has effect for financial 

years commencing on or after 1 April 2016.  

Local authorities in the United Kingdom are 

required to keep their accounts in accordance 

with ‘proper (accounting) practices’. This is 

defined, for the purposes of  local government 

legislation, as meaning compliance with the terms 

of  the Code of  Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code). 

. 

  

 The Code  includes changes resulting from the 'Telling the Story' review 

on improving the presentation of  local authority financial statements. 

These include new formats and reporting requirements for the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the Movement in 

Reserves Statement and the introduction of  the new Expenditure and 

Funding Analysis. 

.  

Amendments arising from the narrow scope amendments to International 

Financial Reporting Standards including changes from the following 

amended standards: 

 

IAS 1 Presentation of  Financial Statements under the International 

Accounting Standards Board Disclosure Initiative 

 

 IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures in relation to key management 

personnel as a result of  the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010 – 2012  

 

 IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements Accounting for Acquisitions of  interest in 

Joint Operations  

 

IFRS 8 Operating Segments as a result of  the Annual Improvements to 

IFRSs 2010 – 2012.  

 

 An update to the Statements Reporting Reviews of  Internal Controls 

Section of  the Code for the changes to the Delivering Good Governance 

in Local Government: Framework (2016) published by CIPFA and 

SOLACE.  

 

 

P
age 43

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjQrcCJjKvQAhVEXBQKHUE1CGAQjRwIBw&url=http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/technical-panels-and-boards/cipfa-lasaac-local-authority-code-board/ifrsbased-code-of-practice-on-local-authority-accounting-in-the-united-kingdom-the-code&psig=AFQjCNFxjeY49uK1K5I3EbfdytS3A6Bhbg&ust=1479310734194517


 Sector issues and developments 

P
age 44



Audit Committee progress report and  update  

9 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/local-welfare-provision/ 

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/financial-sustainability-of-local-authorities-capital-expenditure-and-resourcing/ 

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/english-devolution-deals/ 

National Audit Office: Below is a selection of  reports issued during 2016 which may be of  interest to 

Audit Committee members.  Please see the website for all reports issued by the NAO.  

P
age 45



Audit Committee progress report and  update  

10 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

National Audit Office reports (continued) 

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/overview-local-government/ 

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/ 

 

P
age 46

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/


 Grant Thornton 

P
age 47



Audit Committee progress report and  update  

12 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Integrated Reporting  
 

Looking beyond the report 

The move away from reporting based on historic financial 

information is beginning to gain momentum and 

Integrated Reporting is now mandatory in some countries.  

In the UK, CIPFA proposed in their consultation 

document that the narrative report from 2017/18 reflects 

elements of the International Integrated Reporting 

Council's framework whilst the Treasury is encouraging 

public sector organisations to adopt Integrated Reporting. 

Integrated reporting: Looking beyond the report was produced by 

our global Integrated Reporting team, based in the UK, 

New Zealand and South Africa, to help organisations 

obtain the benefits of Integrated Reporting.  

The International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC) 

describes Integrated Reporting as "enhancing  

the way organisations think, plan and report the story of their 

business." 

At Grant Thornton, we fully agree with this and, in our 

view, the key word is 'enhancing' because a lot of the 

elements to support effective Integrated Reporting are 

likely to be in place already.  

But anyone focussing purely on the production of the 

report itself will not reap the full benefits that effective 

Integrated Reporting can offer. 

 

 

 

 

Instead, think of Integrated Reporting as demonstrating 

"integrated thinking" across your entire organisation, with 

the actual report being an essential element of it.  

Our methodology is based on six modules which are 

designed to be independent of each other. 

1. Secure support – effective Integrated Reporting 

needs leadership from the top. 

2. Identify stakeholders – who are they and how can 

you engage with them? 

3. Identify the capitals for your organisation – what 

resources do you use to create value? 

4. What do you have – and what do you need? – do 

you have the data you need and is it accurate? 

5. Set limits and create  boundaries – make sure your 

report is focussed. 

6. Review and improve – Integrated Reporting is a 

continuous learning process. 

 

Our approach to Integrated Reporting is deliberately 

simple; experience has shown us that this works best. 

Things are often only complicated because people made 

them that way. 

Our experienced, independent teams can help you keep 

focused throughout the entire Integrated Reporting 

process and can support you, no matter what stage you are 

at. Please speak to your Engagement Lead if you would 

like to discuss this further. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Grant Thornton publications 

P
age 48



Audit Committee progress report and  update  

13 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Integrated Thinking and Reporting 
 

Focusing on value creation in the 

public sector   

Grant Thornton has seconded staff to the International 

Integrated Reporting Council on a pro bono basis for a 

number of years. 

They have been working on making the principles of 

Integrated Reporting  <IR> relevant to the public sector  

and co-authored a recent report by CIPFA and the World 

Bank: Integrated thinking and reporting: focusing on value creation 

in the public sector  - an introduction for leaders. 

Around one third of global gross domestic product (GDP) 

is made up by the public sector and this is being invested 

in ensuring there is effective infrastructure, good 

educational opportunities and reliable health care. In many 

ways, it is this investment by the public sector that is 

helping to create the conditions for wealth creation and 

preparing the way for the success of this and future 

generations. 

Traditional reporting frameworks, focussed only on 

historic financial information, are not fit-for-purpose for 

modern, multi-dimensional public sector organisations.  

Integrated Reporting supports sustainable development 

and financial stability and enables public sector 

organisations to broaden the conversation about the 

services they provide and the value they create. 

 

 

The public sector faces multiple challenges, including: 

• Serving and being accountable to a wide stakeholder 

base; 

• Providing integrated services with sustainable 

outcomes; 

• Maintaining a longer-term perspective, whilst 

delivering in the short term; and  

• Demonstrating the sustainable value of services 

provided beyond the financial. 

 

The <IR> Framework is principle based and enables 

organisations to tailor their reporting to reflect their own 

thinking and strategies and to demonstrate they are 

delivering the outcomes they were aiming for. 

Integrated Reporting can help public sector organisations 

deal with the above challenges by: 

• Addressing diverse and often conflicting public 

accountability requirements; 

• Focussing on the internal and external consequences 

of an organisation's activities; 

• Looking beyond the 'now' to the 'near' and then the 

'far'; 

• Considering the resources used other than just the 

financial. 

 

The report includes examples of how organisations have 

benefitted from Integrated Reporting. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CIPFA Publications 

P
age 49



Audit Committee progress report and  update  

14 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Brexit 
 

Planning can help organisations 

reduce the impact of  Brexit 

Several months have passed since the referendum to leave 

the European Union (EU), during which there has been a 

flurry of political activity, including the party conference 

season. 

After many years of relative stability, organisations will 

need to prepare themselves for a period of uncertainty and 

volatility and will need to keep their risk registers under 

constant review. The outcome of the US Presidential 

election in November 2016 has added to this uncertainty. 

The High Court ruling that Parliament should have a say 

before the UK invokes Article 50 of the Lisbon Treaty – 

which triggers up to two years of formal EU withdrawal 

talks – will not, in our view, impact on the final outcome. 

There appears to be a general political consensus that 

Brexit does mean Brexit, but we feel there could be 

slippage beyond the original timetable which expected to 

see the UK leave the EU by March 2019.  

2017 elections in The Netherlands (March), France 

(April/May), and Germany (October/November) will 

complicate the Brexit negotiation process and timeline at a 

time when Brexit is more important for the UK than it is 

for the remaining 27 Member States 

 

The question still remains, what does Brexit look like?  

While there may be acceptance among politicians that the 

UK is leaving the EU, there is far from any agreement on 

what our future relationship with the continent should be. 

So, what do we expect based on what has happened so 

far? 

Existing EU legislation will remain in force  

We expect that the Government will introduce a “Repeal 

Act” (repealing the European Communities Act of 1972 

that brought us into the EU) in early 2017. 

As well as undoing our EU membership, this will 

transpose existing EU regulations and legislation into UK 

law. We welcome this recognition of the fact that so 

much of UK law is based on EU rules and that trying to 

unpick these would not only take many years but also 

create additional uncertainty. 

Taking back control is a priority 

It appears that the top priority for government is 'taking 

back control', specifically of the UK's borders. Ministers 

have set out proposals ranging from reducing our 

dependence on foreign doctors or cutting overseas 

student numbers. The theme is clear: net migration must 

fall. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Leaving the Single Market appears likely 

The tone and substance of Government speeches on 

Brexit, coupled with the wish for tighter controls on 

immigration and regulation, suggest a future where the 

UK enjoys a much more detached relationship with the 

EU. 

Potential existing examples for the UK's future 

relationship, such as the 'Norwegian' or 'Swiss' models, 

seem out of the question. The UK wants a 'bespoke deal'. 

Given the rhetoric coming from Europe, our view is that 

this would signal an end to the UK's membership of the 

Single Market. With seemingly no appetite to amend the 

four key freedoms required for membership, the UK 

appears headed for a so-called 'Hard Brexit'. It is possible 

that the UK will seek a transitional arrangement, to give 

time to negotiate the details of our future trading 

relationship. 

Grant Thornton update 

P
age 50



Audit Committee progress report and  update  

15 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Brexit 
 

This is of course, all subject to change, and, politics, 

especially at the moment, moves quickly. 

Where does this leave the public sector? 

After a relatively stable summer, we expect there will be 

increased volatility as uncertainty grows approaching the 

formal negotiation period. 

Planning can help organisations 

reduce the impact of  Brexit 

The chancellor has acknowledged the effect this may 

have on investment and signalled his intention to support 

the economy, delaying plans to get the public finances 

into surplus by 2019/20.  

We expect that there will be some additional government 

investment in 2017, with housing and infrastructure being 

the most likely candidates. 

Clarity is a long way off. However, public sector 

organisations should be planning now for making a 

success of a hard Brexit, with a focus on: 

Staffing – organisations should begin preparing for 

possible restrictions on their ability to recruit migrant 

workers and also recognise that the UK may be a less 

attractive place for them to live and work. Non-UK 

employees might benefit from a degree of reassurance as 

our expectation is that those already here will be allowed to 

stay. Employees on short term or rolling contracts might 

find it more difficult to stay over time. 

Financial viability – public sector bodies should plan 

how they will overcome any potential shortfalls in funding 

(e.g. grants, research funding or reduced student numbers). 

Market volatility – for example pension fund and 

charitable funds investments and future treasury 

management considerations. 

International collaboration – perhaps a joint venture or 

PPP scheme with an overseas organisation or linked 

research projects. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Grant Thornton update 

For regular updates on Brexit, please see 

our website: 

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insig

hts/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-

the-debate/  

P
age 51

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/


P
age 52



©  2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |

Internal Audit – External Audit Protocol
for Gloucestershire County Council and 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund

2 December 2016

Liz Cave
Engagement Lead
T +44 (0)1173 057 885
E Liz.A.Cave@uk.gt.com

Terry Tobin
Senior Audit Manager
T +44 (0)121 232 5276
E terry.p.tobinuk.gt.com

Jo Walker
Director Strategic Finance, GCC
T +44 (0)1452 328 469
E joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Theresa Mortimer
Head of Audit Risk Assurance and Gloucestershire County Council’s  Insurance 
Services
T +44 (0)1452 328 883
E theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk

P
age 53

A
genda Item

 5



©  2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |

Introduction and Principles

Introduction
The protocol sets out the key principles and procedures underpinning the 
working relationship between Internal Audit, Risk Management and Insurance 
Services and the Council's external auditors, Grant Thornton.  It establishes a 
framework for coordination, cooperation and exchange of information.

The protocol is based on the understanding of International Standards on 
Auditing (ISA), in particular ISA 315 (Identifying and assessing risks of material 
misstatement through understanding the entity and its environment) and ISA 
610 (Using the work of internal auditors).  

Principles
ISA 315 states the internal audit function is likely to be relevant to the audit of 
the financial statements if the nature of their work relates to the entity's financial 
reporting.  ISA 610 recognises external audit and internal audit have different 
objectives and priorities.  The external auditor has the sole responsibility for the 
opinion on the financial statements and using the work of internal audit does not 
impact on this responsibility in any way.  Therefore the external auditor needs to 
consider how and whether it is appropriate to place reliance on the work of 
internal audit.  

P
age 54



©  2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP   |

Procedures

Together internal audit and Grant Thornton will:

• Meet on a quarterly basis to share and discuss audit plans, update and review 
issues identified through on-going  or planned work, review progress and 
exchange key findings.  Such discussions will inform the Grant Thornton 's 
and Internal Audit's audit approach.

• Liaise to identify and exchange knowledge of emerging or identified key risk 
areas.

• Use quarterly meetings to ensure reporting lines to the  Audit  and 
Governance Committee are clear and information provided is clear and 
timely.

Grant Thornton will:

• Advise internal audit which of the financial systems we consider are key to 
the production on the financial statements.

• Share testing strategies with internal audit on a timely basis to maximise the 
scope to ensure effective and efficient use of resources for both parties.

• Share details of our approach as requested.

Internal audit will:

• Provide details to Grant Thornton and of fraud above £10,000 and details of 
any identified or potential cases of corruption.

• Provide Grant Thornton with appropriate access to working papers and 
relevant documents, and with electronic access to published internal audit 
reports on key financial systems which may impact upon on the audit 
approach.

• Share its approach to systems audit work and associated documentation with 
Grant Thornton.

Way forward:

This protocol has been discussed and agreed with the Chief Internal Auditor: 
(Head of ARA and Gloucestershire County Council’s Insurance Services). The 
protocol will be reviewed annually and updated to reflect changes to internal 
audit standards and the ISAs.

P
age 55



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 
'Grant Thornton' means Grant Thornton UK LLP, a limited 
liability partnership. 
Grant Thornton is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd 
(Grant Thornton International). References to 'Grant Thornton' are 
to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms operate 
and refer to one or more member firms, as the context requires. 
Grant Thornton International and the member firms are not a 
worldwide partnership. Services are delivered independently by 
member firms, which are not responsible for the services or activities 
of one another. Grant Thornton International does not provide 
services to clients. 

grant-thornton.co.uk

P
age 56



1

Audit and Governance Committee

20th January 2017

Title of Report Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 
2017/18.

Purpose of Report To provide the Committee with the proposed Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 2017/18.

Recommendations
To review, comment as appropriate and recommend the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 2017/18 for 
approval by Council.

Officers Jo Walker: Strategic Finance Director (01452) 428469 
Joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Paul Blacker: Head of Finance - Financial Management (01452) 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

John Kear: Financial Accounting Manager: (01452) 328912
john.kear@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Report

Gloucestershire County Council has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in 
the Public Services.  This sets a minimum requirement for reporting on the treasury management 
activities.  In order to meet this requirement the Audit and Governance Committee receives an annual 
strategy in advance of the year, a mid-year review and an annual report after its close.

This report provides the proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 
for 2017/18, which will be considered as part of the MTFS by Cabinet on 1st February 2017 and County 
Council on 15th February 2017.

The detailed Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 2017/18 is provided in 
Annex 1 below. 

Page 57

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:john.kear@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

The following changes have been recommended for the 2017/18 strategy and agreed with our treasury 
management advisers Arlingclose

 The lowest risk category approved for use has been raised from BBB to BBB+.

 For non-specified investment limits, total long term investment is proposed to be increased from 
£120M to £200M,  to enable the Council  to take advantage of secured investments which are 
normally available at maturity levels greater than 1 year. 

 Increase the investment limit per broker from £75M to £100M due to current limitations on 
investment custody arrangements.

 Money Market Funds limit to be increased from £100M to £150M to provide greater flexibility in 
maintaining liquid funds.

Page 58



3

Annex 1
Treasury Management Strategy Statement

and Investment Strategy 2017/18 to 2018/19

Gloucestershire County Council

Contents

1. Background

2. External Context

3. Interest Rate Forecast 

4. Local Context

5. Borrowing Strategy 

6. Sources of Borrowing and Portfolio Implications

7. Debt Rescheduling

8. Annual Investment Strategy

9. Risk Assessment and Credit Ratings

10. Security of Investments

11. Policy on the use of Financial Derivatives

12. Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)
 
13. Monitoring and Reporting on the Treasury Outturn and Prudential Indicators

14. Other Items 

Appendices

A. Economic and Interest Rate Forecast 

B. Existing Portfolio Projected Forward

C. Prudential Indicators

Page 59



4

1. Background

1.1 In February 2010 the Council adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s 
Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2011 Edition (the CIPFA Code) 
which requires the Council to approve a treasury management strategy before the start of each 
financial year.

1.2 In addition, the Department for Communities and Local Government (CLG) issued revised 
Guidance on Local Authority Investments in March 2010 that requires the Council to approve an 
investment strategy before the start of each financial year.

1.3 This report fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 to have 
regard to both the CIPFA Code and the CLG Guidance.  In particular this Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement aims to approve:

 Treasury Management Strategy for 2017/18 
 Annual Investment Strategy for 2017/18
 Prudential Indicators for 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20
 MRP Statement 

1.4 The Council has borrowed and continues to invests substantial sums of money and therefore has 
potentially large exposures to financial risks, including the loss of invested funds and the effect of 
changing interest rates.  The successful identification, monitoring and control of risk is therefore 
central to the Council’s treasury management strategy. 

1.5 In accordance with the CLG Guidance, the Council will be asked to approve a revised Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement should the assumptions on which this report is based change 
significantly. Such circumstances would include, for example, a large unexpected change in 
interest rates, or in the Council’s capital programme or in the level of its investment balance.

2. External Context

Economic background
2.1 The major external influence on the Council’s treasury management strategy for 2017/18 will be 

the UK’s progress in negotiating a smooth exit from the European Union.  Negotiations are 
expected to start once the UK formally triggers exit in early 2017 and last for at least two years. 
Therefore uncertainty over future economic prospects is likely to remain throughout 2017/18.

2.2 The fall and continuing weakness in sterling and the near doubling in the price of oil in 2016 have 
combined to drive inflation expectations higher.  The Bank of England is forecasting that Consumer 
Price Inflation will breach its 2% target in 2017, the first time since late 2013, but the Bank is 
expected to look through inflation overshoots over the course of 2017 when setting interest rates 
so as to avoid derailing the economy.

Credit outlook
2.3 Markets have expressed concern over the financial viability of a number of European banks 

recently. Sluggish economies and continuing fines for pre-crisis behaviour have weighed on bank 
profits, and any future slowdown will exacerbate concerns in this regard.

2.4 Bail-in legislation, which ensures that large investors including local authorities will rescue failing 
banks instead of taxpayers in the future, has now been fully implemented in the European Union, 
Switzerland and USA, while Australia and Canada are progressing with their own plans. The credit 
risk associated with making unsecured bank deposits has therefore increased relative to the risk of 
other investment options available to the Council; returns from cash deposits however continue to 
fall.

Page 60



5

3. Interest Rate Forecast

3.1 The Council’s treasury adviser Arlingclose’s central case is for UK Bank Rate to remain at 0.25% 
during 2017/18. The Bank of England has, however, highlighted that excessive levels of inflation 
will not be tolerated for sustained periods. Given this view and the current inflation outlook, further 
falls in the Bank Rate look less likely. Negative Bank Rate is currently perceived by some 
policymakers to be counterproductive but, although a low probability, cannot be entirely ruled out in 
the medium term, particularly if the UK enters recession as a result of concerns over leaving the 
European Union.

3.2 Gilt yields have risen sharply, but remain at low levels. The Arlingclose central case is for yields to 
decline when the government triggers Article 50.  Long-term economic fundamentals remain weak, 
and the quantitative easing (QE) stimulus provided by central banks globally has only delayed the 
fallout from the build-up of public and private sector debt.  The Bank of England has defended QE 
as a monetary policy tool, and further QE in support of the UK economy in 2017/18 remains a 
possibility, to keep long-term interest rates low.  A more detailed economic and interest rate 
forecast, provided by Arlingclose, is attached at Appendix A.

4. Local Context

4.1 At 31st March 2016 the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes as measured by 
the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) was £317.6m, while usable reserves and working capital 
which are the underlying resources available for investment were £276.5m.

4.2 The Council currently has £298.7 million (as at 31st October 2016) of external borrowing, a £20.9m 
PFI lease liability and £319.086 million (as at 26th October 2016) of internal investments. This is set 
out in further detail at Appendix B, and forecasts changes in these sums are shown in the balance 
sheet analysis at Table 1 below. 

4.3 Under the Prudential Code the Council is able to borrow funds in excess of the current level of its 
CFR up to the projected level in 2019/20. The Council is likely to only borrow in advance of need if 
it felt the benefits of borrowing at interest rates now compared to where they are expected to be in 
the future, outweighs the current cost and risks associated with investing the proceeds until the 
borrowing was actually required. 

4.4 The forecast movement in the CFR in coming years is one of the Prudential Indicators (PIs). The 
movement in actual external debt and usable reserves combine to identify the Council’s borrowing 
requirement.

Page 61



6

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary and Forecast

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
CFR 317.593 308.842 306.701 302.960 293.235
Less:
Existing Profile of  External Borrowing 298.712 293.849 285.513 277.649 269.786
and Other Long Term Liabilities (PFI) 20.942 20.391 19.825 19.138 18.465

Internal (over) Borrowing -2.061 -5.398 1.363 6.173 4.983
Less:
Balances & Reserves 223.352 221.023 216.023 211.023 206.023
Working Capital 51.116 40.000 40.000 40.000 40.000
Investments (276.529) (266.421) (254.660) (244.850) (241.040)

5. Borrowing Strategy

5.1 The total borrowing requirement at the end of 2016/17 is forecast to be £308.8 million (equivalent 
to the CFR).  This is financed by historic external borrowing of £293.8 million, and a PFI lease 
liability of £20.4 million.  The Council’s aim is to both repay maturing debt, and where possible 
some of the existing debt when oportunites to do this arise. The Council also considers new 
borrowing where it can be shown to be prudent and financial beneficial to do so. In 2016/17 £4.9 
million maturing external debt will be repaid.  £8.3 million is forecast to be repaid in 2017/18 and 
opportunities to repay debt early will be kept under review.  Where funding permits and it is cost 
effective to do so, additional loans may also be repaid.  

5.2 The Councils chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately low risk balance 
between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty over the period for which funds 
are required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans should the Councils long-term plans change is a 
secondary objective.

5.3 The Councils borrowing strategy continues to address the key issue of affordability without 
compromising the longer-term stability of the debt portfolio. With short-term interest rates currently 
much lower than long-term rates, it is likely that in the event that the Council needed to borrow it 
would be more cost effective in the short-term to either use internal resources, or to borrow short-
term loans instead.  

5.4 By doing so, the Council is able to reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone investment 
income) and reduce overall treasury risk. Whilst such a strategy is most likely to be beneficial over 
the next 2-3 years as official interest rates remain low, it is unlikely to be sustained in the medium-
term.  The benefits of internal borrowing will be monitored regularly against the potential for 
incurring additional costs by deferring borrowing into future years when long-term borrowing rates 
are forecast to rise modestly.  Arlingclose will assist the Council with this ‘cost of carry’ and 
breakeven analysis. 

5.5 In addition, the Council may borrow short-term loans (normally for up to one month) to cover 
unexpected cash flow shortages.

Page 62



7

6. Sources of Borrowing and Portfolio Implications

6.1 The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are:

• Public Works Loan Board and any successor body
• UK local authorities
• any institution approved for investments (see below)
• any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK
• UK public and private sector pension funds (except Gloucestershire Pension Fund)
• capital market bond investors
• UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies created to enable local 

authority bond issues

6.2 In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following methods that are not borrowing, but may 
be classed as other debt liabilities:

• operating and finance leases
• hire purchase
• Private Finance Initiative 
• sale and leaseback.

6.3 The Council has previously raised the majority of its long-term borrowing from the Public Works 
Loan Board, but it continues to investigate other sources of finance, such as local authority loans 
and bank loans, that may be available at more favourable rates.

6.4 The UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc was established in 2014 by the Local Government 
Association as an alternative to the PWLB.  It plans to issue bonds on the capital markets and lend 
the proceeds to local authorities.  This will be a more complicated source of finance than the PWLB 
for two reasons: borrowing authorities will be required to provide bond investors with a joint and 
several guarantee to refund their investment in the event that the agency is unable to for any 
reason; and there will be a lead time of several months between committing to borrow and knowing 
the interest rate payable. Any decision to borrow from the Agency will therefore be the subject of a 
separate report to Audit and Governance Committee.  

6.5 The Council holds £33.050 million of LOBO (Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option) loans where the 
lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate as set dates, following which the 
Council has the option to either accept the new rate or to repay the loan at no additional cost.  All 
of these LOBO’s have options during 2017/18, however lenders are unlikely to exercise their 
options in the current low interest rate environment. The situation with these LOBOs will be kept 
under regular review and the Council will take the option to repay LOBO loans at no cost if it has 
the opportunity to do so.  Previously a further £8 million of loans with Barclays were classified as 
LOBOs, however Barclays have now fixed the interest rates on these loans until maturity. These 
have now been reclassified as fixed rate market loans.

6.6 Short-term and variable rate loans leave the Council exposed to the risk of short-term interest rate 
rises and are therefore subject to the limit on the net exposure to variable interest rates in the 
treasury management indicators at Appendix C.

7 Debt Rescheduling

7.1 The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity and either pay a premium or receive a 
discount according to a set formula based on current interest rates. Some bank lenders may also 
be prepared to negotiate premature redemption terms. The Council may take advantage of this 
and replace some loans with new loans, or repay loans without replacement, where this is 
expected to lead to an overall saving or reduction in risk. Such repayments will only be made after 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change.

Page 63



8

7.2 Borrowing and rescheduling activity will be reported to the Audit and Governance Committee in the 
Annual Treasury Management Report and the regular treasury management reports presented to 
Audit & Governance Committee .

8. Investment Strategy

8.1 The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  During 2016-17 the Council’s internal investment 
balance has ranged between £282.7 million and £357.2 million, and similar levels are expected to 
be maintained in the forthcoming year

8.2 Both the CIPFA Code and the CLG Guidance require the Council to invest its funds prudently, and 
to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the highest rate of 
return, or yield.  The Council’s objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance 
between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk receiving 
unsuitably low investment income.

8.3 Negative Interest Rates: If the UK enters into a recession in 2017/18, there is a small chance that 
the Bank of England could set its Bank Rate at or below zero, which is likely to feed through to 
negative interest rates on all low risk, short-term investment options. This situation already exists in 
many other European countries. In this event, security will be measured as receiving the 
contractually agreed amount at maturity, even though this may be less than the amount originally 
invested.

8.4 Given the increasing risk and continued low returns from short-term unsecured bank investments, 
the Council aims to continue its strategy of diversifying into more secure and / or higher yielding 
asset classes during 2017/18.  This is especially the case for funds available for longer-term 
investment. The pie chart below shows how  Councils surplus cash is currently invested -  40% is 
exposed to “bail-in” risk (ie the risk that should the counterparty fail the Council will lose a 
porportion of the funds deposited):

8.5 The Council is committed to moving away from unsecured investments where feasible.  To 
minimise the risk of unsecured deposits the Council has the approved counterparties in Table 2 
below, subject to the cash and time limits shown.   

Page 64



9

Table 2: Approved Investment Counterparties (including Non Specified)

Table 2 should be read in conjunction with the notes below:

 Credit Rating: 
Investment decisions are made by reference to the lowest published long-term credit 
rating from Fitch, Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s.  Where available, the credit rating 
relevant to the specific investment or class of investment is used, otherwise the 
counterparty credit rating is used. However, investment decisions are never made solely 
based on credit ratings, and all other relevant factors including external advice will be 
taken into account.

 Banks Unsecured: 
Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and senior unsecured bonds with banks and 
building societies, other than multilateral development banks.  These investments are 
subject to the risk of credit loss via a bail-in should the regulator determine that the bank 
is failing or likely to fail.

Page 65



10

 Banks Secured: 
Covered bonds, reverse repurchase agreements and other collateralised arrangements 
with banks and building societies.  These investments are secured on the bank’s assets, 
which limits the potential losses in the unlikely event of insolvency, and means that they 
are exempt from bail-in.  Where there is no investment specific credit rating, but the 
collateral upon which the investment is secured has a credit rating, the highest of the 
collateral credit rating and the counterparty credit rating will be used to determine cash 
and time limits.  The combined secured and unsecured investments in any one bank will 
not exceed the cash limit for secured investments.

 Government: 
Loans, bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by national governments, regional and local 
authorities and multilateral development banks.  These investments are not subject to 
bail-in, and there is an insignificant risk of insolvency.  Investments with the UK Central 
Government may be made in unlimited amounts for up to 50 years.

 Corporates: 
Loans, bonds and commercial paper issued by companies other than banks and 
registered providers. These investments are not subject to bail-in, but are exposed to the 
risk of the company going insolvent.  Loans to unrated companies will only be made as 
part of a diversified pool in order to spread the risk widely.

 Registered Providers: 
Loans and bonds issued by, guaranteed by or secured on the assets of Registered 
Providers of Social Housing, formerly known as Housing Associations.  These bodies are 
tightly regulated by the Homes and Communities Agency and, as providers of public 
services, they retain the likelihood of receiving government support if needed.

 Pooled Funds: 
Shares in diversified investment vehicles consisting of the any of the above investment 
types, plus equity shares and property. These funds have the advantage of providing wide 
diversification of investment risk, coupled with the services of a professional fund 
manager in return for a fee.  Short Term Money Market Funds that offer same-day 
liquidity and very low or no volatility will be used as an alternative to instant access bank 
accounts, while pooled funds whose value changes with market prices and/or have a 
notice period will be used for longer investment periods. 

Bond, equity and property funds offer enhanced returns over the longer term, but are 
more volatile in the short term.  These allow the Council to diversify into asset classes 
other than cash without the need to own and manage the underlying investments. 
Because these funds have no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal after 
a notice period, their performance and continued suitability in meeting the Council’s 
investment objectives will be monitored regularly.

 Other Organisations: 
The Council may also invest cash with other organisations, for example by making loans 
to small businesses.  Because of the higher perceived risk of unrated businesses, such 
investments may provide considerably higher rates of return.  They will however only be 
made following a favourable external credit assessment and on the specific advice of the 
Council’s treasury management adviser.

Page 66



11

9 Risk Assessment and Credit Ratings

9.1 The Council uses long-term credit ratings from the three main rating agencies Fitch Ratings, 
Moody’s Investors Service and Standard & Poor’s Financial Services to assess the risk of 
investment default.  The lowest available counterparty credit rating will be used to determine credit 
quality, unless an investment-specific rating is available. Credit ratings are obtained and monitored 
by the Councils treasury advisers, who will notify changes in ratings as they occur.  Where an 
entity has its credit rating downgraded so that it fails to meet the approved investment criteria then:

• no new investments will be made,
• any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be, and
• full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing investments with the 

affected counterparty.

9.2 Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for possible downgrade 
(also known as “rating watch negative” or “credit watch negative”) so that it may fall below the 
approved rating criteria, then only specified investments that can be withdrawn on the next working 
day will be made with that organisation until the outcome of the review is announced.  This policy 
will not apply to negative outlooks, which indicate a long-term direction of travel rather than an 
imminent change of rating.

9.3 For specified investments: CLG Guidance defines specified investments as those:
• denominated in pound sterling,
• due to be repaid within 12 months of arrangement,
• not defined as capital expenditure by legislation, and
• invested with one of:

o the UK Government,
o a UK local authority, parish council or community council, or
o a body or investment scheme of “high credit quality”.

The Council defines “high credit quality” organisations as those having a credit rating of A- 
or higher that are domiciled in the UK or a foreign country with a sovereign rating of AA+ or 
higher. For money market funds and other pooled funds “high credit quality” is defined as 
those having a credit rating of A- or higher. 

Ratings as determined for use by the Council:

Long-term
Fitch A-
Moody’s A3
S&P  A-

Sovereign AA+

The Council will also take into account information on corporate developments of and 
market sentiment towards investment counterparties. 

9.4 The Council may lend or invest money using any of the following instruments:
• interest-bearing bank accounts,
• fixed term deposits and loans,
• callable deposits and loans where the Council may demand repayment at any time (with 

or without notice),
• callable deposits and loans where the borrower may repay before maturity, but subject to 

a maximum of £30 million in total,
• certificates of deposit,
• bonds, notes, bills, commercial paper and other marketable instruments, 

Page 67



12

• shares in money market funds and other pooled funds, and
• reverse repurchase (repo) agreements.

Investments may be made at either a fixed rate of interest, or at a variable rate linked to a market 
interest rate, such as LIBOR, subject to the limits on interest rate exposures shown in Appendix 
C.

9.5 Liquidity management: The Council uses purpose-built cash flow forecasting software to 
determine the maximum period for which funds may prudently be committed.  The forecast is 
compiled on a prudent basis, with receipts under-estimated and payments over-estimated to 
minimise the risk of the Council being forced to borrow on unfavourable terms to meet its financial 
commitments. Limits on long-term investments are set by reference to the Councils medium term 
financial plan and cash flow forecast.

10 Security of Investments

10.1 The Council understands that credit ratings are good, but not perfect, predictors of investment 
default.  Full regard will therefore be given to other available information on the credit quality of the 
organisations in which it invests, including credit default swap prices, financial statements, 
information on potential government support and reports in the quality financial press.  No 
investments will be made with an organisation if there are substantive doubts about its credit 
quality, even though it may meet the credit rating criteria.

10.2 When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all organisations, as 
happened in 2008 and 2011, this is not generally reflected in credit ratings, but can be seen in 
other market measures.  In these circumstances, the Council will restrict its investments to those 
organisations of higher credit quality and reduce the maximum duration of its investments to 
maintain the required level of security.  The extent of these restrictions will be in line with prevailing 
financial market conditions. If these restrictions mean that insufficient commercial organisations of 
high credit quality are available to invest the Councils cash balances, then the surplus will be 
deposited with the UK Government, via the Debt Management Office for example, or with other 
local authorities.  This will cause a reduction in the level of investment income earned, but will 
protect the principal sum invested.

10.3 Non-specified Investments: Any investment not meeting the definition of a specified investment 
is classed as non-specified.  Non-specified investments will therefore be limited to long-term 
investments, i.e. those that are due to mature 12 months or longer from the date of arrangement, 
and investments with bodies and schemes not meeting the definition on high credit quality.  Limits 
on non-specified investments are shown in table 3 below.

Page 68



13

Table 3: Non-Specified Investment Limits

10.4 The maximum that will be lent to any one organisation (other than the UK Government) will be £30 
million.

10.5 A group of banks under the same ownership or a group of funds under the same management will 
be treated as a single organisation for limit purposes.  Limits will also be placed on investments in 
brokers’ nominee accounts (e.g. King & Shaxson), foreign countries and industry sectors as below.  
Investments in pooled funds and multilateral development banks do not count against the limit for 
any single foreign country, since the risk is diversified over many countries.

Table 4: Investment Limits

Page 69



14

11 Policy on Use of Financial Derivatives 

11.1 Local authorities have previously made use of financial derivatives embedded into loans and 
investments both to reduce interest rate risk (e.g. interest rate collars and forward deals) and to 
reduce costs or increase income at the expense of greater risk (e.g. LOBO loans and callable 
deposits).  The general power of competence in Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 removes much 
of the uncertainty over local authorities’ use of standalone financial derivatives (i.e. those that are 
not embedded into a loan or investment). The CIPFA Code requires authorities to clearly detail 
their policy on the use of derivatives in the annual strategy.

11.2 The Council will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, forwards, futures and 
options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to reduce the overall level of the financial risks 
that the Council is exposed to. Additional risks presented, such as credit exposure to derivative 
counterparties, will be taken into account when determining the overall level of risk. Embedded 
derivatives, including those present in pooled funds and forward starting transactions, will not be 
subject to this policy, although the risks they present will be managed in line with the overall 
treasury risk management strategy.

11.3 Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that meets the approved 
investment criteria. The current value of any amount due from a derivative counterparty will count 
against the counterparty credit limit and the relevant foreign country limit.

11.4 The Council will only use derivatives after seeking expertise, a legal opinion and ensuring officers 
have the appropriate training for their use. 

12 2016/17 MRP Statement

12.1  Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) was introduced when the Local Government Capital Finance 
System was changed on 1 April 1990. This required local authorities to assess their outstanding 
debt and to make an annual charge to the General Fund of 4% of the General Fund Debt.

12.2 DCLG’s Guidance on MRP places a duty on local authorities to make a prudent provision for debt 
redemption.  Guidance has been issued by the Secretary of State and local authorities are required 
to “have regard” to such Guidance under section 21(1A) of the Local Government Act 2003.  The 
MRP Statement must be submitted to Council before the start of the financial year.  If it is ever 
proposed to vary the terms of the original MRP Statement during the year, a revised statement 
would be put to Council at that time.

12.3 In line with Council policy on the repayment of debt, and with the continuation of capital grants by 
government, the Council has not borrowed externally over the last 6 years. Opportunities are now 
limited for the repayment of debt early due to the low interest rate environment, meaning that high 
premiums would need to be paid should the Council wish to restructure or repay external debt 
early.  Internal borrowing has been fully repaid during 2016/17 , and maturing debt will continue to 
be redeemed over the next few years. 

12.4 DCLG’s Guidance on MRP places a duty on local authorities to make a prudent provision for debt 
redemption,.  In order to ensure that the MRP charge remains prudent, the Council remains within 
Prudential Indicators, and to reduce the amount of excess MRP set aside, the Council changed its 
policy for supported capital expenditure in 2015/16. This prudent method is similar to other local 
authorities and sets aside a fixed sum of MRP each year. For Gloucestershire the fixed sum has 
been set at £8.2m 

Page 70



15

12.5 The asset life of capital assets obtained through the capital programme  will form the basis of 
calculating an annual MRP provision  to any new borrowing requirement going forward.

12.6 MRP in respect of PFI and finance leases brought on Balance Sheet under the IFRS-based Code 
of Practice will match the annual principal repayment for the associated deferred liability. 

13 Monitoring and Reporting on the Treasury Outturn and Prudential Indicators

13.1 Treasury Activity is monitored regularly and reported internally to the Strategic Finance Director.  
The Prudential Indicators will be monitored through the year and reported as follows:

The Strategic Finance Director will report to the Audit and Governance Committee on Treasury 
Management activity / performance and Performance Indicators as follows:

 Outturn report on treasury activity for the prior year will be presented to the July meeting.
 A monitoring update report will be presented to the October meeting.
 Consultation on the following year strategy will be presented to the January meeting.

.

14 Other items

Treasury Management Training

CIPFA’s Code of Practice requires the Strategic Finance Director to ensure that all members and 
staff tasked with treasury management responsibilities, including scrutiny of the treasury 
management function, receive appropriate training relevant to their needs and understand fully 
their roles and responsibilities.  

Requirements for members training, including Audit and Governance Committee, will be kept 
under review.  Senior staff with responsibility for treasury management have a professional 
responsibility to ensure that they are aware of the relevant Codes and Guidance which apply to the 
treasury function, and have access to the skills and knowledge to carry out their roles effectively.

Investment Consultants / Treasury Advisors

The CLG’s Guidance on local government investments recommends that the Investment Strategy 
should state:

 Whether and, if so, how the Council uses external contractors offering information, advice 
or assistance relating to investment, and

 How the quality of any such service is controlled.

In order to ensure that we manage the relationship with our treasury advisors effectively we meet 
on a regular basis, usually quarterly.  At these meetings current market conditions are reviewed, as 
is the strategy in light of this.  We ensure that the information provided is current and appropriate to 
our circumstances.  

The Council maintains the quality of the service with its advisors by holding quarterly meetings and 
tendering periodically.

Page 71



16

Appendix   A 

Arlingclose’s Economic and Interest Rate Forecast 

Underlying Assumptions:

 The medium term outlook for the UK economy is dominated by the negotiations to leave the EU. 
The long-term position of the UK economy will be largely dependent on the agreements the 
government is able to secure with the EU and other countries.

 The global environment is also riddled with uncertainty, with repercussions for financial market 
volatility and long-term interest rates. Donald Trump’s victory in the US general election and 
Brexit are symptomatic of the popular disaffection with globalisation trends. The potential rise in 
protectionism could dampen global growth prospects and therefore inflation. Financial market 
volatility will remain the norm for some time.

 However, following significant global fiscal and monetary stimulus, the short term outlook for the 
global economy is somewhat brighter than earlier in the year. US fiscal stimulus is also a 
possibility following Trump’s victory.

 Recent data present a more positive picture for the post-Referendum UK economy than predicted 
due to continued strong household spending. 

Page 72



17

 Over the medium term, economic and political uncertainty will likely dampen investment 
intentions and tighten credit availability, prompting lower activity levels and potentially a rise in 
unemployment. 

 The currency-led rise in CPI inflation (currently 1.0% year/year) will continue, breaching the target 
in 2017, which will act to slow real growth in household spending due to a sharp decline in real 
wage growth.

 The depreciation in sterling will, however, assist the economy to rebalance away from spending. 
The negative contribution from net trade to GDP growth is likely to diminish, largely due to 
weaker domestic demand. Export volumes will increase marginally.

 Given the pressure on household spending and business investment, the rise in inflation is highly 
unlikely to prompt monetary tightening by the Bank of England, with policymakers looking through 
import-led CPI spikes to the negative effects of Brexit on economic activity and, ultimately, 
inflation.

 Bank of England policymakers have, however, highlighted that excessive levels of inflation will 
not be tolerated for sustained periods. Given this view and the current inflation outlook, further 
monetary loosening looks less likely..

Forecast: 
 Globally, the outlook is uncertain and risks remain weighted to the downside.  The UK domestic 

outlook is uncertain, but likely to be weaker in the short term than previously expected.

 The likely path for Bank Rate is weighted to the downside. The Arlingclose central case is for 
Bank Rate to remain at 0.25%, but there is a 25% possibility of a drop to close to zero, with a 
very small chance of a reduction below zero. 

 Gilt yields have risen sharply, but remain at low levels. The Arlingclose central case is for yields 
to decline when the government triggers Article 50.

Page 73



18

Appendix B 

EXISTING PORTFOLIO PROJECTED FORWARD

Page 74



19

Appendix C 
Prudential Indicators 2017/18

1. Background:

There is a requirement under the Local Government Act 2003 for local authorities to have regard to 
CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the “CIPFA Prudential Code”) 
when setting and reviewing their Prudential Indicators. The objectives of the Prudential Code are to 
ensure, within a clear framework, that the capital investment plans of local authorities are 
affordable, prudent and sustainable, and that treasury management decisions are taken in 
accordance with good professional practice. To demonstrate that the Council has fulfilled these 
objectives, the Prudential Code sets out the following indicators that must be set and monitored 
each year.

2. Estimates of Capital Expenditure:

2.1 This indicator is set to ensure that capital expenditure remains within sustainable limits and, in 
particular, to consider the impact on Council Tax.  The table below shows the estimates of capital 
expenditure, and further detail can be found in the Capital Programme Report.

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate *

£m £m £m £m £m
Capital 
Expenditure 69.959 89.754 113.401 69.582 21.446

* Based on Current Estimates however this is likely to increase should the Council 
receive additional Capital Grant funding.

2.2 Capital expenditure is expected to be financed as follows:

Capital Financing 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m £m £m £m £m

Revenue Contributions 6.988 3.289 2.733 3.546 1.750
Capital Fund and other Reserves 6.568 14.393 9.575 0.000 0.240
Government Grants and External Contributions 55.172 66.983 73.195 40.718 19.456
Capital receipts 1.231 5.089 21.103 19.318 0.000
Total Financing 69.959 89.754 106.606 63.582 21.446
Internal Borrowing 0.000 0.000 6.795 6.000 0.000
External Borrowing 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Total Funding 0.000 0.000 6.795 6.000 0.000
Total Financing & Funding 69.959 89.754 113.401 69.582 21.446

Page 75



20

3. Capital Financing Requirement:

3.1 The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) measures the Council’s underlying need to borrow for a 
capital purpose.  The calculation of the CFR is taken from the amounts held in the Balance Sheet 
relating to capital expenditure and its financing.  The CFR is forecast to fall over the next three 
years as maturing debt is repaid and additional volunary revenue contributions are made.

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Capital Financing Requirement 317.593 308.842 306.701 302.960 293.235

4. Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement:

4.1 This is a key indicator of prudence.  In order to ensure that over the medium term net borrowing 
will only be for a capital purpose, the Council should ensure that the net external borrowing does 
not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the capital financing requirement in the preceding 
year plus the estimates of any additional increases to the capital financing requirement for the 
current and next two financial years. 

4.2 If in any of these years there is a reduction in the capital financing requirement, this reduction is 
ignored in estimating the cumulative increase in the capital financing requirement which is used for 
comparison with gross external debt.

4.3 The Strategic Finance Director reports that the Council is currently experiencing a short term issue 
whereby the level of external borrowing exceeds the Capital Financing Requirement. This is due to 
the current limitations in being able to repay external debt early and that the current policy whereby 
the capital programme is approved and largely fully funded without the need for additional 
borrowing. This doesn’t have any adverse impact on the Council’s revenue budget and overall 
financial position.  It is anticipated that this temporary position will be rectified in 2017-18 .  This 
view takes into account current commitments, existing plans and the proposals from the approved 
budget.

5. Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt:

5.1 The Council has an integrated Treasury Management Strategy and manages its treasury position 
in accordance with its approved strategy and practice.  Overall borrowing will therefore arise as a 
consequence of all the financial transactions of the Council and not just those arising from capital 
spending reflected in the CFR. 

5.2 The Authorised Limit sets the maximum level of external borrowing on a gross basis (i.e. not net of 
investments) for the Council. It is measured on a daily basis against all external borrowing items on 
the Balance Sheet (i.e. long and short term borrowing, overdrawn bank balances and long term 
liabilities.  This Prudential Indicator separately identifies borrowing from other long term liabilities 
such as finance leases.  It is consistent with the Council’s existing commitments, its proposals for 
capital expenditure and financing and its approved treasury management policy statement and 
practices.  

5.3 The Authorised Limit has been set on the estimate of the most likely, prudent but not worst case 
scenario with sufficient headroom over and above this to allow for unusual cash movements. 

5.4 The Authorised Limit is the statutory limit determined under Section 3(1) of the Local Government 
Act 2003 (referred to in the legislation as the Affordable Limit).  The Council’s Authorised Limit is 
shown below.

Page 76



21

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Approved Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Total 360.000 360.000 360.000 350.000

Authorised Limit for 
External Debt

5.5 The Operational Boundary links directly to the Council’s estimates of the CFR and estimates of 
other cashflow requirements.  This indicator is based on the same estimates as the Authorised 
Limit reflecting the most likely, prudent but not worst case scenario but without the additional 
headroom included within the Authorised Limit.  

5.6 The Strategic Finance Director has delegated authority, within the total limit for any individual year, 
to effect movement between the separately agreed limits for borrowing and other long-term 
liabilities.  Decisions will be based on the outcome of financial option appraisals and best value 
considerations.  Any movement between these separate limits will be reported to the next 
appropriate meeting of the Council.  The Council’s Operational Boundary is shown below.

6. Actual External Debt:

6.1 This indicator is obtained directly from the Council’s balance sheet. It is the closing balance for 
actual gross borrowing plus other long-term liabilities. This Indicator is measured in a manner 
consistent for comparison with the Operational Boundary and Authorised Limit.

7. Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream:

7.1 This is an indicator of affordability and highlights the revenue implications of existing and proposed 
capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget required to meet financing 
costs. The definition of financing costs is set out in the Prudential Code.

7.2 The estimate for interest payments in 2016/17 is £17.5 million and for interest receipts is £2.8 
million.  The ratio of financing costs to the Council’s net revenue stream is an indicator of 
affordability and highlights the revenue implications of existing and proposed capital expenditure by 
identifying the proportion of the revenue budget required to meet borrowing costs.  The ratio is 
based on costs net of investment income.

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Ratio of Financing Costs 
to Net Revenue Stream 6.13% 6.26% 6.14% 5.82%

Page 77



22

8. Incremental Impact of Capital Investment Decisions:

8.1 This is an indicator of affordability that shows the impact of capital investment decisions on Council 
Tax.  The incremental impact is calculated by comparing the total revenue budget requirement of 
the current approved capital programme with an equivalent calculation of the revenue budget 
requirement arising from the proposed capital programme.

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Approved Estimate Estimate Estimate

£ £ £ £
Increase in Band D Council Tax 0.00 2.06 3.83 3.77

Incremental Impact of Capital 
Investment Decisions

8.2 The Council’s capital plans, as estimated in forthcoming financial years, will have a minimal impact 
on Council Tax.  This reflects the fact that capital expenditure is predominantly financed from 
grants, contributions, capital receipts, and internal resources. 

9. Adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code:

9.1 This indicator demonstrates that the Council has adopted the principles of best practice.

Adoption of the CIPFA Code of Practice in Treasury Management
The Council approved the adoption of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code at its Council 
meeting on 24th February 2010*.  

*The Council has incorporated the changes from the revised CIPFA Code of Practice (published November 2011) 
into its treasury policies, procedures and practices.

10. Upper Limits for Fixed Interest Rate Exposure and Variable Interest Rate Exposure:

10.1 These indicators allow the Council to manage the extent to which it is exposed to changes in 
interest rates.  This Council calculates these limits on net principal outstanding sums, (i.e. fixed 
rate debt net of fixed rate investments).

10.2 The upper limit for variable rate exposure has been set to ensure that the Council is not exposed to 
interest rate rises which could adversely impact on the revenue budget.  The limit allows for the 
use of variable rate debt to offset exposure to changes in short-term rates on investments.

10.3 The limits above provide the necessary flexibility within which decisions will be made for drawing 
down new loans on a fixed or variable rate basis; the decisions will ultimately be determined by 
expectations of anticipated interest rate movements as set out in the Council’s treasury 
management strategy. 

Page 78



23

10.4 This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to interest rate risk.  The upper limits on fixed 
and variable rate interest rate exposures, expressed as the amount of net principal borrowed will 
be:

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Revised Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Upper limit for Fixed Interest 
Rate exposure
Upper limit for Variable 
Interest Rate exposure

320 320 320 320

0 0 0 0

11. Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate borrowing:

11.1 This indicator highlights the existence of any large concentrations of fixed rate debt needing to be 
replaced at times of uncertainty over interest rates and is designed to protect against excessive 
exposures to interest rate changes in any one period, in particular in the course of the next ten 
years.  

11.2 It is calculated as the amount of projected borrowing that is fixed rate maturing in each period as a 
percentage of total projected borrowing that is fixed rate. The maturity of borrowing is determined 
by reference to the earliest date on which the lender can require payment. 

Page 79



24

12. Upper Limit for total principal sums invested over 364 days:

12.1 The purpose of this limit is to contain exposure to the possibility of loss that may arise as a result of 
the Council having to seek early repayment of the sums invested. 

Page 80



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 20th January 2017 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Annual Governance Statement 2015/16
Governance Issues – Progress with Improvement Plan

Purpose of Report: The purpose of this report is to provide assurance to the Audit and 
Governance Committee that the improvement areas and associated 
actions identified as part of the annual review of governance 
arrangements operating within GCC, have been/are being addressed. 

Recommendation: It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee reviews 
and considers the actions taken to address the governance 
improvement areas identified.

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer: Chief Internal Auditor. Tel: 01452 328883
Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Jo Walker: Finance Director. Tel: 01452 328469
joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective corporate governance framework 
prevents the Council in directing and controlling its resources effectively 
and efficiently, to enable the Council’s priorities and objectives to be 
met.

Background The Council is required by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 to 
publish an Annual Governance Statement, in accordance with ‘proper 
practices’ in order to report publicly on the extent to which we comply 
with our own Local Code of Corporate Governance. 

This approach includes how the Council has monitored the 
effectiveness of arrangements in year and on any planned changes to 
governance arrangements in the coming year. Through the Council’s 
Constitution, the Audit and Governance Committee has responsibility 
for review and approval of the Statement and to be provided with the 
assurance that any improvement actions identified, are implemented.

Page 81

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Gloucestershire County Council’s Annual Governance Statement Improvement Plan - 2015/2016 

As a result of the 2015/2016 review of governance arrangements, the following governance issues were identified. 

Review 
Reference

Governance Requirement / Improvement Actions Target 
Date

Progress as at December 2016

Annual 
Governance 
Statement 

Page 35

Governance in working with others – Alternative Service Delivery 
Models. The County Council is required to: Ensure that 

Partnerships/Contracts are underpinned by a common vision of their 

work that is understood and agreed by all Partners.

Actions: The Council will continue to ensure that there is a high level 

of awareness of the need and importance of good contract and 

relationship management as part of its risk management approach.

Necessary consideration of contract and risk management will be 

embedded at all stages, including options appraisal, business case, 

tendering and through the life of the contract.

Support services will provide the necessary contract support to 

managers through systems, information, guidance and training and 

ensure that they are working effectively.
 

Ongoing There continues to be close working 

relationships between Commercial Services, 

Risk Management and Legal Services, in 

particular in relation to the MtC2 programmes 

and projects, contract renewals, option 

appraisals and embedding good contract and 

risk management processes across the 

authority. 

Commercial Services have recently facilitated 

staff workshops on Risk Management, 

Supplier Failure and Business Continuity, as 

part of their ongoing contract management 

arrangements. 

Similar workshops will continue into 

2017/2018.

P
age 83



2

Review 
Reference

Governance Requirement / Improvement Actions Target 
Date

Progress as at December 2016

Revised 
CIPFA 
Guidance 
on 
Delivering 
Good 
Governance 
2016

CIPFA - Delivering Good Governance in Local Government : 
Framework (2016 Edition): The Council currently prepares and 

publishes an Annual Governance Statement in accordance with the 

CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 2007 

(Addendum 2012). 

This guidance/framework has been refreshed and defines the principles 

that should underpin the governance arrangements of the Council and 

applies to the annual governance statements prepared for the financial 

year 2016/2017 onwards.

Action: The Chief Internal Auditor to test the Council’s governance 

arrangements and be able to demonstrate that its governance 

structures comply with the core and sub principles contained within the 

revised framework. To then develop and maintain, on behalf of the 

Council, a local code of governance / governance arrangements 

reflecting the principles set out. 

31st 

March 

2017

The Council’s revised Local Code of 

Corporate Governance, Annual Governance 

Statement and the associated assurance 

framework is currently being developed by 

the Chief Internal Auditor, which is in 

accordance with the principles contained 

within the CIPFA guidance i.e. Delivering 

Good Governance in Local Government 2016 

Edition. 

The revised governance assurance 

framework will apply to the Annual 

Governance Statement 2016/2017. 

P
age 84



3

Review 
Reference

Governance Requirement / Improvement Actions Target 
Date

Progress as at December 2016

Local Code 
of 
Corporate 
Governance

Core 
Principle 3 

Anti Fraud and Corruption Strategy: The Council is required to 

promote values for the authority and demonstrate the values of good 

governance through upholding high standards of conduct and 

behaviour.

The Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally 2016–2019 strategy has 

been developed by local authorities and counter fraud experts and 

supported by the CIPFA Counter Fraud Centre.

It is the definitive guide for council leaders, chief executives, finance 

directors and all those with governance responsibilities. The strategy 

includes practical steps for fighting fraud, shares best practice and 

brings clarity to the changing anti-fraud and corruption landscape.

Action: The Chief Internal Auditor will undertake a self assessment 

against the new guidance to measure the Council’s counter fraud and 

corruption culture and response and propose enhancements as 

required.

31st 
March 
2017

A self assessment against the new counter 

fraud guidance has been undertaken by the 

Chief Internal Auditor, which has resulted in a 

refreshed Anti Fraud and Corruption Policy 

Statement and Strategy, Anti Bribery Policy 

and Anti Money Laundering Policy 2017 – 

2019. 

Following CoMT approval, the revised 

policies will be presented to the Audit and 

Governance Committee on the 20th January 

2017 and subsequently to Cabinet for formal 

approval. 

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee

Date: 20th January 2017 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy 2017-2018.

Purpose of Report: To propose an updated Strategic Risk Management Policy 
Statement and Strategy to be effective from 1st April 2017.

Recommendations: 1. To review, amend as required and recommend its approval 
to Cabinet, the refreshed Risk Management Policy 
Statement and Strategy, which reflects national good 
practice/standards and aligns with the Council’s operating 
model, to be effective from 1st April 2017. Please note there 
have been only very minor changes within the strategy 
relating to renaming services and reflecting updated 
guidance.

2. To agree that the Strategy, once approved by Cabinet, is 
disseminated to managers in accordance with a 
Communications Plan, to reaffirm the Council’s risk 
management objectives.

Officer(s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer: Chief Internal Auditor: Internal Audit, Risk 
Management and Insurance Services
01452 328883
theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Jo Walker: Director Strategic Finance
01452 328469
joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver on effective risk management, particularly 
during periods of significant change, may have a negative effect 
on the achievement of the potential opportunities and adverse 
effects that challenge the assets, reputation and objectives of 
the Council, strategic decision making and the wellbeing of our 
stakeholders. 

Page 87

Agenda Item 8

mailto:theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Strategic Risk Management

Maximising Opportunities by taking Managed Risks

It has always been important for organisations to identify and manage their risks. 
This view has been reinforced by public sector legislation i.e. the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015 where it states ‘A relevant authority must ensure that it has a 
sound system of internal control which facilitates the effective exercise of its 
functions and the achievement of its aims and objectives, ensures that the financial 
and operational management of the authority is effective and includes effective 
arrangements for the management of risk.”

In addition, the Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework 
(CIPFA/SOLACE 2016) notes 7 key principles to enable the development of good 
governance within public services, one of which states that good governance is 
‘managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 
financial management.’ 

Risk Management is about managing our threats and opportunities and striving to 
create an environment of ‘no surprises’. By managing our threats effectively we will 
be in a stronger position to deliver our business objectives. By managing our 
opportunities we will be in a better position to improve services and better value for 
money. 

Risk is unavoidable. It is an important part of life that allows us all to move forward 
and develop. As an organisation it can impact in many ways, whether financially, 
politically, on our reputation, environmentally, or to our service delivery. It cannot 
therefore be ignored or avoided, but instead, it must be managed. 

Successful risk management is about ensuring that we have the correct level of 
control in place to provide sufficient protection from harm, without stifling our 
development. As an organisation, with a range of different stakeholders, each with 
differing needs and expectations, this can be a challenge.  We must ensure that the 
decisions we take as a Council reflect a consideration of the potential implications for 
all our stakeholders. We must decide whether the benefits of taking our actions 
outweigh the risks. 

GCC’s Financial Regulation C: Risk Management and Control of Resources

GCC has responded to the above by incorporating these requirements into the 
Council’s Constitution, by way of Financial Regulation C, which states:

C.1 Directors are responsible for ensuring the development and monitoring of 
effective and comprehensive systems for identifying, evaluating and controlling 
significant business risks in their service areas;

Page 88



C.2 The Chief Financial Officer (Director: Strategic Finance) is responsible for the 
development, monitoring and review of the council’s risk management policy 
statement and strategy, which is approved by Cabinet and for reviewing the 
effectiveness of risk management.  The Chief Financial Officer is also the 
council’s principal risk management adviser and co-ordinator;

C.3 The Chief Financial Officer will assess the council’s overall insurance 
requirements and will be responsible for arranging all insurance cover.  The 
Chief Financial Officer will review insurance cover on an annual basis and will 
consult with Directors prior to arranging cover where appropriate; and

C.4 Each Director shall be responsible for identifying, assessing and controlling 
risks within his or her service area taking into account any advice that the Chief 
Financial Officer may have issued.

The Emerging Risk Landscape

National Context

Unprecedented challenges for those tasked with delivering public services continue.  
Significant budgetary pressures continue to have an effect on all major services, at 
the same time demographic changes and an increased demand for services 
compound these pressures.  Allied to this, is the increasing focus on alternative 
service delivery models which has seen more public services being delivered by, or 
in partnership with, other public sector bodies, charities, communities or private 
sector organisations. The continuing shift in the structure of service provision creates 
real challenges and an increasingly complex matrix of competing risks and 
opportunities. 

Local Context

With reference to the above and taking into account the overall future strategic 
direction of the council, its structure and its services, it is deemed an appropriate 
time to refresh and reaffirm our Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy, to 
ensure that the council’s risk and assurance framework continues to build on our 
existing successes which reflects national good practice and standards. This should 
enable the council to effectively manage the potential opportunities and threats, thus 
improving service delivery to our communities and enabling individuals to play a 
more active role in improving their lives.

Proposed GCC’s Approach

Risk Management therefore needs to be taken into the heart of the council and 
continue to build on the positive outcomes already achieved, which have received 
positive external recognition from organisations such as External Audit, The Local 
Government Chronicle, Insurers and the Association of Local Authorities Risk 
Managers (ALARM).

For this to be done successfully, it needs to be structured and developed in a way 
that fits the culture of our organisation. 

Page 89



We need to have the structures and processes in place to ensure the risks and 
opportunities of daily council activity are identified, assessed and addressed in a 
standard way.  We do not shy away from risk but instead seek to pro-actively 
manage it.  This will allow us not only to meet the needs of the community today, but 
also be prepared to meet future challenges.

Attachment 1 to this report sets out the refreshed Risk Management Policy 
Statement and Strategy for 2017/2018, which aligns with the council’s Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS). The aims of this strategy are to support the challenges 
that the council may face, allowing it to react dynamically to changing external 
circumstances by enabling the council to handle risk effectively and deliver 
successful outcomes.

Page 90



 

 

 

 

  

Gloucestershire 
County Council 
Risk Management  
Policy Statement & 
Strategy  

 

2017-2018 

Page 91



 

1 

 

Risk Management Policy Statement 
 

 

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) recognises that Risk Management is 

one of the key principles of effective Corporate Governance. It is also a key 

contributor to a sound internal control environment and the Annual Governance 

Statement. 

The Council seeks to adopt recognised best practice in the identification, evaluation and cost 

effective/proportional control of risks and opportunities to ensure that they are managed at 

acceptable levels. Risk management within GCC is about managing our threats and 

opportunities and striving to create an environment of ‘no surprises’. By managing our threats 

effectively we will be in a stronger position to deliver our business objectives. By managing 

our opportunities we will be in a better position to demonstrate improved services and better 

value for money.  

Risk is unavoidable. It is an important part of life that allows us all to move forward and 

develop. As an organisation it can impact in many ways, whether financially, politically, on 

our reputation, environmentally or to our service delivery. Successful risk management is 

about ensuring that we have the correct level of control in place to provide sufficient 

protection from harm, without stifling our development. As an organisation, with a range of 

different stakeholders, each with differing needs and expectations, this can be a challenge.  

We must ensure that the decisions we take as a Council reflect a consideration of the 

potential implications for all our stakeholders. We must decide whether the benefits of taking 

our actions outweigh the risks. 

The Council’s overriding attitude to risk is to operate in a culture of creativity and innovation, 

in which risks are identified in all areas of the business, are understood and proactively 

managed, rather than avoided. Risk management therefore needs to be taken into the heart 

of the Council and our key partners. We need to have the structures and processes in place 

to ensure the risks and opportunities of daily Council activities are identified, assessed and 

addressed in a standard way. We do not shy away from risk but instead seek to proactively 

manage it.  This will allow us not only to meet the needs of the community today, but also be 

prepared to meet future challenges. 

The Cabinet and the Corporate Management Team are fully committed to effective risk 

management and see it as part of our responsibility to deliver an effective public service to 

the communities within Gloucestershire.  

Page 92



 

2 

 

Contents 

 
 Risk Management Strategy ................................................................................................ 3 

 What are the real benefits of managing risk? ..................................................................... 3 

 Our Strategic Risk Management Objectives ....................................................................... 4 

 What is the Council’s Risk Appetite? .................................................................................. 5 

 How are our objectives going to be met? ............................................................................ 5 

 Monitoring and Review of Risk Management Activities (minimum requirements) ............... 6 

 Accountabilities, Roles and Responsibilities ....................................................................... 7 

 Risk Management Governance Structure ......................................................................... 12 

 

 

Page 93

file://///svrshir07/RES_Shirehall$/AuditandRiskManagement/RiskManagement/Policies%20and%20Standards/Risk%20Management%20Policy/Risk%20Management%20Policy%20and%20%20Strategy%202016-2017%20v2-0.docx%23_Toc437424536


 

3 

 

Risk Management Strategy 
 

 

This strategy recognises that the next few years will present unprecedented 

challenges for the Council in delivering its services and corporate priorities.  

Risk Management is a central part of the Council’s strategic management. It is a cyclical 

process whereby the Council identifies, evaluates, monitors and controls potential 

opportunities and adverse effects that challenge the assets, reputation and objectives of the 

organisation. It enables the Council to effectively manage strategic decision-making, service 

planning and delivery, to safeguard the wellbeing of our customers and stakeholders.  

The Council should not be afraid of identifying a risk or feel that identifying a risk is a failure. 

Identification of a risk provides an opportunity for improvement and success! 

What are the real benefits of managing risk? 
 

 

Risk Management will strengthen the ability of the Council to achieve its 

corporate objectives and enhance the value of services provided by: 

 Informing strategic and operational decision-making; 

 Safeguarding all persons to whom the Council has a duty of care; 

 Increasing our chances of success and reducing our chances of failure; 

 Enhancing stakeholder value by minimising losses and maximising opportunities; 

 Increasing knowledge and understanding of exposure to risk; 

 Enabling not just backward looking review, but forward looking thinking; 

 Contributing towards social value and sustainable development;  

 Reducing unexpected and costly surprises; 

 Minimising our vulnerability to fraud and corruption; 

 Freeing up management time from ‘fire-fighting’; 

 Providing management with early warnings of problems; 

 Ensuring minimal service disruption; 

 Ensuring statutory compliance; 

 Better targeting of resources i.e. focus scarce resources on high risk activity; 

 Reducing the financial costs due to, e.g. service disruption, litigation, insurance 

premiums and claims, and bad investment decisions; 

 Delivering creative and innovative projects; and 

 Protecting our reputation. 

Page 94



 

4 

 

 

Our Strategic Risk Management Objectives 
 
  

 Strategic approach to risk management to make better informed decisions which is 

vital to successful transformational change; 

 

 Setting the ‘tone from the top’ on the level of risk we are prepared to accept on our 

different service delivery activities and priorities. Understanding our ‘risk appetite’ and 

acknowledging that how we ‘think about risk’ will be different depending on the context 

of corporate impact and sensitivity; 

 

 Risk management enables us be more consistent in options appraisals and more 

flexible/agile in delivering change. Risk aversion can result in the bar being set much 

higher for commissioning a change compared with maintaining the status quo; 

 

 Acknowledging that even with good risk management and our best endeavours, things 

can go wrong. Where this happens we use the lessons learnt to try to prevent it from 

happening again; 

 

 Developing leadership capacity and skills in having a clear understanding of the risks 

facing the Council and how we manage them; 

 

 Risk management should be integral to how we run Council business/services. Risk 

management processes provide effective arrangements that identify and achieve 

successful local and national priority objectives; 

 

 Supporting a culture of well-measured risk taking throughout the Council’s business, 

including strategic, programme, partnership, project and operational. This includes 

setting risk ownership and accountabilities and responding to risk in a balanced way, 

considering the level of risk, reward, impact and cost of control measures; 

 

 Ensure that the Council continues to meet all statutory and best practice requirements 

in relation to risk management and continues to be a key and effective contributor to 

Corporate Governance and a satisfactory Annual Governance Statement; 

 

 Effective monitoring and Board intelligence on the key risks facing the Council; and 

 

 Good practice tools to support the Council in the management of risks.   

Page 95



 

5 

 

What is the Council’s Risk Appetite? 
 
 

There are numerous definitions of organisational ‘risk appetite’, but it all boils 

down to how much of what sort of risk an organisation is willing to take.  The 

HM Treasury definition being: ‘The amount of risk that an organisation is 

prepared to accept, tolerate or be exposed to at any point in time.’ So why do 

we need to determine our risk appetite? 

If managers are running the business with insufficient guidance on the levels of risk that are 

legitimate for them to take, or not seizing important opportunities due to a perception that 

taking on additional risk is discouraged, then business performance will not be maximised. At 

the other end of the scale an organisation constantly erring on the side of caution (or one that 

has a risk-averse culture) is one that is likely to stifle creativity and not necessarily 

encouraging innovation, nor seek to exploit opportunities.  

A framework has been developed and implemented to enable risk judgements to be more 

explicit, transparent and consistent. By enhancing our approach to determining risk appetite 

we are able to raise the Council’s capability to deliver on challenging targets to raise 

standards, improve service quality, system reform and provide more value for money.  

This framework is considered by all levels of the business, from strategic decision making, to 

operational delivery.  

How are our objectives going to be met? 
 
 

The Council’s objectives will be achieved by: 
 

 Adopting good practice risk management principles, in line with the Institute of Risk 

Management Professional Standards 2015 and the International Risk Management 

Standard (ISO 31000 - 2009). The application of the standards and principles within it 

will be reviewed annually and amended accordingly to reflect key changes; 

 

 Establishing clear roles and responsibilities and reporting lines within the Council for 

risk management; 

 
 

Page 96



 

6 

 

 Incorporating risk management into the council’s decision making and strategic 

management processes; 

 

 Incorporating risk management into service/business planning, option appraisals, 

programme and project management, partnerships and procurement processes; 

 

 The provision of risk management training, advice, detailed guidance and support and 

providing opportunities for shared learning; and 

 

 The provision of a risk governance framework to ensure the adequacy and 

effectiveness of the identification, assessment, control, monitoring and review 

arrangements in place to manage risk. The framework will ensure that risk 

management is dynamic and responsive to change. 

 

Monitoring and Review of Risk Management 
Activities (minimum requirements) 
 
 

 A quarterly review of the Strategic Risk Register; 

 

 A quarterly review of service area risk registers; 

 

 A monthly review of programme/project/partnership risk registers; 

 

 An annual review of the corporate Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy; 

 

 An annual report on risk management activity; and 

 

 An annual review and report on the overall effectiveness of risk management and 

internal control by Internal Audit, which feeds into the Annual Governance Statement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 97



 

7 

 

 

Accountabilities, Roles and Responsibilities 
 
 

There needs to be clarity in terms of ‘who does what’ otherwise we will be 

exposed to risks being unmanaged, causing us damage or loss that we could 

otherwise influence, control or avoid. The key roles and responsibilities are 

outlined below: 

Cabinet / Portfolio Holders 
 

 Endorse the Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy; 

 Endorse the content of the Strategic Risk Register and proposed risk mitigation plans, 

and monitor implementation;  

 Be aware of the risk management implications of decisions; 

 Monitor key performance results including the production of an annual report on 

strategic risk management activity; and 

 Nominate a Lead Member Risk Management Champion to be responsible for the 

championing, scrutiny and oversight of the risk management activities. 

 

Scrutiny 
 

 Ensure that risks and opportunities within their portfolio are identified and effectively 

managed through discussions with Directors and Service Heads; 

 Facilitate a risk management culture across the council; 

 Contribute to the Cabinet review of risk and being proactive in raising risk from the 

wider Gloucestershire area and community; and 

 Monitor and challenge key risk controls and actions. 

 

Audit and Governance Committee 
 

 Provide independent assurance to the Council of the adequacy and effectiveness of 

the risk management arrangements and associated control environment; and 

 Receive an annual report on risk management activity.  

 
 
 
 

Page 98



 

8 

 

Corporate Management Team (CoMT) 
 

 Provide corporate leadership of risk management throughout the council; 

 Agree an effective council-wide framework for the management of risks and 

opportunities; 

 Advise Members on effective risk management and ensure Members receive relevant 

risk information; 

 Ensure that the council complies with the corporate governance requirements relating 

to risk management; 

 Own the council’s Strategic Risk Register and ensure that risks are reviewed as part of 

the wider council’s performance arrangements; 

 Ensure that reports to support strategic and/or policy decisions include a risk 

assessment; 

 Monitor the implementation of key mitigation plans and controls assurance 

programmes; 

 Ensure processes are in place to report any perceived new/emerging (key) risks or 

failures of existing control measures; and 

 Nominate a Director to be responsible for the championing, scrutiny and oversight of 

risk management activities. 

 

Directors 
 

 Ensure that risk management within their areas of responsibility is implemented in line 

with the council’s Risk Management Strategy; 

 Assist in the preparation of the council’s Annual Governance Statement by providing 

an assurance statement for the internal control framework operating within their 

service(s); 

 Ensure that risks associated with the delivery of outcomes are identified and effectively 

managed by owning risk registers; 

 Ensure regular review of the risk registers as part of wider council performance; 

 Challenge relevant Lead Commissioners and Service Heads on relevant risks relating 

to their areas of responsibility; 

 Proactively raise risk issues at management team meetings and with Portfolio Holders; 

and 

 Nominate a Risk Champion to work alongside the Corporate Risk Management Team, 

who will be the key interface in supporting the application of risk management 

principles within their service.  

Page 99



 

9 

 

Lead Commissioners/Service Heads 
 

 Ensure that risk management, within their areas of responsibility, is implemented in 

line with the council’s Risk Management Strategy; 

 Own their risk register and identify cross-cutting risks as well as risks arising from their 

areas of responsibility; prioritising and initiating mitigating actions; 

 Ensure regular review of the service risk register as part of wider council performance; 

 Report to Directors on any perceived new and emerging risks or, failures of existing 

control measures; 

 Promote and share good practice across service areas; 

 Liaise with their service Risk Champion; and 

 Challenge risk owners and actions to ensure that controls are operating as intended. 

 

Managers 
 

 Ensure that risk management within their areas of responsibility is implemented in line 

with the council’s Risk Management Strategy; 

 Communicate the risk management arrangements to staff; 

 Liaise with their service Risk Champion; 

 Identify training needs and report these to their service Risk Champion; 

 Take accountability for actions and, report to their Lead Commissioner or Service 

Head; and 

 Report any perceived new and/or emerging risks or, failure of control measures to their 

Lead Commissioner or Service Head. 

 

Staff/Other Stakeholders 
 

 Maintain risk awareness, assessing and managing risks effectively in their job and, 

report risks to their manager. 

 

Corporate Risk Management Team 
 
Strategic and Operational Risk 
 

 Lead on the development and manage the implementation of an integrated risk 

management framework, strategy and process on behalf of the council; 

 Undertake an annual review of the council’s Corporate Risk Management Strategy and 

update accordingly, presenting any revisions to COMT for approval; 

Page 100



 

10 

 

 Spread the ethos and, promote the effectiveness of good risk management throughout 

the council; 

 Facilitate the review and update of the Strategic Risk Register; 

 Identify and address cross-cutting risks and risk management issues; 

 Support the development of the council’s service, programme, project and partnership 

risk registers; 

 Provide the council with guidance, toolkits, advice and support on the application of 

risk management principles and, support the Risk Champions in delivering their role; 

 Lead, co-ordinate and develop risk management activity across the council with the 

support of the Risk Champions; 

 Ensure that all relevant staff and Members are adequately trained in risk management 

and risk assessment techniques; 

 Moderate and challenge the application of risk management principles accordingly; 

 Liaise with external consultants and risk management organisations and review 

national standards to identify, share and maintain best practice within the council; and 

 Liaise with both internal and external audit with regard to risk management. 

 
Risk Financing and Insurance 
 

 Lead on the development and implementation of the council’s insurance programme; 

 Provide advice and guidance with regards to insurance requirements, indemnities and 

legal liabilities; 

 Lead on claims management and investigation services for claims made against the 

council; and 

 Provide an insurance programme to maintained schools, who buy-back the traded 

service. 

 

Corporate Risk Management (virtual) Group 
 
The virtual group is made up of senior officers within the following: 
 

 Corporate Risk Management; 

 Performance and Improvement; 

 Information Management; 

 Health and Safety; 

 Civil Protection; 

 Risk/Insurance Services; 

Page 101



 

11 

 

 Commercial Services;  

 Asset Management and Property Services, and 

 Service area risk champions. 

 

The key aims of the virtual group are to: 
 

 Act as the main risk management contact/advisor for their service areas, ensuring that 

corporate information and requirements are communicated throughout the service 

areas and that key service risk information is escalated, to enable appropriate action to 

be taken by the Corporate Risk Management Team i.e. ‘top down – bottom up’ 

approach; 

 Support the development and implementation of the council’s Risk Management Policy 

and Strategy; 

 Support the development of the Strategic Risk Register;  

 Support the development of and advise on the adequacy of the service, programme, 

project and partnership risk registers; 

 Identify and address cross cutting risks and risk management issues; 

 Provide support on risk management to Directors, Service Heads and other managers 

within their service area; 

 Promote the benefits of risk management across their service areas; 

 Identify their service areas training needs and notify the Corporate Risk Management 

Team; 

 Maintain, on behalf of their services, risk registers that comply with corporate 

guidelines; 

 Promote and share best practice/lessons learned across the service areas; and 

 Report on the progress and development of the risk management strategy within the 

council. 

 

Internal Audit 
 

The role of Internal Audit in respect of risk management is to: 
 

 Provide an annual independent, objective assessment/opinion of the effectiveness of 

the risk management and control processes operating within the council which feeds 

into the council’s Annual Governance Statement; 

 Provide advice and guidance on risk and control; and 

 Ensure that the Internal Audit activity is focused on the key risks facing the council. 

 

Page 102



 

12 

 

 

 

Risk Management Governance Structure 
 

 

Corporate Risk 
Management Team 

Corporate Risk 
Management (Virtual 

Group) 

Performance  
and Improvement 

Internal 
Audit 

Support Functions 

County Council 

Staff/Other Stakeholders 

Cabinet/CoMT 

Scrutiny Committees 

Audit and Governance 
Committee 

Management Teams – Portfolio, Project and Programme Boards 

Cabinet 
Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Committee 

Corporate Management Team (CoMT) 

Commissioning Board 

Civil Protection Team 

P
age 103



 

13 

 

 

Audit Risk Assurance & Insurance Services 
Shire Hall 

Westgate Street 
Gloucester 

Gloucestershire 
GL1 2TG 

 

December 2016 

Page 104



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 20th January 2017 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Internal Audit (IA) activity progress report 2016/2017

Purpose of Report: To inform Members of the progress of Internal Audit activity in relation 
to the 2016/2017 Internal Audit Programme and provide a progress 
report in relation to those audits undertaken during the period October 
to December 2016.

Recommendations: It is recommended that the Committee:

1. Notes the amendments to and progress against the 2016/2017 
Internal Audit Programme; 

2. Requests senior management attendance at the next meeting of 
the Committee to provide an update on the actions taken in 
relation to the recommendations made in the exempt limited 
assurance report. 

3. Notes the assurance opinions provided in relation to the 
effectiveness of the Council’s control environment comprising risk 
management, control and governance arrangements as a result of 
the internal audit activity completed to date.

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer: Head of Internal Audit and Risk Management 
Shared Service and Gloucestershire County Council’s Insurance 
Services. 
Tel: 01452 328883
Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Jo Walker: Director - Strategic Finance 
Tel no: 01452 328469.
joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Failure to deliver an effective Internal Audit Service will prevent an 
independent, objective assurance opinion to be provided to those 
charged with governance that the key risks associated with the 
achievement of the Council’s objectives are being adequately 
controlled. 

Page 105

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY  
PROGRESS REPORT 

2016/2017

Page 107



(1) Introduction

All local authorities must make proper provision for internal audit in line with the 1972 Local 
Government Act (S151) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The latter states that 
a relevant authority “must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness 
of its risk management, control and governance processes, taking into account public sector 
internal auditing standards or guidance”. The Internal Audit Service is provided by Audit Risk 
Assurance under a Shared Service agreement between Gloucestershire County Council, 
Stroud District Council and Gloucester City Council and carries out the work required to 
satisfy this legislative requirement and reports its findings and conclusions to management 
and to this Committee.

The guidance accompanying the Regulations recognises the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS) as representing “proper internal audit practices”. The standards define 
the way in which the Internal Audit Service should be established and undertakes its 
functions. 

(2) Responsibilities 

Management are responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate risk management 
processes, control systems (financial and non financial) and governance arrangements. 

Internal Audit plays a key role in providing independent assurance and advising the 
organisation that these arrangements are in place and operating effectively.

Internal Audit is not the only source of assurance for the Council. There are a range of 
external audit and inspection agencies as well as management processes which also 
provide assurance and these are set out in the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance 
and its Annual Governance Statement.  

(3) Purpose of this Report

One of the key requirements of the standards is that the Chief Internal Auditor should 
provide progress reports on internal audit activity to those charged with governance. This 
report summarises:

 the progress against the 2016/2017 Internal Audit Programme, including the 
assurance opinions on the effectiveness of risk management and control processes;

 the outcomes of the Internal Audit activity during the period October to December 
2016; and

 special investigations/counter fraud activity.

Page 108



Appendix 1

2

(4) Progress against the 2016/2017 Internal Audit Programme, including the 
assurance opinions on risk and control

The schedule provided at Appendix 1 provides the summary of 2016/17 audits which have 
not previously been reported to the Audit and Governance Committee, including, very 
importantly, one limited assurance audit opinion on control.

The schedule provided at Appendix 2 contains a list of all of the audit activity undertaken 
during 2016/2017, which includes, where relevant, the assurance opinions on the 
effectiveness of risk management arrangements and control processes in place to manage 
those risks and the dates where a summary of the activities outcomes has been presented 
to the Audit and Governance Committee. Explanations of the meaning of these opinions are 
shown below. 

Assurance 
levels

Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment

Substantial Risk Managed
Service area fully aware of the risks relating to the area 
under review and the impact that these may have on 
service delivery, other service areas, finance, reputation, 
legal, the environment client/customer/partners, and staff.  
All key risks are accurately reported and monitored in line 
with the Corporate Risk Management Strategy. 

 System Adequacy – Robust 
framework of controls ensures 
that there is a high likelihood of 
objectives being achieved

 Control Application – Controls are 
applied continuously or with minor 
lapses

Satisfactory
Risk Aware
Service area has an awareness of the risks relating to the 
area under review and the impact that these may have 
on service delivery, other service areas, finance, 
reputation, legal, the environment, 
client/customer/partners, and staff, however some key 
risks are not being accurately reported and monitored in 
line with the Corporate Risk Management Strategy.

 System Adequacy – Sufficient 
framework of key controls for 
objectives to be achieved but, 
control framework could be 
stronger

 Control Application – Controls are 
applied but with some lapses

Limited
Risk Naïve 
Due to an absence of accurately and regularly 
reporting and monitoring of the key risks in line with 
the Corporate Risk Management Strategy, the service 
area has not demonstrated an satisfactory 
awareness of the risks relating to the area under 
review and the impact that these may have on 
service delivery, other service areas, finance, 
reputation, legal, the environment, 
client/customer/partners and staff.  

 System Adequacy – Risk of 
objectives not being achieved 
due to the absence of key 
internal controls

 Control Application – 
Significant breakdown in the 
application of control

Page 109



Appendix 1

3

(4a) Summary of Internal Audit Assurance Opinions on Risk and Control

The pie charts provided below show the summary of the risk and control assurance opinions 
provided within each category of opinion i.e. substantial, satisfactory and limited in relation to 
the audit activity undertaken during the period April 2016 to December 2016.

Page 110



Appendix 1

4

(4b) Limited Control Assurance Opinions 

Where audit activity record that a limited assurance opinion on control has been provided, 
the Audit and Governance Committee may request Senior Management attendance to the 
next meeting of the Committee to provide an update as to their actions taken to address the 
risks and associated recommendations identified by Internal Audit. 

(4c) Audit Activity where a Limited Assurance Opinion has been provided on 
Control

During the period October to December 2016, one audit review has been provided with a 
limited assurance opinion on control which relates to an exempt report. 

It is important to note that whilst a limited assurance opinion has been provided in this 
instance, management have responded positively to the recommendations made and 
actions are being taken to address them.

(4d) Satisfactory Control Assurance Opinions

Where audit activity record that a satisfactory assurance opinion on control has been 
provided, where recommendations have been made to reflect some improvements in 
control, the Committee can take assurance that improvement actions have been agreed with 
management to address these.

(4e) Internal Audit Recommendations

During the period October 2016 to December 2016 Internal Audit made, in total, 30 
recommendations to improve the control environment, 8 of these being high priority 
recommendations (100% of these being accepted by management) and 22 being medium 
priority recommendations (100% accepted by management). 

The Committee can take assurance that all high priority recommendations will remain under 
review by Internal Audit, by obtaining regular management updates, until the required action 
has been fully completed. 

(4f) Risk Assurance Opinions

There was one limited assurance opinion on risk during the period October to December 
2016 which related to an exempt report. Where limited assurance opinions on risk are 
provided, the reports are given to the appropriate risk champion to ensure that the risks 
highlighted by Internal Audit are placed on the service area’s risk register. The monitoring of 
the implementation of the recommendations is then owned by the relevant manager and 
helps to further embed risk management into the day to day management, risk monitoring 
and reporting processes. 

In addition, the Shared Service Senior Risk Management Advisor is provided with the 
Internal Audit reports where a limited assurance opinion is provided, to enable the 
prioritisation of risk management support.

Page 111



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

5

Completed Internal Audit Activity during the period October to December 2016

Summary of Satisfactory Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Core Council – Strategic Finance

Audit Activity: Capital: Virements and Delegated Powers

Background
The Council’s approved Capital Programme (period 2015/16 to 2017/18) is £485m. Once 
this programme was approved, Cabinet, Cabinet Members or appropriate Officers under 
delegated powers become responsible for taking in-year decisions on resources and 
priorities and can therefore approve virements between schemes providing the decision is 
not contrary to the budget. In this context, contrary to the budget, may be through:

 Initiating a new policy;

 Committing capital expenditure in the current or future years to a level above the 
approved budget levels;

 Transferring resources from revenue to capital budgets, except via a Revenue 
Contribution to Capital Outlay (RCCO); and

 Entering into a capital commitment if it involves a material change to the nature of the 
project as set out in the agreed project appraisal.

The audit finalised in February 2016 highlighted the absence of a formal scheme of 
delegation for the Capital budget and that the documentation held by Strategic Finance to 
support the changes was not consistently applied in accordance with the published 
guidance.

In June 2016, the Head of Financial Management confirmed to the members of the Audit 
and Governance Committee that a scheme of delegation had now been formally 
documented by the Director: Strategic Finance; the authorisation processes had been 
reviewed and these would be communicated to the relevant officers to provide clarity on the 
expected authorisation requirements and how this should be documented. 

Scope
The objective of this follow-up review is to evaluate whether the requirements are now being 
consistently applied by the service areas and that officers within Strategic Finance provide 
effective oversight and control over the process.

Risk Assurance - Substantial

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Page 112



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

6

Key findings
 The Director: Strategic Finance has considered and formally approved a Scheme of 

Delegation for 23 postholders to approve (within certain limits and conditions) in-year 
virements to the Capital Programme. 

 The signed authorisation has been formally lodged with the Monitoring Officer as 
required under the Constitution. 

 In July 2016, Accounting Instruction No. 19 was reviewed by the Financial 
Accounting Manager and an amended version has been published on Staffnet. This 
version reflects more clearly the requirements of the Constitution and links the 
approval process to the Scheme of Delegation. 

 Officers who routinely undertake / authorise the majority of virements fully understood 
why the authorisation was necessary and they were aware of the limit of their 
delegated powers. In contrast, three officers who do not routinely require virements to 
be made stated they had not received a copy of the authorisation and did not provide 
appropriate assurance that they understand its purpose and why they had been 
included. A further briefing from Strategic Finance has now taken place to ensure 
these officers are fully aware of the Scheme of Delegation and its requirements 
should they need to exercise their delegated powers.

Conclusions
Overall there is appropriate compliance with the Scheme of Delegation created by the 
Director: Strategic Finance in June 2016 and the vast majority of changes have been 
requested and documented in accordance with expectations. Internal Audit found the 
application of the control framework to be particularly strong within the infrastructure and 
schools capital programmes where the majority of virements are actioned. However, some 
non compliance was highlighted within two service areas which had not been challenged by 
Strategic Finance. 
Action has now been agreed and implemented to ensure this is not repeated going forward.

Despite these isolated incidents, Internal Audit can report that the actions taken by Strategic 
Finance (to address the concerns highlighted by the previous audit) have been very positive 
and overall have been effective. Consequently, based on the findings from this follow-up 
review, the day to day application of the revised control framework is now considered to be 
sufficiently robust for Internal Audit to conclude that audit opinion on control is raised from 
Limited to Satisfactory. 

Management Actions
No further action is required by management.

Page 113



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

7

Service Area: Core Council – Business Service Centre (BSC)

Audit Activity: National Insurance Contributions (NIC)

Background
Prior to April 2016 employees who were members of a defined benefit pension scheme were 
eligible to contract-out of the state pension scheme, which meant that they paid reduced 
employer and employee national insurance contributions (NIC).  From April 2016 the 
government abolished contracting out. As a result, members of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS), Fire Service Pension Scheme and Teachers Pension Scheme 
now pay standard Class 1 contributions. This has had a significant impact on both the 
employee’s take-home pay and the employer’s overheads, with employees’ NIC rising by 
approximately 1.4% of gross pay and employer’s NIC by approximately 3.4% of gross pay.

The Business Service Centre (BSC) was required to make the necessary changes to all 
payrolls to comply with the new legislation.

Scope
 To review the implementation of the changes to both employee and employer’s 

national insurance contributions;

 To examine the adequacy of testing by the BSC; and 

 To select a sample of employees to ensure that the correct deductions are being 
made.

Risk Assurance - Satisfactory 

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key findings
SAP provided a program to change the NIC category on individual records from the 
contracted out code to the equivalent standard NIC. The BSC tested this program both in the 
test system and the live system (production) to ensure that it was working as expected.

Their testing covered three areas:-

 Those employees for whom standard rate contributions apply;

 Employees who are under 21, where no employer’s contributions are payable, for 
earnings up to a £3,583 per month; and

 Apprentices who are under 25, where no employer’s contributions are payable, for 
earnings up to a £3,583 per month.

Internal Audit (IA) reviewed the testing undertaken and carried out its own testing.

Page 114



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

8

IA found that the BSC undertook extensive testing of those employees for whom standard 
contributions apply but more limited testing for employees who are under 21 and apprentices 
who are under 25. 

The BSC identified that the e-forms for new starters, commencing after 6th April 2016, no 
longer worked.  Manual adjustments were made for these cases with Capgemini tasked with 
correcting this issue. 

No high level recommendations were made however, the internal audit review identified that:

 there should be an overall testing policy document in place;

 in respect of specific changes that are tested and the relevant sample sizes, these 
should be agreed in advance. Where a particular criterion is not being tested this 
should be noted and the rationale for not testing documented. This will be based on a 
risk assessment; and

 testing scripts should be clearer and include any calculations made to check system 
output.

Conclusions
Migration to the new NIC rates was successfully tested and implemented by the BSC.

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the medium priority recommendations made.

Service Area: Core Council – Business Service Centre (BSC)

Audit Activity: Payroll payments to third parties

Background
The Business Service Centre is a major provider of payroll services for Gloucestershire 
County Council (GCC) and other employers, through traded service agreements. Deductions 
are made from salary in respect of income tax, national insurance, pension contributions, 
salary sacrifice schemes, attachment of earnings orders and other approved schemes.

The Council operates integrated SAP Human Resources and Payroll modules. A core 
payroll service objective is to pay accurate and complete staff and payroll deductions to 
relevant third parties within defined deadlines. 

Page 115



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

9

Audit Scope
The agreed audit scope was to provide the Council with assurance on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of payroll payments to third parties processes, controls and audit trail – 
including payroll payments to third party set up, actioning of amendments (e.g. new tax and 
NI rates) ensuring that the correct deductions are made, and payment completion. 

In line with the agreed audit scope, the audit reviewed the GCC payroll processes and 
controls only (i.e. audit testing did not include review of payroll payments to third parties 
made by the Business Service Centre on behalf of other employers). Based on pre audit 
meeting discussions and the consideration of risk areas, the agreed audit scope excluded 
National Employment Savings Trust pension scheme payments. 

Audit testing was completed on a sample of 2016/17 payroll deduction transactions. This 
captured periods one to five. 

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key findings
Audit review of the control environment for the payment of GCC staff payroll deductions to 
third parties confirmed that the process is operating in compliance with the external time 
deadlines set at the point of audit and that appropriate controls are in place for the majority 
of the process. 

Audit enquiries and testing, confirmed that an up to date reconciliation was not available for 
the following relevant control accounts: Her Majesty’s Revenues and Customs Pay as You 
Earn; Teachers Pension employee and employer pension contributions; and Local 
Government Pension Scheme employee and employer pension contributions.
As a result of the above audit finding, one medium risk recommendation has been made and 
subsequently implemented for the completion of regular formalised reconciliation and 
monitoring of the three Balance Sheet control accounts.

Conclusions
The key objective that GCC payroll deductions are paid within third party deadlines was 
being met by the Council at the point of audit.

Management Actions
No further action is required by management.

Page 116



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

10

Service Area: Core Council - ICT

Audit Activity: ICT Managed Services Contract – Sopra Steria

Background
Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) has been outsourcing its desktop and server support 
team, including the helpdesk, for over 20 years and in this time the contract has been re-let 
to different suppliers.  In 2013/14 the ICT managed services contract was awarded to Steria 
Limited (now Sopra Steria) for a period of five years.  

The new contract commenced on 1st April 2014 and consists of a core service as well as 
additional services.  The core service provision is based on the number of users rather than 
having a fixed cost base and the additional services are provided by Sopra Steria on a time 
and materials basis.  The total revenue budget for the ICT managed service contract for 
2015/16 was £3,075,000.  The capital budget for ICT projects for 2015/16 was £5,850,517.

Scope
The objectives of the audit were as follows:

 To ensure that the fixed cost per user payments made to Sopra Steria have been 
appropriately authorised and are in line with the payment provisions as stated in the 
contract and associated schedules; and

 To ensure that the variable cost payments made to Sopra Steria (revenue and 
capital) have been appropriately authorised and are in line with the payment 
provisions as stated in the contract and associated schedules.

The review focused on payments made in the latter six months of 2015/16 as well as 
payments made in 2016/17 to the date of the audit.

Risk Assurance -  Substantial

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key findings
Fixed charge – revenue expenditure

The fixed charge element of the contract is based on the number of users which was agreed 
as 4,261 at the start of the five year contract.  This figure should be reviewed on a quarterly 
basis as per the contract requirements but this has not happened and the same figure has 
continued to be used throughout the duration of the contract.  The user definition in the 
contract and the recommended data source for extracting the user number has made it 
difficult for GCC and Sopra Steria to come to an agreement as to how the user number 
should be determined.  Correspondence between the two parties has confirmed that the 
user number of 4,261 will continue to be used for 2016/17.  However, there is a recognition 
that agreement should be reached as to how this number should be determined going 
forward.  

Page 117



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

11

This may require a variation to contract to resolve the ambiguity over the current user 
definition in the contract.

Although the user number has remained constant, the contract specifies that the fixed 
charge price per user should change for each of the five years of the contract.  A sample of 
fixed charge invoices was tested and all of them were billed using the correct rates for 
2015/16 and 2016/17.

Service points are accrued when service levels fall below the agreed levels as specified in 
the contract.  However, incentive points accrue when service levels exceed the agreed 
contractual levels.  If a net service points position arises in any monthly period, this should 
result in a deduction from a fixed charge invoice in a subsequent month.  The audit review 
confirmed that there have been two occasions since the start of the contract where a net 
service points position has arisen but to date, no deductions have been requested to be 
made from the fixed charge invoices (in each case deductions could have been up to 5% of 
the monthly fixed charge).  Management should ensure that the monthly KPI summary 
reports are regularly reviewed to ensure that value for money is being secured from Sopra 
Steria and that deductions are made from the fixed charge invoices where necessary.

Additional services – revenue expenditure

On a monthly basis Sopra Steria submit separate billing reports for time and materials 
charges for projects, consultancy, applications and expenses.

GCC’s Interim ICT Business Enablement Manager has developed a spreadsheet that is 
used to analyse and approve the monthly billing reports that are received.  One of the 
checks that are undertaken on these reports is to ensure that any charges made should not 
have been included in the fixed charge and are legitimate charges for additional services.  
Evidence of this check was seen as part of the audit of the billing reports where Sopra Steria 
were requested to make adjustments in a subsequent billing period.  Once the charges have 
been checked and agreed as being correct, Sopra Steria are instructed to submit an invoice 
for the agreed revenue expenditure.

At the date of the audit, the invoices that were received from Sopra Steria were being 
approved for payment without a formal reconciliation against the spreadsheet. 

The risk is that duplicate charges could have been included on the invoices without this 
being apparent and the invoices would still be paid.  This issue was immediately resolved by 
the Interim ICT Business Enablement Manager and a colour-coding system has now been 
introduced whereby all agreed costs on the spreadsheet are highlighted once they have 
been reconciled to the charges that appear on the invoices.

A sample of three revenue invoices that covered the period September to December 2015 
was selected for testing.  All of the charges were confirmed as correct and no duplicate 
charges had been made on the invoices.

The Interim ICT Business Enablement Manager has access to the contractual rates that 
should be charged for each of the Sopra Steria staff however these are not checked as part 
of the monthly billing reports checking process.  

Page 118



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

12

Internal Audit selected a sample of charges from each of the different types of billing reports.  
These were checked against the hourly rates that have been specified in the contract, all of 
which were found to be correctly applied.

Additional services - capital expenditure

The process for approving the time and materials charges for ICT capital expenditure is the 
same as described above for the approval of the revenue expenditure but in this case the 
charges are approved by the Council’s Interim ICT Programme Manager. A sample of eight 
invoices from October 2015 to March 2016 was selected for testing.  Of these, four were for 
time and materials charges and four were for other charges in relation to projects that were 
delivered.  All of the sampled expenditure was in relation to projects that had been 
appropriately authorised and the sampled invoices had all been appropriately scrutinised 
and authorised prior to payment.

Conclusions
The fixed charge is based on user numbers which should be refreshed on a quarterly basis.  
This has not happened, however, the audit review confirmed that all fixed charges invoiced 
to date have been billed at the correct contractual rates.  Management should ensure that 
the KPI summary reports are scrutinised to ensure that deductions are made from the fixed 
charge invoices where service levels fall below those specified in the contract.

The additional services are funded by both revenue and capital ICT budgets.  Sound 
systems of control have been implemented to ensure that the revenue expenditure will be 
appropriately scrutinised and authorised.  Testing did not reveal any incorrect or duplicate 
charges. Large projects are funded from the capital ICT budget.  Sample testing confirmed 
that appropriate authorisations were in place for the projects that had been undertaken and 
that the charges were made at the correct rates.

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the recommendations made in respect of the 
above issues identified.

Service Area: Communities - Integrated Transport Unit (ITU)

Audit Activity: Use of a Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS)

Background
In order to deliver the Council’s transport solutions, Cabinet approved the use of a Dynamic 
Purchasing System (DPS) for offering contract opportunities. This was introduced in March 
2016 to run until March 2020 and delivers a fully electronic procurement approach across 
the following Categories: Category 1 Specialist transport, Category 2 Transport required at 
short notice, Category 3 Home to school transport and Category 4 Public transport.

Page 119



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

13

Scope
This audit reviewed the operation of the DPS, ensuring that it complies with legislation, that 
work is procured equitably and that new contractors are admitted to the DPS in accordance 
with the agreed selection criteria.

Risk Assurance - Satisfactory 

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key findings
 The DPS has been established in accordance with Regulation;

 Suppliers are offered the opportunity to join the DPS throughout the life of the 
contract improving the Council’s opportunities to develop the market, although the 
evaluations at the time of review required faster assessment;

 Contract opportunities were made available to suppliers through the approved 
eProcurement system and in accordance with Regulation in all sampled cases;

 Contracts were awarded to the most economically advantageous tenderer in all 
sampled cases, although enhancements to the evaluation process were identified;

 Council staff have an inspection schedule encompassing all DPS suppliers to verify 
that each demonstrates eligibility and compliance with DPS requirements, such as 
safety and insurance; and

 Publication of contract award notices requires development. Commercial Services 
recommend that the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU) part of the 
process is not completed at present as the OJEU website is unable to accept 
quarterly submissions as required by Regulations.

Conclusions
There is sufficient evidence that the DPS established in March 2016 is functioning as 
intended, and provide assurance that appropriate suppliers have been awarded contracts 
according to the Council’s expectations. 
Regulations governing the use of a DPS are new, and the ITU and Commercial Services 
teams are looking to develop and improve processes following the initial implementation, 
which the recommendations made by Internal Audit are intended to support.

Regarding specific contract opportunities under the DPS, all relevant suppliers in a category 
are invited to tender for contracts, and that an audit trail is present to manage submissions. 
This is statutory requirement and the evidence viewed shows that the systems and 
processes in place are adequate. All specific contracts reviewed were awarded fairly and 
equitably to the most economically advantageous supplier. Consequently the overriding 
purpose of the procurement process has been met.

Page 120



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

14

There were however areas identified for improvement, particularly with regard to material 
submitted late or outside the eProcurement system; evaluation of public transport tenders; 
and publication of awarded contracts in accordance with regulation.  Recommendations 
have been made in these areas to support Management in making the appropriate process 
enhancements so that the DPS will operate effectively for the term of its existence.

One Council-wide risk was identified, as regulations require details of contracts awarded 
under any DPS to be published on the OJEU website individually or on a quarterly basis. 
Commercial Services consider that individual publication would be burdensome and lose the 
efficiency the DPS is intended to deliver. However, the alternative to publish quarterly cannot 
currently be completed as the OJEU website does not support this process. Commercial 
Services are working with other Councils and the Local Government Association (LGA) to 
settle this issue, and the risk of non-compliance will be carried until this is resolved.

Management Actions
Six medium priority recommendations have been made to enhance existing processes as 
noted above. All have been agreed with management to be completed within 2016/17, with 
the exception of improvements to the OJEU contract award notification process which is 
dependent on engagement with third parties.

Service Area: Communities 

Audit Activity: Street Lighting: LED Replacement and Term Maintenance Contract

Background
Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) has a street lighting asset of 60,000 street lights and 
8,000 road signs and bollards. Following Cabinet approval, officers completed a compliant 
tendering process to award a contract for the Street Lighting – LED replacement programme 
and the subsequent on-going term maintenance of these assets. The contract (estimated 
value £41m over the 12 year period) was awarded to Skanska. The budget for the LED 
replacement programme is from a number of sources i.e. GCC reserves and SALIX funding 
which will be repaid through the savings generated from less energy consumption. 

Scope
The objectives of this audit are to:

 Review the contract management arrangements established by the service and 
evaluate whether this is in line with corporate requirements; 

 Ascertain the performance measures for the contract and confirm that the results are 
regularly reported, promptly monitored by the service with any under performance 
being proactively managed; 

Page 121



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

15

 Agree that the invoices submitted by the contractor are in line with the contract terms 
and conditions and the agreed pricing schedules; and

 Confirm that the expected savings from reduced energy costs are beginning to be 
realised and any loan repayment arrangements are realistic.

Risk Assurance - Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key findings
 The Core Investment Programme (CIP) project aims to replace the remaining 

Council’s street lighting inventory of 54,325 units with light emitting diode units 
(LEDs) at a cost circa £13.7m over a period of 44 months commencing 16th 
November 2015. As at the end of October 2016 the cumulative number of LEDs fitted 
under CIP is 16,644 and Skanska are on target to achieve the contracted total of 
21,600 by 31st March 2017. 

 The basic principle of the project is that by replacing current units with LEDs the 
energy consumption (KWH) will be reduced when compared to the consumption of 
the old unit. As the burn regime will largely stay the same the lower consumption rate 
from a LED unit should generate significant energy savings for the Council.

 The management of this contract rests with the Street Lighting Manager who has 
completed the initial corporate training on contract management and been awarded 
“Practitioner” status. The Senior Relationship Officer (SRO) is the Highways Contract 
Manager and both officers are aware of their responsibilities and have the necessary 
experience to manage this contract.  

 An Operations Board has been established which meets monthly to discuss 
contractor performance, health and safety incidents, commercial matters and any 
other contractual issues that have arisen or likely to do so going forward. 

 For transparency, the principal method of giving instructions and receiving 
correspondence between GCC (Employer) and Skanska (Contractor) is through the 
contract management and reporting system CEMAR. 

 Key Performance Indicators (KPI) have been agreed to measure the performance of 
the contractor. These are documented and include a description for each KPI, the 
measure, method of calculation, period, data source, and the target and how 
liquidated charges will be calculated when the agreed performance levels are not 
achieved. At present a number of KPIs relating to the maintenance aspect of the 
contract are below target which the Senior Relationship Manager has raised 
concerns with Skanska about. 

Page 122



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

16

Whilst the Core Investment Programme (CIP) and column works are ahead of 
schedule this appears to have had a negative impact on resources within Skanska to 
manage the workflow and is further compounded by a high turnover of the back office 
staff directly supporting the administration of this contract. 

 The liquidated damages due to GCC are currently £46k although this will increase in 
the short term when a backlog of work has been uploaded by Skanska into the street 
lighting database.

 Each month the contractor submits an Application for Payment detailing the 
cumulative total of all works completed to that point in time. The amount for the 
monthly period is calculated by deducting the previous amounts invoiced from the 
latest cumulative total. At the time of the audit, there had been 14 Application for 
Payments with a cumulative value of £5.6m. 

 The Application for Payments are scrutinised by the Street Lighting Manager and 
when agreed a request will be made to Skanska (via CEMAR) for an invoice to be 
submitted. All payments are through the Council’s SAP creditors system and 
recorded against the project.  

 The rates applied by Skanska to the Application for Payments were in line with the 
original tender submission or where the work related to a new requirement the rates 
and/or budget had been subsequently agreed with GCC. 

Conclusions
The arrangements with Skanska to deliver the CIP are working as envisaged albeit some 
concerns have presented themselves on how this has adversely impacted on the 
maintenance aspects of the contract. Contractor performance is closely monitored at 
operational and strategic levels and where performance is less than expected this is robustly 
challenged and escalated to senior management and to the Operations Board for discussion 
and action. Overall, there is evidence that savings are beginning to be generated as the CIP 
moves forward.

Management Actions
A number of actions have been recommended and agreed with management which are 
intended to further enhance the existing contract management arrangements. In particular: 

 GCC to nominate an appropriate substitute (to be approved by the contractor) in the 
event that a Designated Representative is not able to attend a meeting of the 
Operations Board; 

 The Operations Board should include (at least quarterly) a review of the risk registers 
and the business continuity arrangements; 

Page 123



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

17

 The Service Manager (in consultation with Skanska Project Manager) to review the 
use of CEMAR to clarify how various types of instructions will be communicated / 
reported and to consider whether the additional features of the system should now be 
utilised; and 

 To ensure all parties i.e. service area, commissioning and Strategic Finance are 
consistent in their understanding of the levels of savings and how these and the Salix 
funding repayments will be accounted for. 

Service Area: Communities

Audit Activity: Accountable Body – Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) Funding

Background
Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) is actively involved in promoting and supporting the 
regeneration of Cinderford and has been a member of the Cinderford Regeneration Board 
since its inception in 2005. Crucial to the regeneration of the Northern Quarter is the 
construction of a spine road that will connect the B4227 and the A4136 to the north of 
Cinderford in order to unlock the development potential which is envisaged will facilitate 
mixed use development over the next 15 years of circa £100m. The project was initially 
managed by the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA), however, in July 2015 Cabinet 
agreed that the Council would take over the responsibility for the construction of the 
Northern Quarter Spine Road – phase 1 subject to funding, successful planning permission 
and satisfactory contractual arrangements being in place. Phase 1 of the spine road will 
deliver the southern section of the route and when completed will provide access to the site 
earmarked for the development of a new college campus. 

The HCA has provided funding of circa £6.5m towards the construction of the new college 
on the condition that GCC becomes the Accountable Body for this funding.

Scope
The objectives of this audit were to:

 Ensure that the decision which resulted in GCC agreeing to act as the Accountable 
Body for the HCA funding is in accordance with the Council’s scheme of delegation;

 Establish the governance arrangements for the HCA funding and evaluate their 
effectiveness in minimising the risks facing GCC (in its capacity as the named 
Accountable Body); and 

 Review the funding arrangements for the college campus project.

Risk Assurance - Substantial 

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Page 124



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

18

Key findings
 GCC is fully represented on the Cinderford Regeneration Board and the Cinderford 

Northern Quarter Delivery group (at officer and member level) and is in a position to 
have oversight of this regeneration programme. 

 This is a complex arrangement as GCC has no direct involvement in the project 
management arrangements for the new college or is providing any funding towards 
this other than absorbing the administrative costs of the Accountable Body role. 

The college project is however closely aligned to the delivery by GCC (as scheme 
promoter) of the Northern Quarter Spine Road: Phase 1 which needs to be 
completed to enable access to the site on which the college will be constructed. The 
road is being funded from a £3.8m Growth Fund grant approved by the GfirstLEP for 
which GCC is also the Accountable Body. The construction of the road has started 
and is due for completion by spring 2017. 

 The college will cost circa £14.7m and is anticipated that this will open in time for the 
2018/19 academic year.

 GCC (as Accountable Body) is holding £6.55m of funding received from the HCA of 
which £2.6m is a loan that the college is expected to repay by 31/03/2021. Prior to its 
release, Cabinet will need to confirm that GCC is in a position to underwrite the 
£2.6m loan in the event that the college is unable to repay it by the due date or the 
HCA is unwilling for this period to be extended.

 The funding position is fluid and an application (Round 3 of the Growth Fund) has 
been made by the college to GfirstLEP for a grant of £2.6m. If this application is 
successful the £2.6m loan will not be required thus reducing the risks to GCC. 

 The GCC Accountable Body team will require the college to enter into a funding 
agreement before any funding is released. This enables the conditions stipulated by 
the HCA to be passed to the college whilst providing clarity on how the funding will be 
released, what constitutes qualifying expenditure and what evidence will need to be 
provided to support this. The drawdown of any funding will require the agreement and 
signatures of (1) Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure (2) 
Finance Manager: Lead and Challenge and (3) Outcome Manager Economic 
Development or in their absence a nominated officer. 

 By entering into the funding agreements with the HCA, GCC has indicated that it 
agrees to act in the role of Accountable Body. However the decisions taken by the 
Leader of the Council and the Commissioning Director have not been formally 
documented / published albeit there is a lack of clarity around this particular point. 
This is fully recognised by the Accountable Body team who are presently drafting an 
overarching policy on the steps that should be taken by officers / members prior to 
agreeing for GCC to take on the responsibility of Accountable Body status. 
It is intended the policy will incorporate an indication to officers / members of the 
decision point(s) in the process, which if triggered would require an officer or member 
decision report to be prepared and published as required under the Constitution. 

Page 125



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

19

The policy will be presented to CoMT for review and sign-off prior to being 
communicated.

Conclusions
The Accountable Body team has considerable experience in this area with GCC acting as 
the Accountable Body for many funding streams over the last 15 years. An established 
control framework has been developed over time and assurance has been obtained that this 
will be applied to the HCA funding. 
In doing so this should minimise the risks of any claw-back request from the HCA.

The responsibility for the financial robustness of the college project rests firmly with the 
college with GCC being the Accountable Body for £6.55m funding from the HCA. Whilst it is 
not a condition of the funding it would be prudent for GCC (as Accountable Body) to be 
satisfied that the funding arrangements are firmed up prior to the release of any funds and if 
in doubt this should be escalated to the HCA for a decision on how to proceed. 

Management Actions
No further action is required.

Service Area: Children and Families

Audit Activity: Nursery Funding Payments for Two-Year-Olds

Background
Nursery Education Funding (NEF) is funded through the Dedicated Schools Grant and is 
based on the Early Years census.  The budget for NEF for two-year-olds for 2016/17 is 
£3,306,551.

Funded free early years places, up to 15 hours a week, are available for some two-year-old 
children.  To be able to offer a funded free place to parents, providers must have signed 
Gloucestershire County Council's (GCC) Agreement for Early Years Funded Free 
Entitlement for 2, 3, and 4 year olds for inclusion to the local Directory of Early Years 
Providers.

There are certain criteria that have to be met before the parents will be eligible for funding 
and proof of eligibility has to be shown to the provider.

There are two payment runs per term.  The initial one pays the provider for the number of 
hours a child is expected to attend per term.  If those hours change, or if there is a new 
starter or leaver during the term, the second payment amends the initial claim.

Page 126



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

20

Scope
The objectives of the audit were to:

 review the processes in place within GCC to establish parent/carer eligibility for free 
funding and ensure providers have completed the appropriate agreements; and 

 review the systems in place for making payments for two-year-olds to nursery 
providers, to ensure such payments are made in the correct amount, on a timely 
basis and in respect of children actually attending. 

Risk Assurance - Substantial 

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key findings
A child’s eligibility for free funding is checked to HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC) records 
via an online portal by either the parent, nursery provider or GCC Family Information Service 
staff and a confirmation letter is produced by the Family Information Service.  The records 
for a sample of children in receipt of the funding were reviewed and they showed that the 
eligibility criteria had been met for each of them.

Nursery providers who want to receive funding from GCC have to be registered with Ofsted 
and complete an annual provider agreement for GCC.  The agreements for a sample of 
providers were reviewed and signed agreements were found for all of them.  Providers also 
have to meet standards set out in the Local Code of Practice.  If any providers are classed 
as ‘Inadequate’ or ‘Requires Improvement’ by Ofsted they have to participate in the Early 
Years Intervention programme.  As at August 2016, 4% of day care providers (15 out of 379 
providers) and 4.8% of childminders (24 out of 497) were classed as ‘Inadequate’ or 
‘Requires Improvement’ and all had signed up to the Early Years Intervention Programme.

There are two payment runs each term.  Before the payments are made the payment reports 
are checked and authorised at an appropriate senior level.  A monthly reconciliation is 
undertaken to reconcile the payments made to providers to the information on SAP.  The 
payments to the providers in the audit sample were checked to the payments processed in 
SAP.  Seven of the payments did not agree, but the differences related to adjustments for 
previous payments and all were recorded on SAP.

A declaration form should be completed by parents/guardians for each setting that the child 
attends, detailing the number of hours the child will attend each day.  Each term a sample of 
providers is asked to send in the parent declaration forms and the information is checked 
against the details which the provider has entered on the Nursery Funding portal.  The main 
issue which applied to 11 out of 17 of the providers in the 2016 summer term sample was 
that the total hours claimed and/or daily hours were not completed on the parent declaration 
form.

Page 127



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

21

It was also established that nine out of the 21 providers had been overpaid a total sum of 
£4,140.61.  Seven of the nine overpayments, amounting to £3,584.67, were reclaimed. 
Not all overpayments are reclaimed; discretion would be used if it meant that reclaiming an 
overpayment would be detrimental to the business or the family of the child.

The providers do not receive any visits from the Education Planning and Development team 
unless there are concerns.  If providers were visited, a child’s attendance could be verified 
against the register and this would confirm that the hours on the parent declaration form and 
those submitted on the Nursery Funding portal were correct.

Conclusions
Controls and processes are in place to ensure that parents who apply for free funding for 
their two-year-old child have met the eligibility criteria and also that providers who are 
claiming this funding have met the required criteria.

There are also controls in place to ensure that payments made are correct.  A number of 
reports are produced before the payment run is made which identify where a provider has 
claimed the funding and they are not registered as being eligible, or the provider has met the 
criteria but the child is not eligible for the funding.  There is separation of duties at the 
appropriate level between the preparation of the payment run and authorisation for the 
payments to be made.

Although audit checks are undertaken by the Data and Finance Support Officer on 
information submitted by the providers and the parent declaration forms, there are no spot 
check visits to providers to verify that the children are actually attending as stated.

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the recommendation made in respect of the 
above issue identified.

Summary of Substantial Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Communities

Audit Activity: Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEP) Growth Deal

Background
Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) are made up of local businesses working in 
partnership with a combination of local authorities.  In June 2011, the Secretary of State 
granted Local Enterprise Partnership status to Gfirst Ltd which has now become GFirst LEP 
CIC (a Community Interest Company).

Page 128



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

22

In March 2014 all LEPs submitted Strategic Economic Plans (SEPs) to the Government.  
Government funding based on the SEPs has been allocated for the period 2015 – 2021 and 
for Gloucestershire this included Growth Deal funding of £77m.  
All LEPs have had to publish an Assurance Framework which has been locally agreed but 
which addresses government requirements. 
Operating under this Assurance Framework, the LEP is responsible for determining the local 
funding priorities and which projects the money should be allocated to.

All of the funding is paid to Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) in the first instance as the 
Accountable Body.  GCC is then accountable for ensuring that the income received and the 
payments made are properly accounted for and administered correctly.

Scope
The objectives of the audit were to: 

 ensure that the LEP is complying with its local Assurance Framework in terms of 
governance and decision-making processes as they relate to the allocation of the 
Growth Deal funding.

Due to the nature of the projects that can be funded by the Growth Deal, potential 
conflicts of interest could arise between GCC’s role as project promoter and the 
Accountable Body role.  As such, as part of the governance and decision-making 
processes, controls should be in place to ensure that these potential conflicts of 
interest will be appropriately managed in order to minimise the risks to GCC and to 
the individual officers concerned; and

 ensure that GCC as Accountable Body is fulfilling its role in terms of the following:

Monitoring for compliance within the terms of the LEP’s local Assurance Framework;

Ensuring the use of resources is in accordance with GCC’s established processes 
including financial regulations and contract regulations.  This will include 
implementing appropriate systems and controls where the LEP Board has approved 
a project where GCC was the project promoter and the Accountable Body is given a 
mandate to set up a contractual arrangement with the project promoter for the 
payment and use of funds; and

The provision of advice and representation, e.g. if there is a legal challenge to the 
decisions of the LEP Board in approving projects.

Risk Assurance -  Substantial

Control Assurance – Substantial

Page 129



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

23

Key findings
Role of the Local Enterprise Partnership

The LEP has developed and published a local Assurance Framework that is in line with 
government requirements.  This has been verified by a light touch review that was 
undertaken by the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS).  
The Assurance Framework is being treated as a dynamic document and as such has 
recently been subject to review and approval by the LEP Board.
The Accountable Body has also written to the Department for Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) confirming that the content of the Assurance Framework is still fit for 
purpose and is in line with standards.  Internal Audit also undertook a review of the 
Assurance Framework against the government guidelines and can confirm that the 
requirements have been met.

Appropriate governance arrangements are in place for prioritising, developing, appraising 
and approving funding for Growth Deal projects. The LEP Board is the ultimate decision-
making body and the agendas and minutes of the meetings are published on the LEP’s 
website. The following projects were selected for testing, Gloucestershire Airport, 
Cirencester STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering, Maths) and Blackfriars and Quayside 
(where GCC is both Accountable Body and project promoter). 

The conflicts of interest for the Blackfriars and Quayside project were recognised and 
arrangements have been put in place to ensure sufficient separation of duties between the 
Accountable Body staff, those working as the project promoter, the project appraiser and the 
decision–makers.

The following evidence was provided to demonstrate that the key stages in the project 
assessment and approval processes had been complied with, namely business cases were 
submitted by the project promoters, due diligence reports were prepared by an external 
consultant (both interim and final reports), papers were prepared for the LEP Board in 
relation to the decisions that were required for project approval and LEP Board minutes 
recorded the decisions that were made for project approval and the mandates that were 
given to the Accountable Body to set up funding agreements as appropriate.

Accountable Body role

In March 2014 an Individual Cabinet Member (ICM) Decision Report was published that 
made reference to the fact that the Council currently provides the Accountable Body role for 
the LEP and that this was likely to be broadened in support of the implementation of the 
Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) of which the Growth Deal funding forms a part.  Reference to 
GCC acting as the Accountable Body for the Growth Deal was therefore implied but there 
has been no direct Cabinet decision for GCC to act as the Accountable Body for the Growth 
Deal funding.

Finance staff have been in discussion with colleagues in Legal Services to develop robust 
arrangements for GCC to act as the Accountable Body when different grants are made 
available.  

Page 130



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

24

A policy will be drafted for consideration by the Corporate Management Team (CoMT) and 
for approval by Members as necessary.

There are nominated staff within different service areas that fulfil GCC’s Accountable Body 
role.  These staff also represent GCC as the Accountable Body at the following meetings 
LEP Board, Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee (GEGJC), LEP Investment 
Panel and the Programme Management Group.

An Accountable Body team meeting is also held on a weekly basis to monitor progress with 
projects.

For each of the projects tested, the following evidence was provided to demonstrate that the 
key stages in the fund management process had been complied with:

 Conditional Offer Letters being sent to the project promoters;

 The application of an administration fee to cover the formal clarifications and due 
diligence process;

 Signed and sealed funding agreements (Gloucestershire Airport and Cirencester 
STEM) and an Internal Memorandum of Understanding (Blackfriars and Quayside) 
are in place; and

 Annual Statement of Assurance from the external project promoters confirming that 
all expenditure incurred to date is eligible and has been spent in accordance with the 
funding agreement.

Once the funding agreements have been put in place, the monies are spent by the project 
promoters and then claimed from GCC as the Accountable Body.  A standard process has 
been developed for project promoters to follow when making a claim for payment.

Claims have been received for all three projects tested.  The Accountable Body staff have 
applied robust processes and authorisation controls to ensure that the funds have been used 
for the purposes intended and that the claims did not exceed the total amount of funding 
awarded.  For Gloucestershire Airport and Cirencester STEM, payments have been made to 
the project promoters.  For Blackfriars and Quayside, the claim was processed as an internal 
transfer and included in GCC’s 2015/16 financial year.

Conclusions
The LEP is complying with its local Assurance Framework in terms of governance and 
decision-making processes as they relate to the allocation of the Growth Deal funding.

GCC is fulfilling its role as Accountable Body by monitoring compliance with the terms of the 
Assurance Framework.

The potential conflicts of interest that could arise between GCC’s role as Accountable Body 
and project promoter are being appropriately managed.

Page 131



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

25

Management Actions
No recommendations were made in relation to this audit.

Summary of Consulting Activity, Grant Certification and/or Support Delivered 
where no Opinions are provided

Service Area: Grant Certification

Audit Activity: Troubled Families Grant

Background
The Families First (payment-by-result) programme was introduced in a renewed drive to help 
improve the outcomes for troubled families.  

The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has produced a Financial 
Framework for local authorities. This document makes clear that payment- by-result (PBR) is 
the subject of self-declaration, and therefore the purpose of this audit was to provide 
assurance that the Families First grant conditions and criteria had been met by the families 
to support the PBR grant claim.

Scope
To provide assurance that those families forming the PBR claims made to the date of the 
audit met the criteria and that there was sufficient evidence to support the outcomes 
recorded.  

Risk Assurance – N/A 

Control Assurance – N/A

Key findings
Having reviewed and sample-tested the 61 PBR claims between 1st April 2016 and 22nd 
November 2016, Internal Audit was satisfied that:

 The PBR claims in the sample met the criteria outlined by the Troubled Families 
Grant; and

 There were effective systems and processes for how families and their eligibility 
markers i.e. education/crime/anti-social behaviour; progress to work; and continuous 
employment (and off out-of-work benefits) were being collated and verified.  A couple 
of best practice points were identified which would further strengthen the systems of 
control.

Page 132



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

26

Conclusion
Internal Audit is satisfied that there are effective systems and processes for how families and 
their eligibility markers and related outcomes are being collated and verified.  Sample testing 
confirmed the validity of the claims that have been made to date.

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the best practice points made in the report to 
further enhance current processes.

Service Area: Grant Certification

Audit Activity: Better Care Fund (Disabled Facilities Capital Grant)

Background
The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) in 2015/16 made circa 
£220m available across all Local Authorities through the Disabled Facilities Capital Grant. 
This funding is part of the Better Care Fund, allocated to County Councils by the DCLG to be 
further distributed to District Councils as the local housing authorities.

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) received an allocation of £2,549,666 in 2015/16 
under grant determination No 31/2582.

Scope
The Chief Executive and Chief Internal Auditor are required to return to the Department for 
Communities and Local Government a declaration by 30th September 2016 in the following 
terms:

“To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate investigations 
and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions attached to Disabled 
Facilities Capital Grant Determination (2015/16) No 31/2582 have been complied with”.

To provide assurance that, in all significant respects, the conditions of the Grant 
Determination have been complied with.

Risk Assurance – N/A 

Control Assurance – N/A

Key findings
 The Council received funding of £2,549,666 in 2015/16 under the Disabled Facilities 

Capital Grant Determination [31/2582] scheme. 

Page 133



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

27

 The monies have been distributed correctly to District Councils within the County 
area. 

 All District Councils have confirmed compliance with the following statement for the 
monies provided:

“To the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate 
investigations and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions 
attached to Disabled Facilities Capital Grant Determination (2015/16) No 31/2582 
have been complied with”.

Conclusions
Based on declarations provided by District Councils and a review of records maintained by 
the Council, Internal Audit has gained assurance that the conditions of the grant 
determination have been fulfilled and as such the declaration can be signed and submitted 
to the DCLG.

Unspent monies arising from the Disabled Facilities Grant 2015/16 totalling £129,977 have 
been carried forward into 2016/17 by two District Councils. Expenditure of these monies in 
2016/17 by these Districts Councils is expected to meet statutory responsibilities for disabled 
facility adaptations.

Management Actions
No further action is required.

Service Area: Core Council – Strategic Finance

Audit Activity: Consultancy - Highways Network Asset

Background
CIPFA’s Code of Practice on the Highways Network Asset (Highways Code) was developed 
to promote effective asset management and for the same information to be used for financial 
reporting of the Highways Network Asset within local authorities.

For a number of years local authorities have been developing detailed inventory data on 
their network assets and using this data to develop the underlying valuation of the asset with 
a view to full implementation of the new measurement requirements in the 2016/17 financial 
statements, using centrally provided models and Gross Replacement Cost (GRC) rates. It is 
estimated that full implementation will result in a revaluation increase of approximately 
£1trillion to the UK public sector balance sheet in respect of local authority Highways 
Network Assets. 

Page 134



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

28

At its meeting on 9th November 2016, the CIPFA/LASAAC Local Authority Accounting Code 
Board (CIPFA/LASAAC) decided to postpone the full implementation of the move to 
measuring the Highways Network Asset at Depreciated Replacement Cost in local authority 
financial statements, but with a view for implementation to take place in 2017/18.

GCC’s Chief Financial Officer will need assurance that the measurement of the Highways 
Network Asset is materially accurate as part of the confirmation that the financial statements 
provide a ‘true and fair’ view of financial performance. 
There is no mandatory requirement for an Internal Audit review to be undertaken, however, 
due to the magnitude of the risk, it was decided, in consultation with GCC’s external 
auditors, that it would be beneficial to provide early assurance in this area as it would allow 
the Highways team a greater opportunity to address any areas where improvements may be 
needed.

Scope
GCC’s external auditors have produced a template of ‘Scoping questions for clients’.  This 
template seeks to obtain responses from management about the various systems and 
processes that have been put in place to value carriageways, footways, structures, street 
lighting, street furniture, traffic management systems and land, and who the responsible 
officer/s would be.

Internal Audit undertook a review of the scoping questions and management’s responses to 
them to provide assurance that there is sufficient evidence available that will allow a 
materially accurate measurement of the Highways Network Asset.

Risk Assurance – N/A

Control Assurance – N/A

Key findings
The audit review confirmed that sufficient evidence and explanations were available to 
support management’s responses to the scoping questions.  The majority of the evidence is 
held electronically on various databases, spreadsheets and websites.

Conclusions
Internal Audit is satisfied that there are sufficiently robust systems and processes in place 
that will allow a materially accurate valuation of the Highways Network Asset.

Management Actions
There are a small number of areas where the Highways team has already identified gaps in 
the availability of data.  In these cases, recommended CIPFA models and soundly based 
estimates are being used that should still allow a materially accurate measurement of the 
Highways Network Asset.

Page 135



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

29

Service Area: Core Council – Business Service Centre (BSC)

Audit Activity: Consultancy - Payroll – late payment

Background
Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) provides payroll services on behalf of Gloucester 
City Council (GCiC) whose staff are paid on the 27th of every month (or earlier if the 27th of 
the month is a non-working day).  An error occurred within the August 2016 payroll process 
which would have resulted in GCiC staff not being paid by the due date.  GCiC was able to 
instruct their bank to make emergency payments so that their staff could be paid on time.

The Head of the Business Service Centre (BSC) referred the above matter to the Chief 
Internal Auditor on 30th August 2016 so that an independent review could be undertaken and 
assurance provided that any weaknesses in control within the BSC which allowed the error 
to occur, have been identified and rectified.

Scope
The objectives of the audit were to:

 Review the systems, documentation and controls that were in operation within the 
BSC for the payment of GCiC’s August 2016 salary payments to identify the causes 
of the error and where improvements should be made;

 Undertake a walkthrough of the revised systems and documentation that have been 
put in place within the BSC for making GCiC’s September 2016 salary payments 
(and all future payments, particularly where further bank holidays will occur, e.g. 
Christmas), to confirm whether there is now a robust system of control in place; and

 Establish the effectiveness of the Bankers Automated Clearing Services (BACS) 
systems that are in place within Strategic Finance for making timely salary payments 
to GCiC staff.

Risk Assurance – N/A 

Control Assurance – N/A

Key findings

August late payment issue and resolution
On 26/08/16 it became apparent that GCiC employees had not been paid their salaries as 
expected.  The pay date is normally the 27th of every month but as this was a Saturday in 
August 2016, the pay date had to be brought forward to 26/08/16 which meant that the 
processing date had to be 25/08/16.  Unfortunately the BACS processing date had been set 
as 26/08/16 by the BSC instead of 25/08/16.  This would have resulted in GCiC staff being 
paid on Tuesday 30/08/16 due to the Bank Holiday Monday.

Page 136



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

30

Once the BSC was alerted to the potential late payment issue, immediate action was taken 
and GCiC managed to invoke the Faster Payment System with their bank.  In addition to 
applying the Faster Payment System, a BACS recall was also undertaken by GCiC to 
ensure that the original BACS file was not processed and duplicate salary payments made 
the following week.

In response to the potential late payment issue, the BSC reviewed their systems for the 
preparation of the BACS Release form (where the processing date is first recorded).  Pay 
day schedules are in place and available to staff so that they can determine the processing 
date.  Control systems are also in place whereby the processing date that has been 
determined by one member of staff should be double-checked by a second member of staff 
before the BACS Release form is sent to Strategic Finance for processing.  In the case of 
the August 2016 GCiC pay, even though it would appear that the double check of the 
processing date had occurred, there is confusion as to whether this actually happened in 
practice.

The BSC has addressed the above issue by adding a field for the pay date to be recorded 
on the BACS Release form in addition to the processing date.  There is also now a 
requirement for the preparer and checker of the BACS Release form to physically sign the 
form before it is sent to Strategic Finance, thereby confirming their actual involvement in the 
required processes.  Strategic Finance has been instructed to reject any BACS Release 
forms that do not contain original signatures.

Strategic Finance role
The BACS Release form is processed by one member of staff and checked by another 
member of staff.  The processing date that is recorded on the BACS Release form is not 
checked by Strategic Finance.  Verbal assurances obtained from both the BSC and Strategic 
Finance confirmed that the responsibility for correctly determining the processing dates 
should rest with the BSC.

September payroll
The two change processes that had been introduced by the BSC were reviewed for the 
GCiC September payroll.  The additional pay date field had been recorded on the BACS 
Release form.  Unfortunately only one of the signatures on the form was an original 
signature and the other was still a typed name.  However, the original signature was that of 
the checker and the BACS Release form had been sent to Strategic Finance from the e-mail 
account of the typed name (preparer of the BACS Release form).  The reason for the 
omission was the tight timescale between the change processes being introduced and 
having to be applied.

Further improvements
In addition to the above change processes the following improvement areas were identified 
by Internal Audit:

 All of the information on the BACS Release form should be checked by the BSC and 
not just the processing date;

Page 137



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

31

 The fields that currently require a signature on the BACS Release form should be 
amended to read ‘Prepared by’ and ‘Authorised by’.  The names of the members of 
staff should still be typed in and they should then sign against their name; and

 The actual day of the pay date could be recorded on the Payroll Processing 
Timetable and in addition a column for the processing date could be added.

Conclusion
The GCiC August 2016 late payment issue was addressed in a timely manner through 
collaboration between GCC and GCiC so that the staff could be paid their salaries by the 
due date.  Action was also taken to ensure that no duplicate salary payments were made.

The BSC identified the cause of the problem and took immediate action to introduce and 
communicate change processes to all relevant staff to prevent a recurrence.  These were 
applied to the September 2016 payroll processes (apart from one minor omission).

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the recommendations that were made.

Summary of Special Investigations/Counter Fraud Activities

Current Status

The Counter Fraud Team within Internal Audit (IA) has received 12 new referrals in 2016/17 
to date, and 10 cases referred in 2015/16 and 2014/15 continue to be investigated in 
2016/17. Six of these have now been completed, all of which have previously been reported 
to the Audit and Governance Committee. In addition, IA continues to be involved in counter 
fraud work concerning staff travel, and following-up irregularities with management as they 
arise, including one break-in at a Library, where the till was stolen with a small amount of 
cash. This was reported to the Police.

New referrals in 2016/17

Five of the cases received in 2016/17 have been closed. Two of these involved the 
overpayment of staff that had reduced their contracted hours but pay had not been adjusted. 
In each case it was a question of the manager not completing the appropriate paperwork. 
Internal Audit therefore asked that a reminder be put in the HR Manager’s briefing to remind 
managers of the need to complete paperwork for staff contract changes in a timely manner, 
which has been actioned. In addition in both cases the members of staff have 
repaid/arrangements are in hand to recover the salary overpayment.

Page 138



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

32

The other cases involved the misuse of petty cash for staff refreshments at an 
establishment, a false reference in the Council’s name, in respect of a teacher applying for a 
teaching post, and fraudulent requests for payment made by a fraudster masquerading as a 
senior member of staff.  In the case of the misuse of petty cash the practice has now 
stopped and disciplinary action has been taken against two members of staff. In respect of 
the teacher using a false reference, the National Council for Teaching and Learning and the 
Education Workforce Council (EWC) Wales have been informed of the person involved, who 
is currently prohibited from teaching and has been providing false references, with an 
assumed name. 

Many of the cases referred to Internal Audit involve intricate detail and Police referral. This 
invariably results in delay before the investigation can be classed as closed and reported to 
the Audit and Governance Committee.

The Committee can also take assurance that all special investigations/counter fraud 
activities are reported to the Statutory Officers namely the Chief Executive, Monitoring 
Officer and Director of Finance, on a monthly basis.

Fraud Risk Assessment / Risk Register

A fraud risk register has been produced, the outcome of which will inform future Internal 
Audit activity.

National Fraud Initiative (NFI)

Internal Audit continues to support the NFI which is a biennial data matching exercise 
administered by the Cabinet Office. The data was collected throughout October 2016 and 
reports will start to be received from the middle to the end of January 2017. Examples of 
data sets include insurance, payroll, pensions, private supported care home patients / 
residential care homes, transport, personal budgets / direct payments and creditors.  Not all 
matches are investigated but where possible all recommended matches are reviewed by 
either Internal Audit or the appropriate service area.

The outcomes of the review will be provided to the Audit and Governance Committee. 

Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement and Strategy, Anti Bribery Policy and Anti 
Money Laundering Policy 2017 – 2019. 

Effective governance requires the Council to promote values for the authority and 
demonstrate the values of good governance through upholding high standards of conduct 
and behaviour. To enable this, the Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally 2016–2019 
Strategy has been developed by local authorities and counter fraud experts and supported 
by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Counter Fraud 
Centre. It is the definitive guide for council leaders, chief executives, finance directors and all 
those with governance responsibilities. The strategy includes practical steps for fighting 
fraud, shares best practice and brings clarity to the changing anti-fraud and corruption 
landscape.

Page 139



Appendix 1 Appendix 1

33

The Chief Internal Auditor has undertaken a self-assessment against the new guidance to 
measure the Council’s counter fraud and corruption culture and response and propose 
enhancements as required. As such, a revised Anti Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement 
and Strategy, Anti Bribery Policy and Anti Money Laundering Policy 2017 -2019 has been 
developed and will be presented to the Audit and Governance Committee on 20th January 
2017. 

Page 140



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion
Reported to Audit 
and Governance 
Committe

Comments

Core Council National Insurance Contributions High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 20/01/2017
Core Council Approval of Payments for Agency Staff High Planned
Core Council Budget Setting High Audit in Progress
Core Council BSC Payroll - Follow up of limited assurance report High Draft Report Issued
Core Council Capital: Virements and Delegated Powers Limited Assurance Follow Up High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 20/01/2017
Core Council Compliance with Debt Policy High Planned
Core Council Contractor Partnering Framework Agreement: Major Construction Works High Planned
Core Council ContrOCC (ICT) High Audit in Progress
Core Council Cyber Security High Audit in Progress
Core Council Database Administration and Security (Oracle - SQL) High Audit in Progress
Core Council Duplicate Payments - Fiscal Technology High Planned
Core Council Dynamic Purchasing System - Asset Management Property Services (AMPS) High Planned

Core Council Fire and Rescue (Application and Database Security) High Cancelled Home Office invoked IT Healthcheck within GFRS
Core Council Follow up audits (TIAA) High Planned
Core Council GCC Websites (to include Libraries Website Payments) High Audit in Progress
Core Council ICT Managed Services Contract - Steria High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 20/01/2017
Core Council Payroll - Payments to Third Parties High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 20/01/2017
Core Council Recruitment / Promotion High Draft Report Issued
Core Council Review of Contract Monitoring of Schools Catering Contract High Audit in Progress
Core Council SAP Access Controls High Deferred Due to current Capgemini / External Audit review
Core Council SAP Interfaces High Audit in Progress
Core Council Staff Expense Claims - MtC Support High Audit in Progress Consultancy
Core Council VAT High Audit in Progress
Core Council Vendor Master Data High Planned
Core Council BACS payments - Creditors and Payroll Medium Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 16/09/2016
Core Council Consolidated Invoices Medium Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 16/09/2016
Core Council Freedom of Information Requests (FOI) Medium Cancelled FOI review undertaken by Information Management 

Service
Core Council Retrospective orders Medium Audit in Progress
Core Council Staff Expenses Claims High Audit in Progress
Core Council Payroll - Late Payment High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 20/01/2017 New Activity
Core Council Review of Statutory Compliance Arrangements (brought forward) High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 16/09/2016
Core Council Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service - Information Security High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 16/09/2016
Core Council Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service - Information Security follow up 

review
High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 16/09/2016

Core Council Data Storage - Structures (brought forward) High Final Report Issued Limited Limited 16/09/2016
Core Council Change Management (brought forward) High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 16/09/2016
Core Council Highways Network Asset High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 20/01/2017 Consultancy
Core Council Joint working GCC & NHS - Information Governance Review (brought 

forward)
High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 16/09/2016 Consultancy

Adults Active Together - Healthy Together - and Children’s Activity Fund Limited 
Assurance Follow Up

High Audit in Progress

Adults Annual Care Assessment Process (re-assessment-reviews) High Audit in Progress
Adults Better Care Fund Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 20/01/2017
Adults Community Capacity - Capital grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 16/09/2016
Adults Contract Management Arrangements Adults and Public Health High Audit in Progress
Adults ContrOCC (Adults) High Planned
Adults Deaths and Discharges Limited Assurance Follow Up High Planned
Adults Direct Payments (Adults - Older People (OP)) - Consultancy High Planned
Adults Electronic Call Monitoring (ECM) - Learning Disabilities (LD) High Audit in Progress
Adults Electronic Call Monitoring (ECM) - Older People (OP) High Planned
Adults Financial Assessment and Benefits Team Limited Assurance Follow Up High Planned
Adults Gloucestershire Care Partnership (Order of St John (OSJ)) Limited High Audit in Progress
Adults Community Equipment Stock - Gloucestershire Industrial Services (GIS) High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 16/09/2016
Adults Mental Health Services High Planned
Adults Outcome Based Commissioning High Planned
Adults Reshaping of Delivery Function - All Age Disability High Planned
Adults Social Care Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 16/09/2016
Adults Transforming Care Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 16/09/2016
Adults Workforce Development of Social Workers - Limited Assurance Follow Up High Planned

Page 1 of 2

P
age 141



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion
Reported to Audit 
and Governance 
Committe

Comments

Adults Gloucestershire Industrial Services - Stock Control Medium Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 16/09/2016
Adults Spot Purchase of Day Care Medium Planned
Adults Deferred Payments (brought forward) High Audit in Progress
Children & Families Alternative Provision School High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 16/09/2016
Children & Families Communication and Interaction Centre 1 High Audit in Progress
Children & Families Communication and Interaction Centre 2 High Audit in Progress
Children & Families ContrOCC (Children's) High Planned
Children & Families Early Years - 2 year olds High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 20/01/2017
Children & Families Gloucestershire Music Service Limited Assurance Follow Up High Audit in Progress
Children & Families PODS Trial Glos City High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 16/09/2016 Consultancy
Children & Families Referral and Assessment processes High Planned
Children & Families Primary School 1 High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 16/09/2016
Children & Families Section 17 - Children's Act Spend (non-Auriga) High Planned
Children & Families Section 20 - Children's Act High Audit in Progress
Children & Families Troubled Families Grant (Claim 1) High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 20/01/2017
Children & Families Troubled Families Grant (Claim 2) High Planned
Children & Families Children in Care Project Medium Audit in Progress
Children & Families Recoupment Medium Deferred
Children & Families Section 17 Spend (Auriga) Medium Audit in Progress
Children & Families Contact Team (brought forward) High Final Report Issued Limited Limited 16/09/2016
Children & Families Child Sexual Exploitation (brought forward) High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 16/09/2016
Children & Families Direct Payments (Childrens) - brought forward High Final Report Issued Limited Limited 16/09/2016
Children & Families Child Protection Conference Team (brought forward) High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 16/09/2016
Children & Families Recruitment of Social Workers within Children and Families - brought forward High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 16/09/2016

Communities Accountable Body - Homes and Communities Agency High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 20/01/2017
Communities Fire and Rescue Capital Funding Grants High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 16/09/2016
Communities Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service - Control Room Refresh Project High Draft Report Issued
Communities Highways and Transportation Services contract  High Planned
Communities Highways Maintenance Challenge Fund - Grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 16/09/2016
Communities Household Recycling Centre Contract High Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 16/09/2016
Communities Local Enterprise Partnership Growth Fund High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 20/01/2017
Communities Local Transport Capital Block Funding (Integrated Transport and Highways 

Maintenance) grant
High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 16/09/2016

Communities Public Transport Contracts - Decision Making Limited Assurance Follow Up High Planned
Communities Residual Waste Construction Phase High Audit in Progress
Communities Street Lighting - LED Replacement and Term Maintenance Contract High Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 20/01/2017
Communities Streetworks High Planned
Communities Fleet Management Medium Planned
Communities Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service - Business Continuity Management Medium Planned

Communities Integrated Transport Unit - Use of a Dynamic Purchasing System Medium Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 20/01/2017
Communities Trading Standards - Use of Surveillance Medium Planned
Communities Highways: Environmental Maintenance and Safety Maintenance Medium Planned
Communities Local Growth Fund 2015-16 - grant High Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 16/09/2016 New Activity
Communities Fire & Rescue IT - Follow Up High Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 16/09/2016
Communities Bus Subsidy Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant High Audit in Progress New Activity
Communities Risk Management of the Residual Waste New Contract - brought forward High Cancelled Included within the Residual Waste Construction 

Phase audit
Pensions Pension Payments High Audit in Progress
Pensions Management of LGPS High Audit in Progress Reported within the Annual Governance Statement
Pensions Teachers Pensions Scheme High Cancelled Not Applicable Not Applicable Audit to be undertaken by External Audit

Exempt Limited Assurance Report High Final Report Issued Limited Limited 20/01/2017 Brought forward

Page 2 of 2

P
age 142



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 20th January 2017 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Internal Audit (IA) Charter 2016 – 2018

Purpose of Report: The purpose of this report is to inform Members of revisions to the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) which were effective 
from 1st April 2016 and propose an updated Internal Audit Charter to 
reflect these amendments. 

Recommendation: It is recommended that the Committee reviews and considers the IA 
Charter and to formally approve its adoption. 
(Please note all changes to the Internal Audit Charter have been noted 
in red and italics).

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer: Chief Internal Auditor. Tel: 01452 328883
Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Jo Walker: Finance Director. Tel: 01452 328469
joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks Non compliance with legislation / mandatory professional standards.  

Failure to deliver an effective Internal Audit service will prevent an 
independent, objective assurance opinion to be provided to those 
charged with governance that key risks associated with the 
achievement of the Council’s objectives are being adequately 
controlled. 

Background The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 2016 (attribute 
standard 1000) requires that all internal audit activities maintain an 
internal audit charter. However, there have been a small number of 
revisions to the standards these relating to:-

 The introduction of a mission statement for Internal Audit “To 
enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-
based and objective assurance, advice and insight”; and

 The adoption of ten core principles for the professional practice 
of internal auditing.

 

Page 143

Agenda Item 10

mailto:Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

INTERNAL AUDIT  

CHARTER 
2016-2018 

 

Page 145



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

1 
Internal Audit Charter 

Internal Audit 01452 328885 | January 2017  

 
 

Introduction 

Organisations in the UK public sector have historically been governed by an array of 

differing internal audit standards.  The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), 

which took effect from the 1st April 2013 (updated 2016), provide a consolidated approach 

across the whole of the public sector enabling continuity, sound corporate governance and 

transparency. 

 

The Standards form part of the wider mandatory elements of the International Professional 

Practices Framework (IPPF) which also includes the mission; core principles; definition of 

internal audit; and Code of Ethics. 

 

The Standards require all internal audit activities to implement and retain an ‘Internal Audit 

Charter’.  The purpose of the Charter is to formally define Internal Audit’s statutory role, 

responsibility, status and authority within Gloucestershire County Council.  

 

Mission and Core Principles 

The IPPF’s overarching “Mission” for Internal Audit services is: 

 

“…to enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective 

assurance, advice and insight”. 
 

The “Core Principles” that underpin delivery of the IPPF mission require internal audit 

functions to: 

 

 Demonstrate integrity; 

 Be objective and free from undue influence (independent); 

 Align with the strategies, objectives and risks of the organisation; 

 Be appropriately positioned and adequately resourced; 

 Demonstrate quality and continuous improvement; 

 Communicate effectively; 

 Provide risk-based assurance; 

 Be insightful, proactive, and future-focused; and 

 Promote organisational improvement. 

 

 

 

 

Page 146



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

2 
Internal Audit Charter 

Internal Audit 01452 328885 | January 2017  

 
 

Authority 

Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 

All local authorities must make proper provision for internal audit in line with the 1972 Local 

Government Act (Section 151) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The latter 

requires authorities to: 

 

“…undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk 

management, control and governance processes taking into account public sector internal 

auditing standards or guidance.” 

 

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 

The guidance accompanying the Regulations currently recognises the Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 2016, as representing “proper internal audit practices”. 

These standards define the way in which the Internal Audit Service should be established 

and undertake its functions.  

 

The PSIAS also requires a mandatory Code of Ethics, which promotes an ethical and 

professional culture. It does not supersede or replace internal auditor’s ‘own professional 

bodies’ code of ethics or those of employing organisations. In addition, all internal auditors 

in the public sector must have regard to the Committee on Standards in Public Life’s Seven 

Principles of Public Life. A statement of conformance with the standards is required. 

 

Purpose 

The County Council (management) is responsible for establishing and maintaining 

appropriate risk management processes, control systems, accounting records and 

governance arrangements.  Internal audit plays a vital role in advising the Council that 

these arrangements are in place and operating effectively.  

 

It is important to think of the internal auditor as the organisation’s critical friend, someone 

who can challenge current practice, champion best practice and support management in 

improvement, so that the organisation as a whole achieves its strategic outcomes, priorities 

and objectives.  

 

Page 147



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

3 
Internal Audit Charter 

Internal Audit 01452 328885 | January 2017  

 
 

This is achieved through internal audit providing a combination of assurance and consulting 

activities. The role of internal audit is best summarised through its mandatory definition 

within the Standards, as:  

 

‘an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and 

improve an organisation’s operations.  It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by 

bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of 

risk management, control and governance processes’.  

 

Assurance 
 

The profession of internal audit is fundamentally concerned with evaluating an 

organisation’s management of risk. The key to an organisation’s success is to manage 

those risks effectively, as stakeholders demand.  

 

The primary role of the internal auditor is to provide independent, objective assurance to 

Members and management that key risks are being managed effectively. To do this, the 

internal auditor will evaluate the quality of risk management processes, systems of internal 

control and corporate governance processes, across all parts of the Council, (taking into 

consideration other relevant internal and external assurance providers) and to provide an 

annual opinion on the effectiveness of these arrangements. This opinion supports the 

Council’s Annual Governance Statement. 

 

Assisting management in the improvement of internal controls 

As well as providing assurance, an internal auditor’s knowledge of the management of risk 

enables them to act as a consultant and provide support for improvement in the Council's 

procedures.  

 

Accountability/Responsibility 

The accountability for maintaining an adequate and effective system of internal audit within 

Gloucestershire County Council lies with the Finance Director, as the authority’s Chief 

Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer). 

 

Page 148



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

4 
Internal Audit Charter 

Internal Audit 01452 328885 | January 2017  

 
 

The Chief Internal Auditor is responsible for effectively managing the internal audit activity 

in accordance with the ‘Mission’, ‘Core Principles’, ‘Definition of Internal Auditing’, the ‘Code 

of Ethics’ and ‘the Standards’. 

 

In addition, for the purposes of this Charter, the following definitions shall apply regarding 

responsibilities in relation to Internal Audit: 

 

Definition Details Responsibility in relation to 

Internal Audit at GCC 

The Board The governance group charged with 

providing independent assurance on 

the adequacy of the control 

environment, comprising risk 

management, control and governance. 

Audit and Governance 

Committee. 

 

Senior 

Management 

Those responsible for the management 

of the Council. 

Corporate Management Team 

 

Position in the organisation 

The Chief Internal Auditor reports functionally to the Board, and organisationally to the 

Finance Director (Section 151 Officer).  

 

Right of Access 

The Chief Internal Auditor has the right of direct access to the Statutory Officers, i.e. Chief 

Executive, Monitoring Officer and the Chief Financial Officer (s151 Officer). 

 

Where it is considered necessary for the proper discharge of the internal audit function, the 

Chief Internal Auditor has the right of direct access to elected Members of the Council and 

in particular those who serve on committees charged with governance (i.e. the Audit and 

Governance Committee). 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 149



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

5 
Internal Audit Charter 

Internal Audit 01452 328885 | January 2017  

 
 

To provide independent assurances to senior management and the board, internal audit, 

with strict accountability for confidentiality and safeguarding records and information, is 

granted full, free and unrestricted access to all personnel, documents, personal records, 

other records, assets, and premises, belonging to the County Council and/or its key delivery 

partner organisations, as considered necessary for the purposes of the audit. 

 

In addition, internal audit has authority to obtain such information and explanations as it 

considers necessary to fulfil its responsibilities.  

 

If required, this access should not be subject to prior notice, which extends to partner 

bodies and external contractors working on behalf of the council. Internal audit’s right of 

access to third parties should be reflected in contracts and service level agreements. 

 

All employees are requested to assist the internal audit activity in fulfilling its roles and 

responsibilities. 

 

Independence and objectivity 

The Internal Audit activity will remain free from interference by any element in the 

organisation in determining the scope of activity, performing work and communicating 

results. Internal auditors must: 

 

 be sufficiently independent of the activities they audit to enable them to provide 

impartial, unbiased and effective professional judgements and advice;  

 exhibit the highest level of professional objectivity in gathering, evaluating and 

communicating information about the activity or process being examined; and 

 make a balanced assessment of all the relevant circumstances and not be duly 

influenced by their own interests or by others in forming judgements and opinions. 

 

To achieve the degree of independence and objectivity necessary to effectively discharge 

its responsibilities, effective arrangements are in place within Gloucestershire County 

Council, to ensure the internal audit activity: 

 

 operates in a framework that allows unrestricted access to ‘Senior Management’ and 

‘the Board’; 

 reports functionally to ‘the Board’; 

 reports in their own name; 

Page 150



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

6 
Internal Audit Charter 

Internal Audit 01452 328885 | January 2017  

 
 

 rotates responsibilities for audit assignments within the internal audit team; 

 freedom to determine its priorities; 

 completes individual annual declarations confirming compliance with rules on ethics, 

independence, objectivity, conflicts of interest, the Bribery Act 2010 and acceptance 

of inducements; and 

 ensures the planning process recognise and address potential conflicts of interest 

through internal audit staff not undertaking an audit for at least two years in an area 

where they have had previous operational roles and/or undertaken consulting 

activity; 

 ensures independence and objectivity where executive or operational responsibilities 

lie with the Chief Internal Auditor i.e. In addition to managing the internal audit 

function, The Chief Internal Auditor is also responsible for managing Risk 

Management and Insurance Services (RMIS).  

However, any audit activity undertaken within RMIS is managed by a Principal 

Auditor (specifically nominated as the activity manager), with no undue influence 

from the Chief Internal Auditor, and overseen by the Head of Financial Management. 

Apart from RMIS, the internal audit service does not have any executive 

responsibilities and is independent of all audited activities. 

 

The Chief Internal Auditor will confirm to the board at least annually that the internal audit 

activity is organisationally independent. 

 

If there has been any real or apparent impairment of independence or objectivity, the details 

of the impairment will be disclosed to ‘Senior Management’ and ‘the Board’.  The nature of 

the disclosure will depend upon the impairment. 

 

To ensure the independence of the Chief Internal Auditor is safeguarded and that 

remuneration and performance assessment are not inappropriately influenced by those 

subject to audit, the Finance Director will contribute to the performance appraisal of the 

Chief Internal Auditor.  

 

Internal audit resources 

The Chief Internal Auditor will be professionally qualified (CMIIA, CCAB or equivalent) and 

have wide ranging internal audit, risk management and management experience. 

 

Page 151



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

7 
Internal Audit Charter 

Internal Audit 01452 328885 | January 2017  

 
 

The Finance Director will provide the Chief Internal Auditor with the resources necessary to 

fulfil the County Council’s requirements and to meet statutory obligations. The internal audit 

budget is reported to Cabinet and Full Council for approval annually as part of the overall 

Council budget. 

 

The Chief Internal Auditor will ensure that the internal audit service has access to an 

appropriate range of knowledge, skills, personal attributes, qualifications, experience and 

competencies required to perform and deliver its responsibilities. In addition to in-house 

internal audit resource, the Chief Internal Auditor may engage the use of external resources 

where it is considered appropriate, including the use of specialist providers e.g. IT internal 

audit provision and counter fraud specialists. 

 

The plan will be kept under review to ensure it remains responsive to the changing priorities 

and risks of the County Council.  

 

Significant matters that jeopardise the delivery of the plan or require changes to the plan will 

be identified, addressed and reported to ‘Senior Management’ and ‘the Board’.  

‘Senior Management’ and ‘the Board’ will be advised where, for whatever reason, internal 

audit is unable to provide assurance on any significant risks within the annual internal audit 

plan, due to limitations on resources. 

If ‘Senior Management’, ‘the Board’ or the Chief Internal Auditor, consider that the scope or 

coverage of internal audit is limited in any way, or the ability of internal audit to deliver a 

service consistent with the Standards is prejudiced, they will advise the Finance Director 

accordingly. 

 

Proficiency and Due Professional Care 

Internal auditors will perform work in accordance with the PSIAS and with due professional 

care, competence and diligence. Internal auditors cannot be expected to identify every risk, 

control weakness or irregularity but their work should be designed to enable them to provide 

reasonable assurance that the key risks (including the consideration of fraud and 

information technology risks) within the scope of their review, are being effectively 

controlled / managed, taking into consideration the relative complexity, materiality or 

significance of matters to which assurance procedures are applied. Auditors will take into 

consideration the cost of assurance, in relation to the potential benefits and risk exposure. 

Page 152



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

8 
Internal Audit Charter 

Internal Audit 01452 328885 | January 2017  

 
 

 

Internal Auditors will be required to undertake a programme of Continuing Professional 

Development in order to develop and maintain their professional and behavioural skills, 

competencies and knowledge.  

 

Relationship with External Audit/Other Relevant Assurance 

Providers/Regulatory Bodies 
 

Internal Audit will liaise, share information and co-ordinate its activities with internal and 

external providers of assurance to ensure there is adequate coverage and minimise 

duplication of effort. Where other external and internal assurance providers have 

undertaken assurance work, Internal Audit will seek to rely on the work of these other 

providers, if deemed relevant.  

 

Scope of Internal Audit Activities 

Assurance 

The service is responsible for providing assurance across the Council’s entire ‘control 

environment’, comprising risk management, control and governance. This means that the 

scope includes all of the Council’s operations, resources, services and responsibilities to 

enable the Chief Internal Auditor to provide an annual opinion. However, in addition to the 

core assurance activity, Internal Audit also provides the following services: 

 

Anti-Fraud and Corruption 

Managing the risk of fraud and corruption is the responsibility of management. Internal Audit 

procedures alone, even when performed with due professional care, cannot guarantee that 

fraud and corruption will be detected. However, whilst Internal Audit does not have 

responsibility for the detection or prevention of fraud and corruption, Internal Audit fully 

considers the risk of fraud and corruption when undertaking its activities. 

 

Investigations into potential financial irregularities are undertaken by Internal Audit, whether 

reported directly to the Chief Internal Auditor, or referred by the Monitoring Officer, as 

required under the Council’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement and Strategy and 

Whistleblowing Policy. The scope and approach taken to the investigation is dependent 

upon the nature of the allegations, which may also require referral to the police or other 

enforcement agencies.  

Page 153



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

9 
Internal Audit Charter 

Internal Audit 01452 328885 | January 2017  

 
 

In certain circumstances, Internal Audit may delegate the investigation of specific 

allegations to the service itself following an assessment of risk and financial impact. 

 

On completion, findings are reported to an appropriate level of management, who will then 

be responsible for determining action to be taken. 

 

Internal Audit also facilitates the County Council’s participation in the National Fraud 

Initiative (NFI) in which data from the Council’s main systems are matched with data 

supplied from other Local Authorities and external agencies to detect potential fraudulent 

activity. 

 

Consultancy 

The service also undertakes consultancy work designed to improve the effectiveness of risk 

management, control and governance processes at the request of the Council, subject to 

there being no material impact on the core assurance activity and the availability of skills 

and resources. 

 

Due to Internal Audit’s knowledge of the Council’s systems and processes Internal Audit is 

well placed to provide risk and control advice and support to managers on potential 

implications of changes to policy, process and/or systems. The provision of such advice 

does not prejudice Internal Audit’s right to evaluate the established systems and controls at 

a later date. 

 

In order to help services to develop a greater understanding of audit activity and have a 

point of contact in relation to any support they may need, Internal Audit has put in place a 

set of service liaison arrangements that provides a specific named contact for each service 

and regular liaison meetings. The arrangements also enable Internal Audit to keep in touch 

with key changes and developments within services that may impact on its work.  

 

Other Activity 

The Chief Internal Auditor, may, at the request of ‘the Board’ or ‘Senior Management’, carry 

out investigations into issues where the Council’s strategic, operational and/or financial 

interests are at stake. 

 

Page 154



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

10 
Internal Audit Charter 

Internal Audit 01452 328885 | January 2017  

 
 

The Chief Internal Auditor shall seek approval from the Board for any significant additional 

consultancy services/other activity not already included in the Annual Internal Audit Plan, 

prior to accepting the engagement, if this materially affects the core assurance activity. 

 

Internal Audit Planning 

 

The Chief Internal Auditor will produce an Annual Risk Based Internal Audit Plan to 

determine the priorities of the internal audit activity.  

 

These plans are developed in consultation with senior managers across the Council with 

the proposed activity taking account of the Council’s priorities, objectives, risk management 

framework, including risk appetite levels set by management and internal audits own 

judgement of risks.  

 

To ensure internal audit resources continue to be focussed accordingly, particularly during 

periods of radical change, it is essential that Internal Audit understand the Council’s’ needs, 

which means building relationships with key stakeholders, which includes the Audit and 

Governance Committee, in order to gain crucial insight and ongoing ‘intelligence’ into the 

strategic and operational change agendas within Council.  

 

This insight is not only at the initial development stages of the plan but dialogue continues 

throughout the financial year(s) which increases the ability for the internal audit service to 

adapt more closely to meet the assurance needs of the Council. The plan is therefore 

dynamic and flexible to meet these needs.  

 

‘Senior Management’ will be consulted on the Annual Risk Based Internal Audit Plans, 

which will detail the Internal Audit activities and submitted to ‘the Board’, for approval. The 

Chief Internal Auditor will be responsible for delivery of the plan.  

 

Reporting 

Reporting to Management 

A written report will be prepared and issued by the Chief Internal Auditor or designee 

following the conclusion of each Internal Audit activity and will be distributed as appropriate.  

Page 155



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

11 
Internal Audit Charter 

Internal Audit 01452 328885 | January 2017  

 
 

The Internal Audit report will include management’s response, corrective action taken, or to 

be taken and target dates in regard to specific findings and recommendations. Internal Audit 

will follow up all high priority recommendations made. 

 

Reporting to ‘the Board’ and ‘Senior Management’ 

The Board (at Gloucestershire County Council the Audit and Governance Committee) 

The Chief Internal Auditor shall deliver an annual internal audit opinion and report (and 

quarterly progress reports on Internal Audit activity) to ‘the Board’ that helps to inform the 

Council’s Annual Governance Statement. 

 

The annual internal audit report and opinion will conclude on the overall adequacy and 

effectiveness of the organisations framework of governance, risk management and control. 

The annual report will include, as a minimum: 

 

 The opinion; 

 A summary of the work that supports the opinion; 

 A statement of conformance with the PSIAS; and 

 The results of the quality assurance and improvement programme. 

 

Organisational independence is effectively achieved when the Chief Internal Auditor reports 

functionally to the Board. Such reporting will include: 
 

 approving the internal audit charter; 

 approving the annual risk based internal audit plan; 

 receiving communications from the Chief Internal Auditor on the internal audit 

activity’s performance relative to its plan and other matters, including the annual 

report and opinion; 

 receiving and considering major Internal Audit findings and recommendations; 

 monitoring management’s response to Internal Audit findings and the implementation 

of the recommendations; 

 making appropriate enquiries of management and the Chief Internal Auditor to 

determine whether there are inappropriate scope and resource limitations; 

 agreeing the scope and form of the external assessment as part of the quality 

assurance and improvement plan; 

Page 156



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

12 
Internal Audit Charter 

Internal Audit 01452 328885 | January 2017  

 
 

 receiving the results of internal and external assessments of the quality assurance 

and improvement programme, including areas of non-conformance with professional 

standards; and 

 approving significant consulting services not already included in the audit plan, prior 

to acceptance of the engagement, if this materially impacts on core assurance 

activity. 

 

Senior Management  

As those responsible for the management of the Council it is imperative that the Corporate 

Management Team is engaged in: 

 

 reviewing and being consulted on the internal audit charter; 

 reviewing and being consulted on the risk based internal audit plan; 

 receiving communications from the Chief Internal Auditor on the internal audit 

activity’s performance relative to its plan and other matters; 

 making appropriate enquiries of management and the Chief Internal Auditor to 

determine whether there are inappropriate scope and resource limitations; and 

 receiving the results of internal and external assessments of the quality assurance 

and improvement programme, including areas of non-conformance. 

 

Within Gloucestershire County Council, the Finance Director and the Chief Internal Auditor 

ensure that all of the above are brought to the attention of the Corporate Management 

Team. 

 

Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) 

The PSIAS require that the Internal Audit function is subject to a quality assurance and 

improvement programme that must include both internal and external assessments. The 

Chief Internal Auditor has developed and implemented a QAIP that covers all aspects of the 

internal audit activity which enables conformance with all aspects of the PSIAS to be 

evaluated.  

 

In addition, the Chief Internal Auditor will communicate to the Senior Management and the 

Board on the internal audit activity’s QAIP, including results of annual internal assessments 

and external assessments conducted at least every five years.  

Page 157



Internal Audit Charter – Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

13 
Internal Audit Charter 

Internal Audit 01452 328885 | January 2017  

 
 

The external assessment will be undertaken by a qualified, independent assessor or 

assessment team from outside the Council. Progress against any improvement plans 

agreed following external assessment, will be reported in the Internal Audit Annual Report.  

 

The Chief Internal Auditor will discuss options for the assessment jointly with the Finance 

Director and the ‘Board’.  

Page 158



Audit and Governance Committee
Date: 20th January 2017 Agenda No:

Title of Report: Anti Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement and Strategy (including 
the Anti Bribery Policy and Anti Money Laundering Policy) 2017 – 
2019.

Purpose of Report: The purpose of this report is for Audit and Governance Committee to 
consider and comment on the refreshed Council’s Anti Fraud and 
Corruption Policy Statement and Strategy, including the Anti Bribery 
Policy and Anti Money Laundering Policy 2017-2019 and recommend 
its approval to Cabinet. 

Recommendation: It is recommended that Audit and Governance Committee:

 reviews and considers the proposed Anti Fraud and Corruption 
Policy Statement and Strategy, including the Anti Bribery Policy 
and Anti Money Laundering Policy 2017-2019 and to 
recommend its approval to Cabinet; and   

 agree that the strategy and policies, once endorsed by Cabinet, 
are disseminated to managers in accordance with a 
Communications Plan, to reaffirm the Council’s anti fraud 
culture and objectives.

Officer (s) Contact: Theresa Mortimer: Chief Internal Auditor. Tel: 01452 328883
Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Jo Walker: Finance Director. Tel: 01452 328469
joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Key Risks: Non compliance with legislation / mandatory professional standards.  

Failure to fight fraud and implement an effective Anti Fraud and 
Corruption culture means that for every pound lost through fraud 
cannot be spent on providing public services.

Background: The strategy is based upon three key themes: Acknowledge, Prevent 
and Pursue and adheres to the Local Government Counter Fraud and 
Corruption Strategy 2016 - 2019: Fighting Fraud and Corruption 
Locally, which is supported by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA) Counter Fraud Centre.

Page 159

Agenda Item 11

mailto:Theresa.Mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

   

 

 
  Anti-fraud  

 
 
and Corruption 
Policy Statement and Strategy 

2017-2019 
 

December 2016 

Page 161



 

2 

 

Contents 
 

 

Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement ........................................................................ 3 

Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy ....................................................................................... 4 

What is Fraud? ........................................................................................................................4 

What is corruption? ...............................................................................................................5 

What is bribery? .....................................................................................................................5 

What is theft? .........................................................................................................................5 

What is money laundering? ..................................................................................................5 

Scope ........................................................................................................................................... 6 

What are the aims and objectives of the strategy? ............................................................. 6 

What is GCC’s approach to Countering Fraud? .................................................................... 7 

Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption ......................................................................7 

Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally: Acknowledge, Prevent, Pursue .......................... 8 

Responsibilities .......................................................................................................................... 9 

Reporting, Advice and Support ............................................................................................. 10 

Further Information ................................................................................................................ 11 

Strategy Review ....................................................................................................................... 11 

Appendix 1 Key fraud indicators ........................................................................................... 12 

Appendix 2 Types of Fraud .................................................................................................... 13 

Appendix 3 GCC’s Fraud Response Plan .............................................................................. 14 

Appendix 4 Anti-Bribery Policy .............................................................................................. 15 

Appendix 5 Anti-Money Laundering Policy .......................................................................... 17 

 

  

Page 162



 

3 

Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement  
 

 

Fraud costs the UK economy around £193 billion a year – equating to more 

than £6,000 lost per second every day. It dwarfs previous estimates 

produced by the UK Government which put the figure at around £50 billion in 

2013. Fraud in the public sector is around £37.5 billion and is equivalent to 

5.5 per cent of the £694 billion spent annually. 

This statement sets out the council’s policy in relation to fraud and corruption. It has the full 

support of the Cabinet, the council’s Audit and Governance Committee and the Corporate 

Management Team.  

The council takes its responsibilities to protect the public purse very seriously and is fully 

committed to the highest ethical standards, in order to ensure the proper use and protection of 

public funds and assets.  

The council will not tolerate fraud or corruption by its councillors, employees, suppliers, 

contractors, partners or service users and will take all necessary steps to investigate all 

allegations of fraud or corruption and pursue sanctions available in each case, including removal 

from office, disciplinary action, dismissal and/or prosecution. The required ethical standards are 

included in both our Members Code of Conduct and Employees Code of Conduct (Word). 

To fulfil the council’s Strategy, we need to maximise the financial resources available to us. In 

order to do this, we aim to reduce fraud and misappropriation to zero. 

This policy statement is underpinned by an Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy, which sets out 

the key responsibilities with regard to fraud prevention, what to do if fraud is suspected and the 

action that will be taken by management.  

The strategy is based upon three key themes: Acknowledge, Prevent and Pursue and adheres 

to the Local Government Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy 2016 - 2019: Fighting Fraud and 

Corruption Locally, which is supported by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy (CIPFA) Counter Fraud Centre. 

 

 

 

Acknowledging and

 

Prevent Pursue 
 
Preventing and detecting more Being stronger in punishing

fraud and recovering losses 

Making better use of  
fraud  risks. information and technology. the use of civil sanctions. 
 

Committing support and Enhancing fraud controls and 

resource to tackling fraud. capacity to punish fraudsters. 
 

Maintaining a robust anti-fraud Developing a more effective anti 

fraud  culture. other local authorities and with 
 

Page 163

http://www.experian.co.uk/identity-and-fraud/public-sector.html


 

4 

Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy 
 

 

Gloucestershire County Council has a zero tolerance stance to all forms of fraud, corruption and 

theft, both from within the council and from external sources.  We recognise fraud can: 

 

 Undermine the standards of public service that the council is attempting to achieve; 

 Reduce the level of resources and services available for the residents of Gloucestershire; 

and 

 Result in major consequences which reduce public confidence in the Council. 

 

What is Fraud? 

Fraud is defined by the Fraud Act 2006 (at UK Legislation) as follows: 

A person is guilty of fraud if she/he is in breach of any of the following: 

 

 

 Fraud by false representation: that is if a person: 

(a) Dishonestly makes a false representation; and 

(b) Intends, by making the representation: 

(1) To make a gain for him/herself or another; or 

(2) To cause loss to another or to expose another to the risk of loss. 

 

 Fraud by failing to disclose information: that is if a person: 

(a) Dishonestly fails to disclose to another person information which she/he is under a legal 

duty to disclose; and 

(b) Intends, by failing to disclose the information: 

(1) to make gain for him/herself or another; or 

(2) to cause loss to another or to expose another to the risk of loss. 

 

 Fraud by abuse of position: that is if a person: 

(a) Occupies a position in which he is expected to safeguard, or not to act against the 

financial interests of another person; 

(b) Dishonestly abuses that position; and 

(c) Intends, by means of the abuse of that position to: 

(1) Make a gain for her/himself or another; or 

(2) Cause loss to another or to expose another to the risk of loss. 

 

 

In addition the Fraud Act deals with offences relating to the possession of articles for use in fraud, 

making or supplying articles for use in frauds, participation by a sole trader in fraudulent 

business, and obtaining services dishonestly, personally or for another. 

  

Page 164

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/35/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


 

5 

What is corruption? 

Corruption is the deliberate misuse of your position for direct or indirect personal gain.  

“Corruption” includes offering, giving, requesting or accepting a bribe or reward, which influences 

your actions or the actions of someone else.  The Bribery Act 2010 (at UK Legislation) makes it 

possible for Senior Officers to be convicted where they are deemed to have given their consent 

or tacit approval in giving or receiving a bribe. 

The Act also created the Corporate Offence of “Failing to prevent bribery on behalf of a 

commercial organisation” (corporate liability). 

To protect itself against the corporate offence, the Act also requires organisations to have 

“adequate procedures in place to prevent bribery”.  This strategy, the GCC Codes of Conduct 

(Members and Employees) and the Council’s Confidential Reporting Procedure (Whistleblowing) 

are designed to meet that requirement. 

 

What is bribery? 

The Bribery Act 2010 came into force in the UK on 1st July 2011. It amends and reforms the UK 

criminal law and provides a modern legal framework to combat bribery in the UK and 

internationally. Staff need to be aware of their obligations under this Act, which sets out the 

criminality of accepting and giving of bribes. This applies to both individual staff and the Council 

corporately.  

The Bribery Act creates the following offences: 

 Active bribery: promising or giving a financial or other advantage; 

 Passive bribery: agreeing to receive or accepting a financial or other advantage; 

 Bribery of foreign public officials; and 

 The failure of commercial organisations to prevent bribery by an associated  

person (corporate offence). 

The penalty under the Bribery Act is an unlimited fine and/or imprisonment up to a maximum of 

10 years. These responsibilities are set out within the council’s Anti-Bribery Policy (Appendix 4). 

 

What is theft? 

Theft is the physical misappropriation of cash or other tangible assets.  A person is guilty of “theft” 

if he or she dishonestly takes property belonging to another, with the intention of permanently 

depriving the other of it. 

 

What is money laundering? 

Money Laundering is the process by which criminals attempt to ‘recycle’ the proceeds of their 

criminal activities in order to conceal its origin and ownership whilst retaining use of the funds. 

The burden of identifying and reporting acts of money laundering rests within the Council. Any 

service that receives money from an external person or body is potentially vulnerable to a money 

laundering operation. The need for vigilance is vital and any suspicion concerning the 

appropriateness of a transaction should be reported and advice sought from the Money 

Laundering Reporting Officer.  

The Council recognises its responsibilities under the Money Laundering Regulations 2007 and 

the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002. These responsibilities are set out within the council’s Anti-

Money Laundering Policy (Appendix 5). 

 

Page 165

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/23/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/
http://staffnet.gloscc.gov.uk/media/4666/GCC-Money-Laundering-Policy/doc/Money_Laundering_Policy_updated.doc
http://staffnet.gloscc.gov.uk/media/4666/GCC-Money-Laundering-Policy/doc/Money_Laundering_Policy_updated.doc
http://staffnet.gloscc.gov.uk/media/4666/GCC-Money-Laundering-Policy/doc/Money_Laundering_Policy_updated.doc


 

6 

Scope 
 

 

This strategy applies to: 

 

 All County Council employees (including volunteers and agency staff); 

 Councillors; 

 Staff and Committee Members of council funded voluntary organisations; 

 County Council’s partners; 

 NHS partners; 

 Local Authority maintained schools; 

 County Council suppliers, contractors and consultants; 

 Service Users; and 

 Gloucestershire residents. 

 

What are the aims and objectives of the strategy? 
 

We aim to: 

 

 Protect the council’s valuable resources by ensuring they are not lost through fraud but are 

used for improved services to Gloucestershire residents and visitors; 

 Create and promote an ‘anti-fraud’ culture which highlights the council’s zero tolerance of 

fraud, bribery, corruption and theft; 

 Provide a Counter Fraud Service which: 

 Ensures that the resources dedicated are sufficient and those involved are trained to 

deliver a professional counter fraud service to the highest standards; 

 Proactively deters, prevents and detects fraud, bribery, corruption and theft; 

 Investigates suspected or detected fraud, bribery, corruption and theft; 

 Enables the council to apply appropriate sanctions and recover all losses. In addition 

wherever possible the council seeks to recover all proven financial losses through court 

action or by invoicing an individual. Where an employee is a member of the Local 

Government Pension Scheme, Teachers Pension Scheme or one of the Firefighters 

Pension Schemes, then in accordance with the provisions of those pension schemes, the 

County Council will seek to recover any money owing as a result of that employee’s grave 

misconduct, criminal, negligent or fraudulent acts or omission from the employee’s 

pension benefits. Alternatively and again in accordance with the provisions of those 

pension schemes, the County Council will seek full forfeiture of that members pension 

benefits where applicable. 

 Provides recommendations to inform policy, system, risk management and control 

improvements, thereby reducing the council’s exposure to fraudulent activity; 

 Create an environment that enables the reporting of any genuine suspicions of fraudulent 

activity. However, we will not tolerate malicious or vexatious allegations or those motivated 

by personal gain and, if proven, we may take disciplinary or legal action; and 

 Work with our partners and other investigative bodies to strengthen and continuously 

improve our arrangements to prevent fraud and corruption. 

Page 166



 

7 

What is GCC’s approach to Countering Fraud? 
 

 
Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption  
 
 As with any risk faced by the council, it is the responsibility of managers to ensure that fraud 

risk is adequately considered when preparing risk assessments in support of achieving 

strategic priorities, business plan, projects and programmes objectives and outcomes. In 

making this assessment it is important to consider the risk of fraud occurring rather than the 

actual incidence of fraud having occurred in the past. Once the fraud risk has been 

evaluated, appropriate action should be taken to mitigate those risks on an ongoing basis.  

 Any changes in operations or the business environment must also be assessed to ensure 

any impacts, which might increase the risk or otherwise change the risk of fraud, bribery and 

corruption, are properly taken into account.  

 Good corporate governance procedures are a strong safeguard against fraud and 

corruption. Adequate supervision, recruitment and selection, scrutiny and healthy scepticism 

must not be seen as distrust but simply as good management practice shaping attitudes and 

creating an environment opposed to fraudulent activity.  

 Whilst all stakeholders in scope have a part to play in reducing the risk fraud, GCC’s 

Members, Directors and Management are ideally positioned to influence the ethical tone of 

the organisation and play a crucial role in fostering a culture of high ethical standards and 

integrity.  

 GCC will fulfil the responsibility to reduce fraud and protect our resources by a strategic 

approach consistent with that outlined in the Local Government Counter Fraud and 

Corruption Strategy 2016-2019 and CIPFA’s Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally 

publication. 

 

  

Page 167

http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally


 

8 

Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally: Acknowledge, 

Prevent, Pursue 
 

 

A
C

K
N

O
W

L
E

G
E

 

Committing Support The council’s commitment to tackling the threat of fraud is clear.  We 

have strong whistleblowing procedures and support those who come 

forward to report suspected fraud.  All reports will be treated seriously 

and acted upon.  We will not, however, tolerate malicious or vexatious 

allegations. 

Assessing Risks We will continuously assess those areas most vulnerable to the risk of 

fraud as part of our risk management arrangements. These risk 

assessments will inform our internal controls and counter fraud priorities. 

In addition, Internal Audit will carry out work in these high risk areas to 

assist management in detecting existing and new types of fraudulent 

activity. Examples of fraud indicators are provided at Appendix 1 and 

types of fraud are provided at Appendix 2. 

Robust Response We will strengthen measures to prevent fraud. Internal Audit will work 

with our internal partners such as management, HR, Finance, Legal, 

policy makers and external partners, to ensure new and existing systems 

and policy initiatives are adequately fraud proofed. 

 

P
R

E
V

E
N

T
 

Better use of 

Information 

Technology 

We will make greater use of data and analytical software to prevent and 

detect fraudulent activity.  We will look for opportunities to share data and 

fraud intelligence to increase our capability to uncover potential and 

actual fraud. 

Anti-Fraud Culture 

We will promote and develop a strong counter fraud culture, raise 

awareness, provide a fraud e-learning tool and provide information on all 

aspects of our counter fraud work.  This will include publicising the results 

of all proactive work, fraud investigations, successful sanctions and any 

recovery of losses due to fraud. 

 

P
U

R
S

U
E

 

Fraud Recovery 
A crucial element of our response to tackling fraud is recovering any 
monies lost through fraud. This is an important part of our strategy and 
will be rigorously pursued, where possible. 

Punishing 

Fraudsters 

We will apply realistic and effective sanctions for individuals or 

organisations where an investigation reveals fraudulent activity.  This 

may include legal action, criminal and/or disciplinary action, where 

appropriate. 

Enforcement 

Appropriately trained investigators will investigate any fraud detected 

through the planned proactive work; cases of suspected fraud referred 

from internal or external stakeholders, or received via the confidential 

reporting procedure (whistleblowing). We will also work with relevant 

internal and external partners/external agencies/organisations. 

Page 168



 

9 

Responsibilities 
 

 

Stakeholder Specific Responsibilities 

Chief Executive Accountable for the effectiveness of the council’s arrangements for 

countering fraud and corruption. 

Monitoring Officer Statutory responsibility to ensure that the council operates within the law. 

Overall responsibility for the Members Code of Conduct and the 

maintenance and operation of the Confidential Reporting Procedure for 

Employees (Whistleblowing).  

Director: Strategic 

Finance (Section 151 

Officer) 

To ensure the council has adopted and implemented an appropriate Anti-

Fraud and Corruption Policy/Strategy and that the council has an 

adequately resourced and effective Internal Audit service to deliver 

“counter fraud” activity. 

Audit and Governance 

Committee 

To monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the arrangements in place 

for combating fraud and corruption. 

Members To comply with the Members Code of Conduct and related council 

policies and procedures, to be aware of the possibility of fraud, 

corruption, bribery and theft, and to report any genuine concerns 

accordingly. 

External Audit Statutory duty to ensure that the County Council has adequate 

arrangements in place for the prevention and detection of fraud, 

corruption, bribery and theft. 

Internal Audit  

 

Responsible for developing and promoting to the council the 

requirements of the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy and monitoring 

and/or undertaking the investigation of any reported issues.  To ensure 

that all suspected or reported irregularities are dealt with promptly and in 

accordance with this strategy and that action is identified to improve 

controls and reduce the risk of recurrence.  

Please see Appendix 3 – Fraud Response Plan. 

Directors, Service 

Heads, Service 

Managers 

To promote staff awareness and ensure that all suspected or reported 

irregularities are immediately referred as per the council’s confidential 

reporting procedure (whistleblowing). To ensure that there are 

mechanisms in place within their service areas to assess the risk of 

fraud, corruption, bribery and theft and to reduce these risks by 

implementing strong internal controls. 

Staff To comply with council policies and procedures, to be aware of the 

possibility of fraud, corruption, bribery and theft, and to report any 

genuine concerts to management, the Monitoring Officer, Chief Internal 

Auditor or via the Whistleblowing procedure. 

Public, Service Users, 

Partners, Suppliers, 

Contractors and 

Consultants 

To report any genuine concerns / suspicions in accordance with the 

council’s confidential reporting procedure (please refer to page 10). 

Page 169

http://staffnet/media/word/s/b/Code%20of%20Conduct.doc
http://staffnet/media/word/s/b/Code%20of%20Conduct.doc


 

10 

Reporting, Advice and Support (Whistleblowing) 
 

 

The council recognises that the primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud 

rests with management. If you believe that someone is committing a fraud or you suspect corrupt 

practices, these concerns should be raised, in the first instance, directly with your 

supervisor/business unit manager, to the Chief Internal Auditor or, the Monitoring Officer in 

accordance with the council’s confidential reporting procedure (whistleblowing). 

Employees who wish to raise a serious concern should do so verbally or in writing (marked 

‘Confidential’) to the: 

 

Monitoring Officer 

Gloucestershire County Council 

Shire Hall 

Gloucester GL1 2TZ 

Telephone: (01452) 328472 

 

Alternatively employees may wish to use the council’s 24 hour “whistleblowing” answer phone 

service on Gloucester 01452 - 427052 or complete the online Whistleblowing allegation form 

which can be used for confidential reporting, to report any concern relating to possible fraud, 

bribery, corruption, misconduct or mal-practice/administration. We will treat all concerns or 

suspicions with discretion and in confidence.  

The Monitoring Officer will refer all concerns in relation to possible financial impropriety to the 

Director: Strategic Finance and/or the Chief Internal Auditor. 

To avoid potentially contaminating the evidence, managers should not investigate themselves 

and instead immediately report all suspicions of fraud or corruption, as detailed above. 

If you need advice or support, or would like to report a concern, please contact: 

 

 Theresa Mortimer: Chief Internal Auditor on 01452 328883  

or e-mail theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk or  

 

 Janet Bruce: Counter Fraud Specialist on 01452 328889  

or e-mail janet.bruce@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

  

Page 170

http://staffnet/media/word/s/b/Code%20of%20Conduct.doc
mailto:theresa.mortimer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:janet.bruce@gloucestershire.gov.uk


 

11 

Further Information 
 

 

Further information on relevant council policy and practice and relevant publications can be found 

in the following documents: 

 

 The Constitution (PDF) includes Financial Regulations, Members Code of Conduct and 

Contract Standing Orders; 

 Confidential Reporting Procedure (Whistleblowing); 

 Fraud Response Plan (Appendix 3); 

 Anti-Bribery Policy (Appendix 4); 

 Anti-Money Laundering Policy (Appendix 5); 

 Risk Management; 

 Internal Audit; 

 Information Security Policy; 

 Employees Code of Conduct (Word);  

 The Local Government Transparency Code 2015 (at Gov.uk); 

 National Fraud Initiative (NFI) (at Gov.uk); and 

 Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally (at the Chartered Institute of Public Finance & 

Accountancy). 

 

Strategy Review 
 

 

The Director of Strategic Finance and the Audit and Governance Committee will ensure the 

continuous review and amendment of this strategy and the relevant associated policies as 

necessary to ensure that it remains compliant with good practice, national public sector Codes of 

Practice and meets the needs of the council. 

 

Responsible Officer: Chief Internal Auditor 

Review date:  Frequency as required by legislative changes / November 2018 

  

Page 171

http://staffnet/riskmanagement
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-transparency-code-2015
https://www.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/national-fraud-initiative
https://www.gov.uk/
http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre/fighting-fraud-and-corruption-locally
http://www.cipfa.org/
http://www.cipfa.org/


 

12 

Appendix 1 - Key fraud indicators 
 

 

A number of frauds can come to light because of suspicions aroused by, for instance, the 

behaviour of certain individuals.  It is impossible to give a definitive list of fraud indicators or 

warning signs.  However, the following are indicators that may, either alone or cumulatively with 

other factors, suggest the possibility of fraud and may therefore warrant further investigation or 

enquiry. 

 

 Unusual employee behaviour: Refusal to comply with normal rules and practices, fails to 

take leave, refusing promotion, managers by-passing subordinates, subordinates by-

passing managers, living beyond means, regularly working long hours, job dissatisfaction / 

unhappy employee, secretiveness or undue defensiveness. 

 

 Financial irregularities: Key documents missing (e.g. invoices, contracts); absence of 

controls and audit trails; missing expenditure vouchers and official records; general ledger 

out of balance; bank and ledger reconciliations are not maintained or cannot be balanced; 

excessive movements of cash or transactions between accounts; numerous adjustments or 

exceptions; constant overdue pay or expense advances; duplicate payments; ghost 

employees on the payroll; large payments to individuals; excessive variations to budgets or 

contracts. 

 

 Poor procurement practice: Too close a relationship with suppliers/contractors; suppliers / 

contractors who insist on dealing with only one particular member of staff; unjustified 

disqualification of any bidder; lowest tenders or quotes passed over with minimal 

explanation recorded; defining needs in ways that can be met only by specific contractors; 

single vendors; vague specifications; splitting up requirements to get under small purchase 

requirements or to avoid prescribed levels of review or approval. 

 

 Disorganisation: Understaffing in key control areas; consistent failures to correct major 

weaknesses in internal control; inadequate or no segregation of duties. 

 

 Inadequate supervision: Policies not being followed; lack of senior management oversight; 

inadequate monitoring to ensure that controls work as intended (periodic testing and 

evaluation); low staff morale, weak or inconsistent management. 

 

 Lax corporate culture: Management frequently override internal control; climate of fear or a 

corporate culture; employees under stress without excessive workloads; new employees 

resigning quickly; crisis management coupled with a pressured business environment; high 

employee turnover rates in key controlling functions. 

 

 Poor work practices: Lack of common sense controls; work is left until the employee 

returns from leave; post office boxes as shipping addresses; documentation that is 

photocopied or lacking essential information; lack of rotation of duties; unauthorised 

changes to systems or work practices. 

 

Page 172



 

13 

Appendix 2 - Types of Fraud  
 

 

Local authorities have reported a wide range of fraud types. The main areas of fraud that were 

reported in Fighting Fraud Locally 2011 continue to feature as significant risks. However, there 

are also new fraud types emerging and some of these are more prevalent in particular parts of 

the country. It is clear that a one size fits all approach is not appropriate and therefore the council 

needs to remain vigilant and be aware of these types of fraud risks. 

 

Known Fraud Risks Remaining 
Significant  

 Emerging / Increasing Fraud Risks  

Blue Badge – Use of counterfeit/altered 

badges, use when disabled person is not in 

the vehicle, use of a deceased person’s 

Blue Badge, badges issued to institutions 

being misused by employees. 

Council tax – Discounts and exemptions, 

council tax support.  

Grants –Work not carried out, funds 

diverted, ineligibility not declared. 

Identity fraud – False identity / fictitious 

persons applying for services / payments. 

Internal fraud – Diverting council monies to 

a personal account; accepting bribes; 

stealing cash; misallocating social housing 

for personal gain; working elsewhere while 

claiming to be off sick; false overtime 

claims; selling council property for personal 

gain; wrongfully claiming benefit while 

working. 

Payroll – False employees, overtime 

claims, expenses. 

Pensions –Deceased pensioner, 

overpayments, entitlement overstated. 

Personal budgets – Overstatement of 

needs through false declaration, multiple 

claims across authorities, third party abuse, 

posthumous continuation of claim.  

Procurement – Tendering issues, split 

contracts, double invoicing. 

Schools – Procurement fraud, payroll 

fraud, internal fraud.  

Tenancy – Fraudulent applications for 

housing or successions of tenancy, and 

subletting of the property. 

 Business rates – Fraudulent applications for 

exemptions and reliefs, unlisted properties. 

Commissioning of services – Including joint 

commissioning, third sector partnerships – 

conflicts of interest, collusion. 

Concessionary travel schemes – Use of 

concession by ineligible person, including 

Freedom Passes. 

Cyber dependent crime and cyber enabled 

fraud – Enables a range of fraud types 

resulting in diversion of funds, creation of false 

applications for services and payments. 

Disabled Facility Grants – Fraudulent 

applications for adaptions to homes aimed at 

the disabled. 

Immigration – Including sham marriages. 

False entitlement to services and payments. 

Insurance Fraud – False claims including 

slips and trips. 

Local Enterprise Partnerships – Voluntary 

partnerships between local authorities and 

businesses. Procurement fraud, grant fraud. 

New Responsibilities – Areas that have 

transferred to local authority responsibility e.g. 

Public Health grants, contracts. 

Money laundering – Exposure to suspect 

transactions. 

No recourse to public funds – Fraudulent 

claim of eligibility. 

Right to buy – Fraudulent applications under 

the right to buy/acquire. 

 

Page 173



 

14 

Appendix 3 - GCC’s Fraud Response Plan 
 

 

Fraud concern 

identified 

Reporting options 

Whistleblowing 

Mechanism 
Monitoring Officer 

Line Manager  
(or senior management, if line 

manager involved) 

Assessment of allegation by Manager (HR, Legal, 

Internal Audit and Monitoring Officer if necessary) 

Sufficient to Proceed? 

Record of Decision 

Feedback to 

referrer 

Internal Audit 
Investigation 

Strategy Meeting 

Outcome report 

Management 
Investigation 

Police 

Investigation 

Prosecution 

Fraud? 

Management decision Recovery of losses 

Disciplinary hearing Disciplinary appeal 

Chief Internal 

Auditor 

Refer to 
Police 

Management 
Action 

No case to 
answer 

No 

No 

Yes 

Yes 

Consider any changes to the internal control 

environment, e.g. further controls, as a result 

of lessons learned 

Action/Sanction 

Page 174



 

15 

Appendix 4 Anti-Bribery Policy  
 

 

Introduction 

The council is committed to implementing and enforcing effective systems to counter bribery. 

Therefore, it is the council’s policy to conduct all aspects of its business in an honest and 

ethical manner at all times. 

 

Bribery Act 2010  

The Bribery Act 2010 came into force in the UK on 1st July 2011. It amends and reforms the 

UK criminal law and provides a modern legal framework to combat bribery in the UK and 

internationally. Staff need to be aware of their obligations under this Act, which sets out the 

criminality of accepting and giving of bribes. This applies to both individual staff and the 

council corporately. The Bribery Act creates the following offences:  

 

 Active bribery: promising or giving a financial or other advantage;  

 Passive bribery: agreeing to receive or accepting a financial or other advantage;  

 Bribery of foreign public officials; and  

 The failure of commercial organisations to prevent bribery by an associated person 

(corporate offence).  

 

The penalty under the Bribery Act is an unlimited fine and/or imprisonment up to a maximum 
of 10 years.  

Full details of the Act can be found at: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/23/contents 

 

Policy 
The aim of this policy is to help the council act in accordance with the Bribery Act 2010, 
maintain the highest possible standards of business practice, and advise individuals of the 
council’s 'zero-tolerance' to bribery. 

This policy applies to all councillors, permanent and fixed-term staff employed by the council, 

and any contractors, consultants or other persons acting within or on behalf of the council. 

The council will not: 

 Make contributions of any kind with the purpose of gaining any commercial advantage; 

 Provide gifts or hospitality with the intention of persuading anyone to act improperly, or 

to influence a public official in the performance of their duties; and 

 Make, or accept, inducements of any kind. 

  

Page 175

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/23/contents


 

16 

Council Responsibility 

The council will: 

 Keep appropriate internal records that will evidence the business reason for making any 

payments to third parties; 

 Encourage employees to raise concerns about any issue or suspicion of malpractice at 

the earliest possible stage; and 

 Ensure that anyone raising a concern about bribery will not suffer any detriment as a 

result, even if their concerns are not validated, providing there is no malicious intent. 

 

Employee Responsibility 

Employees must not: 

 Accept any financial or other reward from any person in return for providing some 

favour; 

 Request a financial or other reward from any person in return for providing some favour; 

and 

 Offer any financial or other reward to any person in return for providing some favour. 

 

Non Compliance 
 

All employees have a role to play in enforcing the policy and are required to report any 
suspected breach in accordance with the council’s whistleblowing policy.  

The council will not tolerate bribery or corruption by its councillors, employees, suppliers, 

contractors, partners or service users and will take all necessary steps to investigate all 

allegations of bribery or corruption and pursue sanctions available in each case, including 

removal from office, disciplinary action, dismissal and/or prosecution under the Bribery Act 

2010. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 176



 

17 

Appendix 5 - Anti-Money Laundering Policy  
 

Introduction 

The Proceeds of Crime Act (POCA) 2002, Money Laundering Regulations 2007 and the 

Terrorism Act 2000 place obligations on the Council and its employees with respect to 

suspected money laundering. These obligations impact on certain areas of local authority 

business and require local authorities to establish internal procedures to prevent the use of 

their services for money laundering. This Policy sets out how any concerns should be raised. 

Whilst the majority of money laundering activity in the UK falls outside of the public sector, 

vigilance by employees of the Council can help identify those who are or may be perpetrating 

crimes relating to the financing of terrorism and money laundering.  

 

Scope of the Policy 

This Policy applies to all employees of the Council and aims to maintain the high standards 

of conduct which currently exist within the Council by preventing criminal activity through 

money laundering. The Policy sets out the procedures which must be followed (for example 

the reporting of suspicions of money laundering activity) to enable the Council to comply with 

its legal obligations. 

Failure by a member of staff to comply with the procedures set out in this Policy may lead to 

disciplinary action being taken against them. Any disciplinary action will be dealt with in 

accordance with the County Council's Disciplinary Policy and Procedure. 

 

What is Money Laundering? 

Money laundering is the generic term used to describe the process by which criminals 

disguise the original ownership and control of the proceeds of criminal conduct by making 

such proceeds appear to have derived from a legitimate source. In other words, the process 

of changing ‘bad’ money into ‘good’ money in order to hide the fact that the money originated 

from criminal activity. Formally, the following acts constitute money laundering:  

 Concealing, disguising, converting, transferring criminal property or removing it from the 

UK (section 327 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002); or 

 Entering into or becoming concerned in an arrangement which you know or suspect 

facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property by or on behalf of 

another person (section 328);  

 Acquiring, using or possessing criminal property (section 329); or 

 Becoming concerned in an arrangement facilitating concealment, removal from the 

jurisdiction, transfer to nominees or any other retention or control of terrorist property 

(section 18 of the Terrorism Act 2000). 

These are the primary money laundering offences and thus prohibited acts under the 

legislation. There are also two secondary offences: failure to disclose any of the primary 

offences and tipping off. Tipping off is where someone informs a person or people who are, 

or are suspected of being involved in money laundering, in such a way as to reduce the 

likelihood of their being investigated or prejudicing an investigation. 

Page 177



 

18 

Potentially any member of staff could be implicated by the money laundering provisions if 

they suspect money laundering and either become involved with it in some way and/or do 

nothing about it.  

 

Failure to disclose (section 330) 

A person commits an offence if each of the following three conditions are satisfied; 

 they know or have reasonable grounds to suspect that another person is engaged in 

money laundering; 

 the information or knowledge in which they have grounds for suspicion is received in the 

course of business in the regulated sector; and 

 the required disclosure is not made as soon as is practicable after the information 

comes to them. 

A person does not commit an offence under this section if: 

 there is a reasonable excuse for not disclosing this information or other matter; 

 they provide professional legal advice and the information came to them in privileged 

circumstances; and 

 they do not know or suspect money laundering, or have not been provided with such 

training as specified by the Secretary of State. 

 

Whilst the risk to the Council of contravening the legislation is Iow, it is extremely important 

that all employees are familiar with their legal responsibilities: serious criminal 

sanctions may be imposed for breaches of the legislation. 

 

What are the Obligations on the Council? 

Organisations conducting "relevant business" must: 

 appoint a Money Laundering Reporting Officer ("MLRO") to receive disclosures from 

employees of money laundering activity (their own or anyone else's); 

 implement a procedure to enable the reporting of suspicions of money laundering; 

 maintain client identification procedures in certain circumstances; and 

 maintain record keeping procedures. 

 

Not all of the council's business is "relevant" for the purposes of the legislation. It is mainly 

the accountancy and audit services carried out by the financial service functions within the 

council and the financial, company and property transactions undertaken by Legal Services. 

However, the safest way to ensure compliance with the law is to apply it to all areas of work 

undertaken by the Council; therefore, all staff are required to comply with the reporting 

procedure set out in the Disclosure Procedure section below. 

 

  

Page 178



 

19 

The Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO) 

The officer nominated to receive disclosures about money laundering activity within the 

council is the Head of Financial Management. Contact details are provided below: 

 

Paul Blacker, Head of Financial Management 

Shire Hall 

Westgate Street 

Gloucester 

GL1 2TG 

 

Email: paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Telephone: 01452 328999 (direct line) 
 

In the absence of the MLRO, any member of the Strategic Finance Management Team is 

authorised to deputise. 

 

Disclosure Procedure 

 

Cash Payments: 

No payment to the council will be accepted in cash (including notes, coins or travellers 

cheques in any currency) if it exceeds £5,000. Cash payments in excess of £10,000 received 

in more than one transaction within a twelve month period must also be treated as 

suspicious. 

Even if the cash value is less than £5,000 and there is suspicion that the monies are from 

proceeds of crime then it should still be reported to the MLRO. 

Any officer involved in a transaction of this kind should ensure that the person(s) provide 

satisfactory evidence of their personal identity. 

 

Reporting to the Money Laundering Reporting Officer 

Where you know or suspect that money laundering activity is taking/has taken place, or 

become concerned that your involvement in a matter may amount to a prohibited act under 

the legislation, you must disclose this as soon as practicable to the MLRO. 

Your disclosure should be made to the MLRO using the pro-forma report form on Staffnet 

Money Laundering page. The report must include as much detail as possible. 

The employee must follow any subsequent directions from the MLRO or deputy and must not 

make any further enquiries themselves into the matter. Additionally, they must not take any 

further steps in the transaction without authorisation from the MLRO or deputy. 

The employee must not disclose or otherwise indicate their suspicions to the person(s) 

suspected of money laundering otherwise you may commit a criminal offence of "tipping off”. 

They must not discuss the matter with others or note on a file that a report has been made to 

the MLRO in case this results in the suspect becoming aware of the suspicion, through a 

request to see their file. The MLRO will keep the appropriate records in a confidential 

manner. 

Page 179

mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


 

20 

Full details of the people involved (including you, if relevant), e.g. name, date of birth, 

address, company names, directorships, phone numbers, etc. will be required. If you are 

concerned that your involvement in the transaction would amount to a prohibited act under 

sections 327 - 329 of the 2002 Act, then your report must include all relevant details, as you 

will need consent from the National Crime Agency (NCA) via the MLRO, to take any further 

part in the transaction - this is the case even if the client gives instructions for the matter to 

proceed before such consent is given. 

You should therefore make it clear in the report if such consent is required and clarify 

whether there are any deadlines for giving such consent e.g. a completion date or court 

deadline; 

Once you have reported the matter to the MLRO you must follow any directions he may give 
you. You must not make any further enquiries into the matter yourself: any necessary 

investigation will be undertaken by the NCA. Simply report your suspicions to the MLRO who 

will refer the matter on to the Serious Organised Crime Agency (SOCA) if appropriate. All 

members of staff will be required to co-operate with the MLRO and the authorities during any 

subsequent money laundering investigation. 

 

Client Identification Procedure (Customer Due Diligence) 

Where the Council is carrying out relevant business (e.g. accountancy, audit and certain 

legal services) it must apply customer due diligence measures: 

a) when you establish a business relationship 

b) when you carry out an ‘occasional transaction’ worth €15,000 (approximately 
£10,000) or more 

c) when you suspect money laundering or terrorist financing 

d) when you have doubts about a customer’s identification information that you 
obtained previously 

e) when it’s necessary for existing customers - for example if their circumstances 

change 

A business relationship is one that you enter into with a customer where both of you expect 

that the relationship will be ongoing. It can be a formal or an informal arrangement. 

When a new business relationship is established the Council needs to obtain information on: 

 the purpose of the relationship 

 the intended nature of the relationship - for example where funds will come 
from, the purpose of transactions, and so on. 

The type of information that you need to obtain may include: 

 details of your customer’s business or employment 

 the source and origin of funds that the customer will be using in the 
relationship 

 copies of recent and current financial statements 

 details of the relationships between signatories and any underlying beneficial 
owners 

 the expected level and type of activity that will take place in the relationship. 

Page 180



 

21 

Please note that unlike the reporting procedure, the client identification procedure is 

restricted to those operating relevant business, i.e. Financial Services and Legal 

Services. 

In the above circumstances, staff in the relevant unit of the Council must obtain satisfactory 

evidence of the identity of the prospective client, as soon as practicable after instructions are 

received (unless evidence of the client has already been obtained). This applies to existing 

clients, as well as new ones, but identification evidence is not required for matters entered 

into prior to 1 March 2004. 

Once instructions to provide relevant business have been received, and it has been 

established that any of paragraphs (a) to (e) apply, evidence of identity should be obtained. 

With instructions from new clients, or further instructions from a client not well known to you, 

you may wish to seek additional evidence of the identity of key individuals in the organisation 

and of the organisation itself. 

In all cases, the evidence should be retained for at least five years from the end of the 

business relationship or transaction(s). 

If satisfactory evidence of identity is not obtained at the outset of the matter then the 

business relationship or one off transaction(s) cannot proceed any further. 

 

Record Keeping Procedures 

The MLRO should retain records of all referrals made to them and of any action taken. The 

precise nature of these records is not set out in law but should be capable of providing an 

audit trail during any subsequent investigation. 

All records should be retained for at least five years. This is so that they may be used as 

evidence in any subsequent investigation by the authorities into money laundering. 

 

Guidance and Training 

In support of this policy, the council will: 

 make staff aware of the requirements and obligations under the anti-money laundering 

policy legislation; and 

 provide training to those most likely to encounter money laundering. 

 

Conclusion 

The legislative requirements concerning anti-money laundering procedures are lengthy and 

complex. This Policy has been written to support the Council to meet the legal requirements 

in a way which is proportionate to the very low risk to the Council of contravening the 

legislation. 

Should you have any concerns whatsoever regarding any transactions then you should 

contact the MLRO. 

 

 

 

Page 181



 

22 

Further Information 

Further information relating to the anti-money laundering policy can be found at the following 

links: 

 National Crime Agency (NCA) 

 Money Laundering Regulations 2007 

 Terrorism Act 2002 - Code of Practice 

 CIPFA Guidance on Money Laundering 

 Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 

 Money Laundering Disclosure Form – (Staffnet) 

 Guidance for MLRO – (Staffnet) 

 

Page 182

http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/crime-threats/money-laundering
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/2157/pdfs/uksi_20072157_en.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/97941/code-of-practice.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/97941/code-of-practice.pdf
http://www.cipfa.org/members/members-in-practice/anti-money-laundering
http://staffnet/
http://staffnet/


 

1 

 

Anti-Fraud 
and Corruption 
Policy Statement and Strategy 
2017-2019 
 
December 2016 

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Audit and Governance Committee 20th January 2017 on actions 
taken in relation to key recommendations made in the audit report relating to 
the audit of Data Storage- Structure 

Lead Officer: Andy Gilbert, ICT Manager

Presenting officer: Andy Gilbert, ICT Manager

Summary of Audit Area 

This review was undertaken by Internal Audit’s external ICT auditors TIAA. 
The review focussed on the nature and structures of data – particularly 
unstructured data and the cost to the Council of providing ongoing data 
storage. 

Summary Terms of Reference of the Audit

To review
 Membership of privileged Active Directory groups;
 Unstructured and commercially sensitive data;
 Leavers access rights and associated data folders; 
 Monitoring of user data storage limits;
 Data Archiving policies and procedures; and
 Data backup routines. 

Risks

 The failure to regularly review user access to superuser privilege 
contravenes GCC security policy and increases the risk of 
unauthorised disclosure of sensitive customer data;

 The failure to analyse or review unstructured data increases the risk 
of legislative action through the unauthorised disclosure of sensitive 
customer data;

 The failure to promptly archive or delete redundant Active Directory 
accounts, directories and mailboxes contravenes GCC security policy 
guidelines; 

 The lack of a policy or process for data archiving contravenes GCC 
security policy and may adversely impact both server performance 
and data storage costs; and 

 The failure to implement an adequate Data Backup policy and to 
maintain adequate physical and environmental protection for backup 
systems and tapes increases the risk of the loss or theft of sensitive 
customer data; and

Page 185

Agenda Item 12



Key Findings 

The findings from this audit have identified a number of improvement actions.  
The main areas that require attention are:

 review and/or analysis of commercially sensitive unstructured data;
 review of access to superuser privileges;
 The existence of generic and service accounts with Domain Admins 

superuser privilege;
 The failure to delete or archive data for former GCC employees;
 The absence of a formalised Data Archiving, storage and retention 

process; and
 The lack of a Data Backup policy. 

Audit testing confirmed that a documented Information / IT Access policy was in 
place and adequate restrictions placed over user access to the Enterprise Admins 
and Schema Admins privileged Active Directory groups.  All key GCC systems 
are subject to regular data backup routines and backup systems and tapes are 
sited in physically secure Communications (Comms) Rooms.  Active Directory 
user access rights are promptly disabled for all GCC leavers.

Page 186



Action taken as at the end of December 2016 and/or proposed
Finding Current Actions
Review and/or analysis of 
commercially sensitive unstructured 
data;

A paper jointly sponsored between 
The Information Service and The ICT 
Service has been approved at the ICT 
Governance Board in December 2016 
and will be presented to CoMT in 
February outlining the timescales and 
costs of addressing this issue 

The existence of generic and service 
accounts with Domain Admins 
superuser privilege

A procedure is now in place, 
monitored monthly through the ICT 
Operational Security Forum

Review of access to superuser 
privileges

Included in the above

The failure to delete or archive data for 
former GCC employees

Historically this has been completed 
on request from the line manager. This 
process however was not “policed”. 
CoMT approved a new procedure in 
October, that is now been enforced 
since the 1st December. We are 
currently reviewing options on how to 
resolve historic cases. 

The absence of a formalised Data 
Archiving, storage and retention 
process; and

The process for leavers is now 
established, the 
archiving/storage/retention work will 
be completed following the approval of 
the paper as outlined above  

The lack of a Data Backup policy. This policy is now in final draft, and will 
be submitted to the ICT Governance 
Board in February for approval.

 

Page 187



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Audit and Governance Committee 20th January 2017 on 
actions taken in relation to key recommendations made in the audit 
report relating to the audit of Direct Payments - Children

Lead Officer: Amanda Henderson – Lead Manager for Children with 
Disabilities

Summary of Audit Area 

A Direct Payment (DP) is money given to parents/carers of young people so 
that services and/or equipment can be purchased to meet assessed needs, 
instead of the authority providing the support through their 
own/commissioned services.  A Direct Payment can be made for all the 
support that is needed, or for part of it.  The money should be spent in 
accordance with the Direct Payment Agreement (DPA) and the care plan 
agreed, such as employing personal care assistants (PAs) either directly or 
occasionally through an Agency, funding activities or buying equipment.  This 
allows parents/carers and young people greater choice and flexibility in 
obtaining individual services that will meet their needs.

Local authorities must offer Direct Payments for social care provision to all 
those who have been assessed as meeting the criteria for disabled children's 
services.  Local authorities should also be satisfied that the person who 
manages/receives the Direct Payments, on behalf of the young person, will 
use them in an appropriate way.

At the time of the audit there were approximately 175 Direct Payments in 
place where payments of circa £50k were being made every four weeks 
(totalling £650k per annum).

Page 189



Summary Terms of Reference of the Audit

The objective of the audit was as follows:
 To provide assurance, based on the test cases examined, that Direct 

Payments currently being made to parents/carers are being effectively 
used to provide the support to meet the assessed needs.  This 
outcome  will also be used to inform the following decisions that need 
to be made: 
o Whether a bespoke Direct Payments monitoring system should be 

implemented; and 
o Whether the national initiative of a Direct Payment card scheme 

should be introduced to allow the local authority to have greater 
control over the Direct Payment bank accounts and to reduce the 
likelihood of fraud and irregularity.

Risks

 Insufficient scrutiny and challenge of spend within Direct Payments 
once awarded;

 Monies being spent inappropriately and not for the purposes 
intended;

 Misappropriation of cash; and
 Assessed needs and outcomes not being met.

Page 190



Key Findings

In order to assess whether DPs are being spent for the purposes intended it is 
necessary to review documentation in relation to each case.  Some of the 
documentation is held centrally as part of GCC’s own systems, but some of it is 
held by the parents/carers and the payroll providers.  The DPA makes it clear that 
information in relation to each care package should be retained and made 
available to GCC upon request.

This audit requested the information for a sample of nine DP cases.  Minimal 
information was received for one of the cases and the value of the four-weekly 
payments was also relatively low, so this case was excluded from the audit 
review. However, it is concerning that the parents in this case did not respond to 
the request to provide bank statements and receipts.

In another case information was received, albeit incomplete, but this DP was not 
reviewed and will be included in Internal Audit’s on-going counter-fraud work.  In 
addition, no information was received for a third case but the value of the four-
weekly payment, at £667.91, still warrants a review to ensure the DP is being 
spent in accordance with the DPA and care plan. Therefore, of the three cases 
excluded from the audit review two will be included in Internal Audit’s on-going 
counter-fraud work.

Although a reasonable amount of evidence was sent in for the six DP cases that 
were reviewed, a complete set of evidence was not made available for any of the 
DP cases in the sample, thereby demonstrating how difficult it can be to obtain 
evidence for monitoring purposes.  On this basis, assumptions had to be made 
and it was not possible to provide absolute assurance that the DPs had been 
spent correctly.

A Direct Payments card scheme may enable the local authority to have greater 
control over the DP bank accounts and the expenditure being incurred but this will 
nevertheless require a monitoring system to be implemented to review the bank 
accounts on an on-going basis.  However, this will not resolve the issue of also 
needing to monitor the completion of timesheets when PAs are employed to 
provide support to the children and young people and any receipts for expenditure 
that has been incurred.  If this information is not submitted upon request, then the 
sanctions as detailed in the DPA might have to be applied.

Recommendation 1

Based on the nature of the findings of this audit, management should 
decide whether to:

 Continue with the current system of requesting parents/carers to 
submit information in order to monitor whether DPs are being spent 
correctly and then applying the sanctions allowed in the Direct 
Payment Agreement if the parents/carers fail to submit the 
information; or

Page 191



 Implement an alternative system whereby GCC will have access to 
the banking information without having to request the parents/carers 
to submit it, e.g. a Direct Payments card scheme.  This option will 
nevertheless require an on-going monitoring system to be introduced 
and will also necessitate requesting certain information that will not 
be made available through a Direct Payments card scheme, e.g. 
timesheets for PA services and receipts for expenditure incurred.

The following evidence was requested for the six sample DP cases that were 
reviewed:

 Support Plan/s – to identify those elements of the care plan that were to be 
taken via a DP;

 Direct Payment Agreement/s – to ensure that the DPA matched the 
Support Plan requirements and had been signed by the parents/carers;

 Budget Commitment form/s – to ensure that the actual DPs made to the 
parents/carers agreed to the Support Plan and DPA;

 Bank Statements – for the DP accounts that had been set up;
 Timesheets – for any PAs that had been employed;
 Payslips – to identify the payments that were due to the PAs and Her 

Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (HMRC); and
 Receipts – to support any expenditure that had been incurred.

From the evidence that was submitted, it became apparent that in five out of the 
six sample DP cases, the DPs were not entirely being spent for the purposes 
intended.  These will require further investigation with corrective action being 
taken as appropriate.

Examples of the types of non-compliance identified were as follows:

 Employing close family members living in the same household to provide 
care as PAs;

 Using the DP to pay for activities that should have been paid for by the 
parents;

 Using the DP to pay for items of expenditure that are not part of the DPA;
 Making cash withdrawals from the DP account for unknown items of 

expenditure;
 Using the DP account to fund private expenditure and not fully reimbursing 

the DP account; and
 Transferring funds from the DP account to a personal account, usually to 

that of the parent, with no explanation.

Recommendation 2

Based on the detailed findings from each of the DP cases that were 
reviewed, management should decide on the appropriate action that should 
be taken which could include:

 Requesting the balance of the outstanding evidence to be submitted 
in order to properly verify that the DPs are being spent for the 

Page 192



purposes intended;
 Referring any suspected irregularity cases to Internal Audit’s 

Principal Auditor responsible for Counter Fraud; and
 Invoking the sanctions in the Direct Payment Agreement, e.g. not 

allowing the Direct Payments to continue and/or requesting 
repayments to be made for any expenditure that was not in 
compliance with the Direct Payment Agreement.

Recommendation 3

For the individual DP cases in the audit sample where it was identified that 
alternative activities were being paid for from the DP account as opposed to 
employing a PA, these should be reviewed and the Support Plans/DPAs 
amended to reflect any changes agreed.

Recommendation 4

Based on the detailed findings from each of the DP cases that were 
reviewed management should introduce a Direct Payment monitoring 
system that will provide assurance that Direct Payments are being spent for 
the purposes intended on an on-going basis (please refer to 
Recommendation 1), e.g.

 Continue with the current system of requesting parents/carers to 
submit information in order to monitor whether DPs are being spent 
correctly and then applying the sanctions allowed in the Direct 
Payment Agreement if the parents/carers fail to submit the 
information; or

 Implement an alternative system whereby GCC will have access to 
the banking information without having to request the parents/carers 
to submit it, e.g. a Direct Payments card scheme.  This option will 
nevertheless require an on-going monitoring system to be introduced 
and will also necessitate requesting certain information that will not 
be made available through a Direct Payments card scheme, e.g. 
timesheets for PA services and receipts for expenditure incurred.

Page 193



Action taken as at the end of December 2016 and/or proposed

Management response to recommendation 1 and 4

The system of requesting parents/carers to submit information is currently being 
used. All parents/carers have been written to directly to provide refreshed 
information about Direct Payments and the requirements they have under the 
DPA. This has been supported by the parent carer voice and parent carer 
chairperson. The current policy and DPA remain in place with the sanctions as set 
out in the policy being applied. At times this is with discretion in accordance with 
the personal circumstances of the family and further financial risk to the Local 
Authority.

It is to be noted that DP’s provide choice, control, personalised care and are cost 
effective way for the Local Authority to provide for assessed needs. Services 
directly commissioned by the Local Authority are not always able to provide the 
flexibility, choice and control that work most effectively for the child or family and 
costs are higher than the average DP rate. 

Internal processes have been introduced to ensure when a reassessment is 
completed where a DP is provided all required paperwork is provided and 
reviewed by the assessor. Anomalies are discussed with audit and referred to 
Counter Fraud if required following initial review.

Following audits and counter fraud work some funds are being returned to the 
Local Authority and areas where the parental management of the account was 
outside the scope of the agreement parents have been informed of this, sanctions 
have been applied in accordance with the area of non compliance.

Working in partnership with the audit team during December 16 we have 
requested the review of ten further high cost (4 weekly high cost) accounts. To 
date we have received full information from 4 accounts and are following up with 
the outstanding cases. These will all be audited and where there are anomalies 
audit will discuss these with the Service Leader for Disabled Children and take 
required action which may include a referral to the police or apply the sanctions 
as per the DPA. Some of the cases being audited have turned 18 and are in 
receipt of Adult Social Care Services. Should anomalies in these accounts be 
found this will be shared with Adult Social Care. Some cases being reviewed are 
approaching 18 and the same will apply in consideration of risk to the Local 
Authority of maintaining a DP.

We are working with Adult Social Care who having the greater volume of service 
users in receipt of a DP is leading on the implementation of the Pre Payment card 
system. They have agreement to go out to tender for a card provider in January 
2017 with the intention of implementing this system from April 17. Work will be 
undertaken with Adult Services to monitor the use, benefit and resource required 
for use of the cards. After 3 months of use and monitoring consideration will be 
given to implementation for Children’s DPs. The tender request is being made to 
the payment card providers to enable sufficient flexibility in the contract to make 
changes if Children’s Services join the contract. 

Page 194



Management response to recommendation 2.

All outstanding evidence has been requested from each DP case that has been 
audited. Information from two of the original cases remains outstanding and direct 
work with the parents is being undertaken to obtain the required information. 
Outstanding evidence has been shared with Internal Audit. Where irregularities 
have been found sanctions have been considered on a case by case basis and 
applied.

Management response to recommendation 3.

Where alternative activities were being paid for which didn’t correlate to the plan 
these activities have been ceased and the agreed plan has been implemented or 
the Support plan has been amended to reflect the changes with management 
oversight and agreement.

Management response to recommendation 4.

Please see response to recommendation 1.

 

Page 195



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 197

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Sept 16 final

	3 Grant Thornton Annual Audit Letter
	4 Grant Thornton Audit Progress Report
	5 Joint Working agreement between Internal and External Audit
	6 Treasury Management Strategy
	7 Annual Governance Statement Improvement Plan 2015/16
	Improvement Plan -2015-16 Governance Issues to AGC

	8 Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy 2017/18
	Risk Management Policy and  Strategy 2017-18 FINAL

	9 Internal Audit Activity Progress Report 2016/17
	Progress Report on Internal Audit Activity v1.2 - GCC - FINAL
	Spreadsheet v0.1 GCC - FINAL

	10 Internal Audit Charter 2016/18
	Internal Audit Charter 2016 updated for Jan 17 AGC

	11 Anti Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement and Strategy 2017/19
	Anti Fraud Policy- Strategy  - 2017 - 2019 v7-3

	12 Internal Audit limited assurance reports
	DP audit report management response for scrutiny Jan 17

	14 Exempt Limited Assurance Internal Audit report

